The University of Maine DigitalCommons@UMaine

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Fogler Library

Fall 7-28-2021

Moving Towards the Science-based Fisheries Management (SBFM) in China

Shu Su University of Maine, su.shu@maine.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/etd

Part of the Aquaculture and Fisheries Commons

Recommended Citation

Su, Shu, "Moving Towards the Science-based Fisheries Management (SBFM) in China" (2021). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 3429. https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/etd/3429

This Open-Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@UMaine. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UMaine. For more information, please contact um.library.technical.services@maine.edu.

MOVING TOWARDS THE SCIENCE-BASED FISHERIES MANAGEMENT (SBFM) IN CHINA

By

Shu Su

B.A. Shanghai Ocean University, 2010

M.A. Shanghai Ocean University, 2014

A DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

(in Ecology and Environmental Sciences)

The Graduate School

The University of Maine

August 2021

Advisory Committee:

Yong Chen, Professor, School of Marine Sciences, Advisor

Keith Evans, Associate Professor, School of Economics

Walter Golet, Assistant Professor, School of Marine Sciences

Jake Kritzer, Executive Director, Northeastern Regional Association of Coastal Ocean Observing

Systems

Lisa Suatoni, Deputy Director, Natural Resources Defense Council

Copyright 2021 Shu Su

MOVING TOWARDS THE SCIENCE-BASED FISHERIES MANAGEMENT (SBFM) IN CHINA

By Shu Su

Dissertation Advisor: Dr. Yong Chen

An Abstract of the Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (in Ecology and Environmental Sciences) August 2021

Sustainable fisheries management requires decisions to be made based on sound science. To help ensure this, a Science-Based Fisheries Management (SBFM) system should be established to produce the best available science (BAS) and to ensure that the BAS forms the basis of decision-making. The goal of this dissertation is to look at how China, the world's largest marine fisheries country, might build an effective SBFM system to enable its marine fisheries to attain sustainability. Studies were conducted to answer the following guiding questions: 1) what is SBFM? 2) why is it necessary for China to deploy SBFM? 3) what are China's challenges, roadblocks, and opportunities in implementing SBFM?, and 4) how to overcome the obstacles by reforming China's fisheries system.

This dissertation is structured into four chapters. An extensive literature review was conducted in Chapter 1 to determine the concept and enablers of SBFM in the world. A framework that included a thorough set of criteria and a basic operational structure for SBFM was given. The evolution of China's marine fisheries management practices from 1949 to 2019 was examined in Chapter 2 based on a comprehensive literature review and the researcher's observations in meetings and conversations with Chinese fisheries experts. This Chapter provides materials to help people better understand the features and trends of China's marine fisheries policies, as well as the characteristics of its marine capture fisheries. The study indicated that China's sustainable marine fisheries management faces numerous challenges and hurdles, the majority of which are associated with SBFM - inefficient science-policy interactions and data shortages. The checklist of SBFM criteria defined in Chapter 1 was used in Chapter 3 to analyze China's marine fisheries management system from a system engineering perspective. The benefits and drawbacks of the system for implementing SBFM were examined. Finally, in Chapter 4, the advantages and disadvantages of China's marine fisheries management system were summarized, and recommendations for China's marine fisheries reform with the goal of constructing a more successful SBFM were provided.

This dissertation concluded that 1) China's sustainable marine fisheries management cannot succeed without institutional reforms to support stronger science and its integration into fisheries policymaking; 2) reforming the fisheries management system from the perspective of system engineering can be an effective way to promote the production of better BAS and its use in policies; and, 3) use of the SBFM framework developed in this study can help China evaluate and reform its marine fisheries legal and institutional framework, and at the same time leverage the localized TAC pilot programs to develop and test a structured approach for SBFM. With the expansion of TAC pilots, the approach can be revised accordingly and finally inform the development and implementation of SBFM at large.

DEDICATION

I am grateful to my mother for always believing in me, understanding me, and being supportive of my decisions. I would like to thank my family and friends in Maine and China for their endless support and happy memories throughout my time at the University of Maine.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am incredibly grateful for the many people who have supported me during my time at the University of Maine. First, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Yong Chen, for his excellent mentorship and support during my Ph.D. process, encouraging me to develop self-confidence, and providing me with great opportunities and guidance to conduct interdisciplinary research to investigate the vital role of science in fisheries management. Second, I would like to thank my master's advisor, Dr. Tang Yi, for encouraging and helping me to study abroad, and for his continued mentorship and generously sharing his knowledge and expertise in Chinese fisheries management to assist me with this research. Third, I would like to thank my committee members: Jake Kritzer, Lisa Suatoni, Keith Evans, and Walter Golet for lending their materials, guidance, and knowledge. They all are amazing collaborators and provided great advice on my research. I learned a lot from them in doing research and their scientific views from different perspectives have been valuable. I would like to especially thank Jake Kritzer for his professionalism and enthusiasm in co-authoring papers with me.

I am grateful to the University of Maine, the Shanghai Ocean University, and the David and Lucile Packard Foundation for generously providing funding to support my research.

Thank you to all the managers, scientists, and other participants that took part in the interviews and the survey. This research would not be possible without their inputs. I would like to especially thank Dr. Wenbin Zhu from the Marine and Fisheries Research Institute of Zhejiang, Zhoushan, China, for his useful advice.

Thank you to the Chen lab for the great support and helpful advice. I would like to especially thank Bowen Chang and Jessica Chen for their inputs and assistance with editing the dissertation's already published section (Chapters 1 and 2), as well as Dr. Jiaqi Wang, Shiyue Zhao, Cameron Hodgdon, and Dr. Meckenzie Mazur for their helpful advice and discussions. I would also like to thank Dr. Josh Stoll and Marina Cucuzza for their great advice and enthusiasm.

DEDICATION
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiv
LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF FIGURESx
Chapters
1. A COMPREHENSIVE FRAMEWORK FOR OPERATING SCIENCE-BASED FISHERIES
MANAGEMENT: A CHECKLIST FOR USING THE BEST AVAILABLE SCIENCE
1.1. Abstract
1.2. Introduction
1.3. Materials and methods
1.3.1. Developing the basic framework for SBFM
1.3.2. Identifying the criteria
1.4. SBFM criteria
1.4.1. General
1.4.2. Objectives
1.4.3. Data production - Scientific research process
1.4.4. Using the best science - Development of management strategies
1.4.5. Data inputs - The implementation and enforcement
1.5. SBFM operational framework
1.6. Discussion
1.6.1. Considering data availability20
1.6.2. Mode 1 or Mode 2 science?
1.7. Conclusion

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2. EVOLUTION OF MARINE FISHERIES MANAGEMENT IN CHINA FROM 1949-2019: HO	W DID
CHINA GET HERE AND WHERE DOES CHINA GO NEXT?	26
2.1. Abstract	26
2.2. Introduction	27
2.3. Materials and methods	31
2.4. Background	32
2.4.1. China's marine fisheries management	32
2.4.2. China's marine fishery industry	33
2.5. Results	
2.5.1. History of management practices	39
2.5.1.1. Phase One: driving for economic growth (1949-1978)	47
2.5.1.2. Phase Two: awaking to fisheries resources conservation needs (1979-1999)
	48
2.5.1.3. Phase Three: balancing economic, social, and conservation goals (2000-20	15)
	50
2.5.1.4. Phase Four: prioritizing ecological conservations (2016-present)	51
2.5.2. Fisheries reform actions	51
2.5.2.1. Fishing vessel classification system	51
2.5.2.2. Reorganizing fisheries communities	55
2.5.2.3. Output controls - TAC pilot programs	55
2.5.2.4. Co-management approach	56
2.5.2.5. Fisheries monitoring	56
2.6. Considerations in China's fisheries management	57
2.6.1. Remarkable efficiency or misleading data?	58
2.6.2. The "hidden" fishing capacity	58

2.6.3. Different fisheries vs Consistent management approaches	
2.6.4. Participatory policymaking	61
2.6.5. Poorly designed rights-based fisheries management system	61
2.7. Moving forward: recommendations for China's fisheries reform	61
3. DIAGNOSE AND ADVISE ON CHINA'S MARINE FISHERIES MANAGEMENT US	ING SYSTEM
THINKING	63
3.1. Abstract	63
3.2. Introduction	63
3.3. Materials and methods	65
3.4. An overview of China's marine fisheries management system	
3.5. A diagnosis of China's marine fisheries management system	71
3.5.1. Legal demand for science-based policymaking	72
3.5.2. Linkage between fisheries policy and science communities	
3.5.3. Connections within science communities	
3.5.4. Linkage between fisheries department and the industry	
3.5.5. Inter-departmental information transfer	
3.5.6. Databases serving as a vehicle for interactions	
3.6. Discussion and Conclusion	
4. MOVING TOWARDS SCIENCE-BASED FISHERIES MANAGEMENT: A PRO	POSAL FOR
FISHERIES REFORM	
4.1. A summary of challenges, obstacles, and opportunities	
4.1.1. Challenges and obstacles	
4.1.2. Advantages and opportunities	
4.2. Steps moving forward	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

APPENDICES
APPENDIX A. CHAPTER 1. A LIST OF REPORTS REVIEWED FOR IDENTIFICATION OF SBFM
CRITERIA
APPENDIX B. CHAPTER 2. CORE QUESTIONS/CONVERSATION TOPICS WITH EXPERTS.
BIOGRAPHY OF THE AUTHOR

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Research reports by jurisdiction
Table 1.2. Research reports by study area. 7
Table 1.3. A comprehensive list of criteria that enable the production and use of the best available science
in SFBM9
Table 1.4. Approaches that facilitate the communication and understanding of science
Table 2.1. China's marine capture production (million tons). 35
Table 2.2. China's marine capture production (million tons) by sea area in 2016. 35
Table 2.3. China's marine capture production (million tons) by fishing gear in 2016. 35
Table 2.4. Significant national fisheries policies listed in chronological order of implementation date.
Table 2.5. Evolution of input-based targets and output-based targets of Chinese marine fisheries
management, with corresponding results. Information and data are acquired from relative
documentation and China's fisheries statistical yearbooks
Table 2.6. China's significant marine fisheries management and conservation measures listed in
chronological order of national implementation date
Table 3.1. A list of fisheries-related expert advisory committees
Table 3.2. The legislation mandating the use of science in fisheries policymaking in China's marine sector.
Table 3.3. Management objectives of China's marine fisheries management in 2016 to 202076
Table 4.1. China's national marine fisheries management system's performance over SBFM criteria

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. A conceptual model of science-based fisheries management
Figure 1.2. Research reports by publication year
Figure 1.3. An illustrative diagram of the SBFM framework11
Figure 2.1. (A) ratio and (B) amount of total domestic marine capture fisheries landings and maricultural
production in China from 1950 to 2017
Figure 2.2. Agencies and organizations participating in marine fisheries management in China
Figure 2.3. (A) number, (B) total engine power, and (C) total tonnage of China's marine motorized fishing
vessels in 2018 by different types of fishing gears
Figure 2.4. China's marine motorized fishing vessel number by (A) main engine power
Figure 2.5. (A) number, (B) total main engine power, and (C) total tonnage of China's marine motorized
fishing vessels in 2018 by categories of main engine power
Figure 2.6. Relationship between management objectives, policies, and the dynamic of the fishing industry.
Figure 2.7. A simplified schematic map for coastal zones closed to motorized bottom trawling
Figure 2.8. Schematic diagram of the spatial division of China's marine fisheries areas
Figure 2.9. Decision-making processes for (A) double control targets (DCTs) and (B) fisheries management
plan (FMP) of total allowable catch (TAC) pilot programs
Figure 3.1. A system map of China's current fishery management system

CHAPTER 1

A COMPREHENSIVE FRAMEWORK FOR OPERATING SCIENCE-BASED FISHERIES MANAGEMENT: A CHECKLIST FOR USING THE BEST AVAILABLE SCIENCE

1.1. Abstract

Developing fisheries policies based on the best available science (BAS) has been generally required in international agreements and national legal documents in many countries. However, it is difficult to comply with BAS when lacking a uniformly agreed-upon operational framework. In this chapter, we conducted an exhaustive literature review and developed a framework that includes a comprehensive set of criteria and a basic operational structure for science-based fisheries management (SBFM) to better integrate BAS in fisheries policies. We proposed that SBFM consists of four components: objective-setting, data input (implementation and enforcement process), data production (scientific research process), and data use (management strategy development). The capacity of a fisheries system to produce and use BAS is mainly reflected in the following areas: a) efficient informational feedback among these components; b) collecting a good range of quality-assured data that meet the needs of scientific research and fishery policy formulation; c) analyzing the collected data through a well-designed scientific research process; and d) selecting and using the best data from different sources. The framework developed can inform the creation, evaluation, and improvement of management systems rooted in SBFM and strengthen SBFM-related research, communication, and cooperation.

1.2. Introduction

Science-based fisheries management (SBFM), also called evidence-based fisheries has been proven to be significant and necessary for the sustainability of fisheries (Cooke et al., 2017). With the expanded role of collaboration and the participation of increasingly diverse stakeholders in fisheries management, there arises a new urge to make relevant decisions based on the integration of natural and social sciences as well as stakeholder concerns (Karl et al., 2007). Fisheries policy- and decision-makers are expected to collect a broader range of information and knowledge, weigh the interests and values of all parties, and ultimately make decisions based on the best available scientific information (Ryder et al., 2010; Charnley et al., 2017; Stephenson et al., 2017). Meanwhile, the "science" on which fisheries management is based now includes not only natural science information but also social science information, interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary research results, as well as traditional ecological knowledge and local fishers' knowledge (Martin et al., 2007; Bonney et al., 2009).

On the legislative side, best available science (BAS) based policies are generally required in many international agreements relating to fisheries. For example, the 1995 UN Fish Stocks Agreement requires coastal states and states fishing on the high sea to adopt measures that are based on the best scientific evidence available to maintain or restore stocks at levels capable of producing maximum sustainable yield (Article 5(b), A/CONF.164/37, UN, 1995). Furthermore, many jurisdictions including the United States, New Zealand, Australia, and the European Union have included corresponding provisions in their national or regional legislation for BAS-based fishery policies. For instance, in the US, the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act of 2007 (MSA) stipulates that "conservation and management measures shall be based upon the best scientific information available" (§.301(a)(2), MSA, USA, 2007). European Union (EU) requests the management of its Common Fisheries Policy (CFP) to be guided by the principle that the establishment of measures in accordance with the best available scientific advice (Regulation (EU) NO 1380/2013, 2013).

Previous studies have outlined essential attributes of BAS (e.g., NRC, 2004; Sullivan et al., 2006; Esch et al., 2018, Ryder et al., 2010; Nosek et al., 2015; Stephenson et al., 2017). For example, some suggested that BAS is the product of a rigorous scientific research process that follows a series of scientific guidelines (Sullivan et al. 2006, Charnley et al. 2017). Cash et al. (2002) proposed that the effective scientific information supporting decision-making should be credible, legitimate, and salient. In addition, the National Resources Council of the United States proposed a set of criteria for ensuring the use of BAS in fisheries management, including relevance, inclusiveness, objectivity, transparency and openness, timeliness, and peer review (NRC, 2004). However, when it comes to solving specific problems in practice, these general guidelines of BAS are somewhat vague and there is a lack of an operational framework with detailed standards to ensure the production and use of BAS in fisheries management. Specifically, lacking an operational framework could hinder the reform and evaluation of fisheries institutions to comply with BAS mandates. Although the processes of implementing SBFM in jurisdictions differ depending on various factors such as legal and institutional framework, cultural, political, and social systems, and the situation of data availability, developing a set of expected agreed-upon and widely applicable operational standards is still pursuable and meaningful. It will help facilitate compliance with the BAS mandates and assist in avoiding unnecessary communication difficulties due to mismatched understanding of SBFM among stakeholders. For example, it is much easier for government agencies to claim they are implementing SBFM when they are not being held to agreed-upon standards between peers and/or stakeholders (ICSP13, 2018). Furthermore, the BAS mandates may become the "evidence" to protect agencies from having to generate scientific information when none is available (Charnley et al., 2017; Esch et al., 2018).

The purpose of this study was to develop a comprehensive operational framework for SBFM from a perspective of system engineering and to integrate BAS into management strategies. The framework developed can be used as a guideline to establish, improve and/or evaluate SBFM in jurisdictions. The study was designed to answer the following questions: 1) To effectively produce and use BAS, what are the expectations for the different processes embedded in the fisheries management system?; 2) what criteria or enablers are needed to achieve these expectations?; and, 3) what potential methods can be used to meet these criteria?

It is worth noting that different studies and documents might use different terms to describe the BAS. For example, in the 18 documents included in the "Selection of International Fisheries Treaties and Documents", the term "best scientific information available" was used 13 times, and "best scientific evidence available" was used 14 times (Cui & Huang, 2015). In this dissertation, the researcher(s) use the term BAS to represent all of them as the purpose is not to discuss which term is better nor the difference between them, let alone to discuss the potentially different legal and political meanings behind these terms.

1.3. Materials and methods

1.3.1. Developing the basic framework for SBFM

The effectiveness of the production and use of BAS in fisheries systems does not depend on a single component or process such as developing management strategies, or policy-making, but instead depends on components that make up the entire system and the information flow connecting these components (Soomai & MacDonald, 2019). Thus, Systems Thinking was used in this research as the theoretical basis for the development of the basic framework for SBFM. The theory emphasizes holistic analysis that focuses on the ways in which the components of the system are interconnected and how the system works over time (Meadows, 2006). It has been widely used in or supported by many natural resources management research to emphasize the importance of links between system components to the success of the entire system (e.g., Degnbol & McCay, 2007; Nutley & Davies, 2007; Hipel et al., 2008; McGuire & Harris, 2011; Glaser & Glaeser, 2014), although their focuses were not optimizing the production and use of BAS in fisheries management.

In this study, according to the operational process of fisheries management in the real world (Cochrane, 2002), we proposed that SBFM in its most straight-forward form is a conceptual model formed by a set of objectives and a subsystem consisting of three interactive components (information nodes) of data inputs, data production, and data use. These three components correspond to three practical processes including implement and enforcement, scientific research process, and management strategy development (Figure 1.1). The objectives guide the operation of the subsystem, and the latter in turn can lead to the revision of the former. This model consists of iterative processes where information flows in a continuum leading to system action.



Note: The arrows depict the flow of information. Objectives - management objective-setting; data production - scientific research process; data use - management strategy formulation; data inputs - implementation and law enforcement (providing a "data pool" for objective-setting, scientific research, and strategy formulation)

Figure 1.1. A conceptual model of science-based fisheries management.

We found that the ICES (2000) had proposed a similar conceptual model for fisheries system which consist of four subsystems including knowledge production, management decision-making, enforcement/ implementation, and adaptation. In their model, the four subsystems are connected end to end with information flows in a one-way cycle. The conceptual model of SBFM provided in this chapter can be considered a modification of the model of ICES: The formulation processes of objectives and strategies within the management decision-making subsystem are divided into two separated components of the system; and the implementation, enforcement, and adaptation are merged into one component. We believe the modified model is more applicable to operations and more in line with the perspective of policymakers and managers. In addition, the modified model emphasizes the two-way information exchange between the components that make up the system.

Specifically, the SBFM conceptual model developed in this research focuses on the production and use of BAS to formulate management strategies for already assigned management objectives; the management measures are specified. Management strategies here refer to adaptive regulations for fisheries management according to specified objectives. For example, if an objective is to use the total allowable catch (TAC) as the management measure and to maintain the fisheries resources at the maximum sustainable yield (MSY) level, then the subsystem (data inputs, data production, and data use) will be run to develop and implement appropriate TAC-based regulations. The TAC regulations will be revised to adapt to the changing situation over time and the subsystem provide feedback information that may cause the objective to be revised, such as pursuing maximum economic yield (MEY) instead of MSY. An explanation of each process for SBFM will be provided in section 1.4.

1.3.2. Identifying the criteria

An exhaustive review of research reports written in English was conducted to identify the expectations for each process in SBFM, the criteria, and the specific methods to achieve these expectations. Google Scholar and Web of Science were used to search for the keyword "fisheries" in combination with each of the following phrases: Best available science, best scientific information available, science (or evidence and knowledge), and policy (or decision). In this way, 50 research reports focusing on BAS and science-policy interactions in fisheries were selected for the first stage of the review. 43 additional reports relating to these topics were further selected from the bibliography of previously reviewed reports for the second stage of the review. Thus, a total of 93 reports were reviewed. These reports cover the study areas of management and conservation of natural resources, ecological environment resources, and endangered species. Table 1.1, Table 1.2, and Figure 1.2 present the number of reports reviewed by geographic coverage, focus areas, and year of publication, respectively. A list of reports reviewed is presented in the Supplementary Materials (Appendix A).

Table 1.1. Research reports by jurisdiction.

Jurisdiction	Count
Australia	4
Brazil	3
Canada	6
Cuba	1
EU	12
Fiji	1
Global	31
Mexico	2
Netherlands	5
New Zealand	1
Norway	1
Philippines	2
South African	1
UK	1
USA	23

Table 1.2. Research reports by study area.

Study area	Count
Fisheries management and conservation	50
Natural resource management conservation	12
Environmental (ecological) management and conservation	26
Endangered Species management	5
Total	93



Figure 1.2. Research reports by publication year.

We reviewed the reports through a substantive coding process (Miles & Huberman, 1984). We first engaged in pattern coding to identify broad themes and contexts that related to enhancing the production and use of BAS according to in particular the abstracts, results/findings, and conclusions of the reports. Then we open-coded the identified contexts to sort expectations, facilitators/enablers, and methods in detail, line by line. After that, we cluster-coded the detailed codes and reconstitute them into more general expressions of expectations and enablers that emerged through the open coding process. Finally, we rewrote the identified facilitators/enablers as expected criteria in a restrictive tone and divided them into five categories (see Table 1.3). The methods identified are discussed in the text and some of them are presented in Table 1.4. Table 1.3 was then used to determine the key elements of each management process to develop the operational structure of the SBFM (Figure 1.3). We described the criteria and the structure respectively in sections 1.4 and 1.5.

Table 1.3. A comprehensive list of criteria that enable the production and use of the best available science in SFBM.

General
Best available science-based fisheries management and conservation is required by law (4, 42, 50, 60, 71, 72, 73, 80,
83, 85, 92)
Institutional structure is well designed for the involvement and collaboration of multidisciplinary stakeholders (13, 14,
17, 19, 25, 31, 34, 36, 37 44, 50, 54, 60, 74, 75, 76, 81, 84, 87)
Standards and mechanisms regarding data collection, storage, and verification, including the fisheries monitoring plan,
are developed and are in line with management objectives and the research plan (10, 23, 42, 58, 64, 66, 85, 88)
Division of responsibilities is clear; responsibilities for making policies and conducting scientific research are separated
(9, 22, 23, 59, 67, 78)
Process 1: Management objective-setting
Expectation: Objectives are achievable
Objectives are measurable and time-bounded and performance indicators are identified over biological, social, and
economic dimensions (10, 21, 22, 24, 37, 48, 56, 67, 88)
Management unit and boundaries are identified and informed by the biological feature of the fish stock or ecosystem
function (3, 56, 81, 84)
Mechanisms for value-based debate among stakeholders are in place (13, 14, 17, 50, 19, 25, 31, 60, 75)
Fisheries monitoring programs are used to evaluate whether the objective is being met (2, 22, 23, 65, 75)
Process 2. Scientific research process (data production)
Expectation: Scientific advice relevant to the policy demands and the fishery being managed
A research plan is developed based on management objectives (4 9 10 54 78 81 82 83 91)
Data used to generate scientific advice are relevant to the specific fishery being managed (54, 60, 81, 83, 85, 84, 88)
External review of scientific advice based on user needs and other knowledge is conducted (57, 81)
Expertation: Scientific advice is objective and cardible
Scientific advice is organized through a well established scientific research research with
i) a clear structure of a biosting (10, 22, 88).
i) a clear statement of objectives $(10, 53, 80)$; ii) a clear statement of objectives $(10, 53, 80)$;
iii) well established protocols to collect date (10, 42, 71, 80, 88, 93):
in) we estimate protocos to concert data $(10, 42, 71, 60, 60, 73)$, iv) represent statistical analysis and local interpretation $(10, 42, 71, 81, 85, 82, 93)$;
v_{i} regions statistical analysis and region interpretation $(10, 42, 71, 61, 63, 66, 53)$, v_{i} bearly documented methods results and conclusions $(10, 42)$
v) clearly documented methods, results, and conclusions (10, 35, 30, 42, 45, 68, 71, 72, 73, 81, 85, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10
x_1 independent peer review of research methods, results and conclusions (10, 55, 59, 42, 45, 06, 71, 72, 75, 81, 85, $g_{\rm R}$)
00). Skilled and reputable scientists are hired to do research including stock assessment (3, 60, 78).
Limitation of data and knowledge gaps are acknowledged and documented (5, 10, 45, 79, 80, 81, 86, 88)
Expectation: Scientific advice is inclusive
Expectation: Science advice is inclusive
social science research, multidisciplinary and interdisciplinary research are conducted (4, 12, 57, 59, 44, 47, 52, 55,
57, 80, 81, 88
$c_{2} = c_{5} = c_{7} = 1$ so $s_{1} = s_{4} = s_{1}$ such that $c_{1} = s_{1} = s_{$
$\frac{03,03,07,71,80,81,84,91}{2}$
Process 3. Development of management strategies (data use)
Expectation: Strategies developed based on legitimate scientific advice
Decisions are based on the scientific advice produced following a well-designed scientific research process (10, 8, 88,
89)
Rules for using the scientific information account for divergences (4, 6, 11, 14, 15, 19, 29, 42, 57, 59, 71, 74, 80)
Approaches for communicating and understanding scientific advice and other knowledge are in place (2, 4, 5, 8, 9, 16,
17, 19, 30, 31, 33, 45, 46, 49, 57, 58, 59, 62, 61, 70, 74, 80, 81, 88, 90, 91)
Expectation: Uncertainties are acknowledged, and decisions are capable of being adapted to environmental changes
Rules for using the scientific information account for uncertainty and are formalized and repeatable (19, 36, 59, 60,
80, 81, 82, 84, 90)
Monitoring programs are in place to inform adaptive updating of management strategies (2, 22, 23, 64, 65)
Performance of management strategies are evaluated and learned from accordingly (3, 5, 21, 25, 34, 49, 69, 81)
Decisions are recurrent (23, 39, 60, 79, 81, 88, 91, 92)
Precautionary approaches are taken to reduce potential risks (3, 28, 60, 67)
Process 4. Implementation (data inputs)
Expectation: Feedback is knowable; regulations are well implemented and complied with
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •

Table 1.3. continued

Monitoring programs are in place to provide a means for supervision and collecting fisheries data (23, 60, 64, 66) Outreach programs and education courses for both managers and fishers are in place (18, 19, 57, 62, 74)

Note: The number in brackets represents the code of the report that proposes, reiterates, or demonstrates the corresponding criterion. Please use the code to find the corresponding report in Appendix A.

Table 1.4. Approaches that facilitate the communication and understanding of science.

- Hiring interpreters or knowledge brokers (4, 46, 49)
- Hiring social scientists as translators, mediators, and/or facilitators (57).
- Establishing formal processes for iterative communication between scientific and policy communities (8, 9, 16, 30, 31, 59)
- Establishing boundary or hybrid organizations; co-management (5, 6, 15, 27, 53, 74, 76, 84, 86)
- Conducting workshops, conferences, and/or meetings that involve a diverse set of stakeholders (4, 6, 11, 14, 15, 19, 42, 53, 76)
- Educating and training scientists in communication, translation, and mediation (57)
- Scientists presenting scientific results in publicly accessible and understandable/simple texts (5, 70)
- Government sharing and communicating data with disparate audiences/stakeholders via media (19, 33, 70, 77)

Note: The number in brackets represents the code of the report that proposes, reiterates, or demonstrates the corresponding criterion. Please use the code to find the corresponding report in Appendix A.



Figure 1.3. An illustrative diagram of the SBFM framework.

The coding process aimed to ensure the identification of the major expectations, criteria, and methods that were proposed, reiterated, and/or demonstrated in the reports. Thus, if a report is not a major source for a certain element, it will not be listed in Table. Additionally, although we intended to include all the important reports regarding BAS and science-policy interactions in relation to fisheries, we admit that this study cannot cover all of these reports, and the selection of reports was influenced by the authors' expert judgment. However, the list of criteria for SBFM can still be comprehensive, because representative

reports were included with wide geographical coverage, including those developed countries that are considered to be more mature in implementing SBFM and those developing countries where SBFM is in its infancy.

1.4. SBFM criteria

A total of 32 expected criteria for the production and use of BAS in SBFM were identified based on the findings of the extensive literature review and the results were presented in Table 1.3. The criteria were divided into five categories: Those related to the foundation of the system, including legislation and institutional structure, were classified as "general"; others are related to the four processes (objective, scientific research process, strategy formulation, and implementation). In the following sections, we described the role of each management process in producing and using BAS in SBFM and the corresponding expected criteria and methods. Some representative reports reviewed were quoted to support certain criteria in the text and more evidence can be found in Table 1.3.

1.4.1. General

The development of fisheries policies based on BAS should be required in domestic legal documents. Having a clear legal authorization undoubtedly means a higher possibility for BAS's production and use (Domínguez-Tejo & Metternicht, 2018). The BAS-based policy mandates should be accompanied by a well-designed institutional structure to establish rigorous and easily repeatable mechanisms that allow for the integration of scientific information into policies and stakeholders' involvement and collaboration (Garcia, 2008; Ramirez-Monsalve et al., 2016; Soomai, 2017). Jasanoff (1990) proposed that the boundaries around the scientific process are a prerequisite for maintaining the politically acceptable independence and objectivity of the advice. Although the objectivity of science in environmental management is still controversial (Rykiel, 2001), defending the "strict boundaries" around the scientific process is necessary for SBFM. To be precise, the institutional structure should ensure a clear division of responsibilities, especially separating and assigning the tasks of research and policymaking to different organizations or bodies (De Santo, 2010; Dankel et al., 2016; Soomai, 2017; MacDonald & Soomai, 2019).

The mechanisms for the integration of science and stakeholders' involvement are expected to be a statutory and long-term advisory framework guided by the principles of pluralistic participation, transparency, and openness (Fritz, 2010). Clear accountability should exist within the legal framework and include coherence as to the roles of participants (Fritz, 2010). The purpose of enabling stakeholders' participation and collaboration in the SBFM, although it varies in different processes, is ensuring appropriate collection, communication, and consideration of the broad spectra of data that are required for decision-making.

SBFM requires the availability of a wide range of quality-assured data (Chen et al., 2003) and there must be clear provisions in the law to ensure data collection, transparency, sharing, and accessibility. A clear set of data collection, storage, and verification standards is a prerequisite for ensuring the coordinated operation (continuity) of the various processes in the SBFM system. In general, fisheries monitoring programs, advisory and participatory processes embedded in the decision-making process, and investigations conducted through scientific research are the major ways to collect necessary data over biological, economic, social, and ecological dimensions. Among them, fisheries monitoring plays a vital role in connecting the divided processes in the fisheries systems: the data collected are used in the scientific research process and aid in the development and evaluation of management objectives and strategies (Kritzer, 2020). To ensure that the fisheries monitoring plan should be part of the overarching plan of SBFM (Conroy & Peterson, 2013). The focus and design of a monitoring plan should be consistent with management objectives and meet the specific data inputs demands of scientific research and management performance evaluation (Lindenmayer & Linkens, 2010).

Additionally, allowing stakeholders to co-develop data collection, storage, and verification standards, including the fisheries monitoring plan, will improve the legitimacy, compliance, and cohesiveness of the entire SBFM system (Cullen, 1990; Byder et al., 2010; Karr et al., 2017). The stakeholders here include data end-users, i.e., policymakers, and data providers, e.g., scientists and representatives from the industry and NGOs.

1.4.2. Objectives

A set of achievable management objectives is key to identifying necessary scientific information and thereby guiding data collection as well as the entire scientific research process (Sullivan et al., 2006; Conroy & Peterson, 2013). Fisheries management objectives should clearly state reference points, be measurable within a certain time frame, and be employed with clear management units and boundaries (Conroy & Peterson, 2013). For example, the EU's fisheries management plan requires that by 2020 all the important economic stocks managed at the EU supranational level must be managed by TAC and be maintained at a level capable of producing MSY.

Sullivan et al (2006) pointed out that the essence of objective-setting is the value game among stakeholders. Stakeholders' recognition of the overall management objectives is positively related to their future compliance with management interventions (Gray & Jordan, 2012). Thus, mechanisms allowing value-based debates among stakeholders should be in place (Sullivan et al., 2006, Failing et al., 2013). Meanwhile, objectives are expected to specify the trade-offs along biological, economic, social, and political (institutional) dimensions so that they can be used to determine the weight of potentially contrary information at the stage of strategy formulation in the future (Hilborn, 2007; Stephenson et al., 2017). Garcia (2005) proposed that using indicators will increase the transparency of the decision-making process and contribute to performance assessment and effective communication.

1.4.3. Data production - Scientific research process

"Data production" in the SBFM refers to the generation of scientific advice through a scientific research process. The scientific research process includes collecting, evaluating, and analyzing the data in other processes of the system, especially amid implementation, and converting them into understandable language and scientific advice for the formulation of management strategies.

The first expectation for this process is that scientific advice is relevant to policy demands and the fishery being managed. Two criteria need to be met for this expectation. First, scientific research objectives must be consistent with management objectives (Sullivan et al., 2006). Second, the data used in scientific

research must be related to the fishery being managed (NRC, 2004). To ensure these two criteria are in place, it is necessary to establish an external review process to allow a group of experts to collectively assess and interpret the relevance and legitimacy of the scientific research process, including the research plan, methods, results, and findings (Bisbal, 2002; Van den Hove, 2007; Raymond-Yakoubian et al., 2017). A review conducted at a more local level, particularly at the fishery level, will contribute more to the link between the science employed and the fishery managed. The external review will not only examine the scientific research process to ensure their consistency with management objectives concerning economic, social, and political priorities but also increase the scope and diversity of the scientific information on which the development of management strategies is based. A hybrid group of experts consisting of a pool of leading non-advocate scientists, experienced agency managers, and industry and NGOs' representatives often lead to a more quality-assured and convincing external review process (Cullen, 1990; Guston, 2001; Cash et al., 2002; Webb et al., 2010).

At the core of the scientific research process is the principle of minimizing the impact of subjectivities to ensure the credibility and objectivity of scientific advice (Dietz & Stern, 1998; Rykiel, 2001). Generally, scientific research adhering to a well-designed process will contribute to credibility and objectivity (Bradshaw & Borchers, 2000; Doremus, 2004; Sullivan et al., 2006; Murphy & Weiland, 2016) as well as largely reduce the uncertainties of scientific research and increase the accuracy of predictions (Charnley et al., 2017). A well-designed process should include objectives, a conceptual framework, hypothesis testing, standard methods of data collection, statistical analysis methods, documented methods and conclusions, and independent scientific review (Sullivan et al., 2006). Particularly in developed countries, it is common to hire a group of skilled and reputable scientists, usually independent, to conduct stock assessments and generate scientific advice. This can increase the persuasiveness of scientific advice and ensure its credibility (NRC, 2004; Shelton, 2007). In the meantime, acknowledging and documenting the limitation of data and knowledge gaps is conducive to the credibility of scientific advice (Gleick, 2010; Webb et al., 2010).

Another expectation for the scientific research process is that the set of data used to generate scientific advice be inclusive. Where fisheries policies are developed based on stock assessment, it has been demonstrated in numerous case studies that ignoring the connections between a fish stock and the larger ecosystem or failing to include social science and local knowledge may lead to a failure in sustainability (Degnbol and McCay, 2007; McGuire & Harris, 2011). Many research reports indicated that establishing mechanisms that allow for multidisciplinary and interdisciplinary research, especially collaboration between social and natural scientists, and the consideration and use of fishers' local knowledge are vital for increasing the inclusiveness of scientific advice (Stead et al., 2006; Wesselink et al., 2013; Raymond-Yakoubian et al., 2017). Furthermore, allowing stakeholders, especially fishers to directly participate in scientific research will increase the trust between scientists and industry, increase the legitimacy of science, and increase stakeholders' compliance with management strategies (Jasanoff, 1990; Karr et al., 2017; Stephenson et al., 2017). To achieve quality assurance and quality control, rules about who can participate in this process and how to incorporate their opinions into scientific advice should be created in advance. Fishers' knowledge can be added to traditional assessment with appropriate analysis via social research methods or/and received as supplementary information through advisory or participatory processes (Jasanoff, 1990; Karr et al., 2017; Stephenson et al., 2017).

1.4.4. Using the best science - Development of management strategies

"Data use" is understood in SBFM as the sum of all procedures performed to formulate management strategies, including the activities taken to communicate and adopt the information available to develop measures and regulations. This information includes scientific advice generated through the scientific research process and knowledge brought directly by stakeholders.

At the stage of strategy development, the decision-makers use a set of formal, repeatable procedures and standards to determine the priority of information from a variety of sources and ultimately adopt the optimal combination of information (Bisbal, 2002). Generally, scientific advice generated through rigorous scientific research and that has passed peer review and external review is considered the best evidence for decision-making (Sullivan et al., 2006). However, they can never be deemed absolutely robust when being used in decision-making (Jasanoff, 1990). This is significant to SBFM as it is rooted in a wider social environment in which views of scientific "reality" are always colored by contextual characteristics such as the educational, institutional, political, and cultural affiliations of scientists (Jasanoff, 1990). To this end, the knowledge and opinions of a broader range of stakeholders other than policymakers and scientists should be considered when adopting scientific advice in decision-making. Lipsman (2019) proposed that failure to legitimately include local communities in environmental decision-making leads to a lack of confidence in social institutions and a deterioration in coordination, thereby resulting in governance inefficiency. Thus, allowing decision-makers and stakeholders to jointly develop the procedures and standards of determining and using the best science can be conducive to not only addressing potential divergences among stakeholders but also the legitimacy of stakeholders' participation and the use of stakeholders' knowledge in decision-making (Cash et al., 2002; Stead et al., 2006, Gray & Jordon, 2012; Karr et al., 2017). Such procedures and standards should be established in advance and mandated by law.

Communication is another way to address the potential conflicts among stakeholders and to facilitate the legitimacy of scientific information that is used for decision-making. A transparent participatory process that allows dialogue, debate, and/or voting can be used to address potential disagreement or divergences on the interpretations of scientific advice among stakeholders (Christie et al., 2007; Runhaar & Van Nieuwaal, 2010; Wesselink et al., 2013). Other approaches for promoting communication are presented in Table 1.4. These approaches help to enhance mutual understanding and build trust between the science, policy, and industry communities, thereby contributing to the interaction of science and policy in decision-making, as well as the implementation, enforcement, and compliance of management measures.

Rules for using scientific information must account for uncertainty and must be formalized and repeatable (Bradshaw & Borchers, 2000; Fulton et al., 2011; Failing et al., 2013). Management strategies must be evaluated and revised periodically to adapt to the changing environment (Conroy & Peterson, 2013). When the development of management strategies is recurrent (e.g., annual harvest rules), research methods

and rules for adopting scientific information are updated by comparing predicted feedback to observed future conditions (Conroy & Peterson, 2013). The adjusted methods and rules for producing and using scientific information are then used to predict future conditions and generate better decisions for the following time period. This adaptive feedback loop provides the management system with a greater learning capacity. In addition, when determining management reference points (e.g., TAC levels), a precautionary approach is often used to account for uncertainties in the understanding of fisheries population dynamics. Finally, the aforementioned review processes and the mechanisms allowing for communication and interpretation of scientific information is conducive to recognizing and addressing the risks, costs, and trade-off of different types of management error (Rice, 2011).

1.4.5. Data inputs - The implementation and enforcement

The implementation of management strategies provides a "data pool" to be used for other processes constituting the SBFM. Although the definition of the "implementation" does not necessarily involve enforcement, compliance, and adaptation, the implementation process here refers to: Actions taken by agencies and organizations related to implementation, monitoring, and enforcement; actions taken by fishers in response to external constraints, including management interventions and variations of the social, economic, ecological and political environment within which the fishery is located; and the environmental changes themselves. The performance of these factors will be translated into quantitative or qualitative data through observation methods. These data are fisheries-dependent data and fisheries-independent data that include a broad spectrum of biological, ecological, social, and economic information and knowledge collected or provided by fisheries monitoring programs, scientific surveys, and stakeholders such as fishers and managers. These observation data will be transfer to other processes (objective-setting, scientific research, and strategy formulation) via the data storage system and/or partnership and participatory procedures.

Collecting reliable data amid implementation is an essential precondition for an effective and functioning SBFM (Chen et al., 2003). Hardware support is important, such as a well-established standard

for data collection, addressing, and verifying and a well-designed fisheries monitoring system (Kritzer, 2020). In addition, education, training, communication, and participatory processes can significantly promote the compliance of managers and law enforcers at the grassroots level and the industries in providing quality-assured data (Bremer & Glavovic, 2013; Hernandez & Kempton, 2003; Gray & Jordan, 2012).

1.5. SBFM operational framework

The comprehensive list of SBFM criteria developed was further used to determine the basic elements that consist of SBFM. Subsequently, a basic operational SBFM framework was developed according to the conceptual model described in section 1.3.1 (Figure 1.3) and fisheries management in the real world. Although different countries or organizations have different institutional structures for performing fisheries management, we argue that the elements contained in this framework should be regarded as a minimum set of criteria that should be satisfied before one can say that SBFM is successful, that is using the presence of these elements as bottom-line requirements.

In SBFM, science research is driven by management purposes. A set of achievable and measurable management objectives is therefore required. The objective-setting process should clarify the operational objectives and performance indicators with temporal and spatial scopes, as well as the optional management approaches. Objective-setting is about trade-offs among values (Sullivan, 2006); thus, key stakeholders' involvement needs to be guaranteed. The process is influenced by at least three information streams. One is outside political demands or intervention such as international and national initiatives and policies (Soomai, 2017). This information is usually claimed by and reveals the position of government officials or NGOs. The second is the data collected in the implementation and enforcement process and conveyed through a database or by stakeholders such as grassroots fisheries managers and industry representatives and through participatory processes. The third is scientific knowledge provided by scientists to inform society about the potential consequences of its management objectives, whereas scientists are messengers rather than players in this objective-setting process (Sullivan, 2006).

The basis of scientific research is data that are two-folds: Fisheries-independent data collected through scientific surveys organized by scientists and fisheries-dependent data collected during the implementation process transferred by database and participatory processes. Research plans should clarify what data need to be collected for management purposes.

The output of the scientific research process is scientific advice, which should be externally reviewed by experts for relevance and then be used as the basis to develop management strategies. The rules for identifying BAS and using BAS in policymaking should take into account uncertainties and divergences and be pre-established. The rules should ensure the use of precautionary approaches to cope with the inevitable knowledge limitation. In addition, mechanisms for stakeholders' involvement should be in place to ensure the extensiveness of data considered in this process and the legitimacy of the BAS used. Considering adaptive, management strategy developed should be evaluated timely and the corresponding results will be used in and/or initiate a new round of scientific research and strategy revision.

The basic elements of the implementation and enforcement process are fisheries monitoring used for data collection and supervision, and other outreach activities such as training and educating fishers and fisheries managers and law enforcers, to improve their compliance with regulations especially those relating to data report and collection, their understanding and recognition of science-based policies, and their capacity to participate in and coordinate decision-making and scientific research.

1.6. Discussion

1.6.1. Considering data availability

SBFM is viable for data-poor situations with minimum information, to data-rich situations with extensive data and complex analyses, as well as everything in between. In the scenario that sufficient data are available for traditional stock assessments, the challenges for performing SBFM may be the limited capacity in conducting assessments based on more inclusive data, ensuring the integration of the scientific advice into policies, and dealing with scientific timelines, disagreement, and uncertainty (Esch et al., 2018).

In this case, the organization and agencies can use Table 1.3 as a checklist to improve their capacity and take the following factors as their primary considerations:

1) ensuring that the scientific advice based on assessments is being used for decision-making;

2) applying more integrated stock assessments with consideration to the connections between the stock being managed and the broader environmental factors;

3) expanding the breadth of information sources used for decision-making through a wider range of partnerships with stakeholders;

4) ensuring sufficient communication on scientific advice and other information and employing a rigorous process for addressing disagreements among stakeholders;

5) adhering to a time-bounded decision-making process to adopt BAS, allowing recurrent decisions; and,

6) adhering to a set of formal rules to address uncertainties.

In the scenario that data are limited for traditional stock assessment, it would be advantageous for scientists to have the flexibility and capacity to use alternative methods for analyzing limited available information (Newman et al, 2015), especially in the case of time-sensitive policy formulation scenarios where gathering substantial data may not be practical. Additionally, in the case of poor data exchange due to external forces such as politics or culture, which cannot be addressed in the short term, a fisheries metadatabase (e.g., ICES, 2017) could be a viable alternative for promoting data transparency, sharing and accessibility.

When problems associated with poor or limited data hampered the use of traditional stock assessment methods (Vasconcellos et al., 2005), yet even in these cases, decision-making may still be based on BAS. Although it might be impossible to meet the criteria regarding the "well-established scientific research process" listed in Table 1.3, the scientific research, whether robust or not, and other elements included in the basic SBFM operational framework (Figure 1.3) must be in place. In the extreme case that quantitative management cannot be carried out due to the absence of data, the keys to successfully implementing SBFM are as follows:

1) insisting on using a formal, rigorous, and repeatable process for data collection, communication, and consideration;

2) adhering to rules developed based on the principle of relevance, credibility, and legitimacy to use available data;

3) appropriately and sufficiently using the knowledge of stakeholders;

4) acknowledging, recording, and disclosing limitations in data or gaps in knowledge;

5) having already in place a well-designed institutional structure, which includes fisheries monitoring programs and decision-making processes for the acquisition, processing, and use of new information; and,

6) ensuring the transparency of management objectives and strategy formulation processes.

1.6.2. Mode 1 or Mode 2 science?

The key to the development of the SBFM framework is to understand our expectations of science and the relationship between science and policy in governance, which involves the topic of the differences between the paradigms of normal science (Mode 1) and post-normal science (Mode 2) (Merton, 1996; Ravetz, 2006; Ziman, 2000; Msomphora, 2016). Wouters et al. (2008) stated that fisheries science, used for management purposes, is moving away from traditional Mode 1 science and turning to Mode 2 science. Many scholars criticize Model 2 science for deviating from the "ethos of science", including communism, universalism, interestedness, skepticism, and originality (Wouters et al., 2008; Hessels & Van Lente, 2008). They criticized Mode 2 science, as commissioned research, tends to be private and exclusive, and lack of transparency and peer review, which would weaken the quality of science and ultimately erode the legitimacy of science for decision-making (Wouters et al., 2008; Hessels & Van Lente, 2008). Msomphora (2016) further pointed out that failure to establish an effective new support structure for these changes would bring huge risks to the research enterprise.

The SBFM framework presented in the chapter provides a new support structure for the so-called post-normal problem-oriented fishery science. In general, the relationship between science and policy in

SBFM conforms to the philosophy of Mode 2, as described in Figure 2 of Msomphora 2016. However, seeing from the criteria developed based on the review of 94 reports, the science in SBFM neither fully satisfies the ideals of Mode 1 nor Mode 2 but is somewhere in between. First of all, although fisheries science is in nature commissioned and regulatory, it does not run counter to the institutional norms of interestedness and skepticism of Mode 1 science. Recognizing that scientists inevitably inject their political value into science, under SBFM, mechanisms are asked to be in place to ensure the objectivity and credibility of science. These mechanisms include a clear division of responsibility of science and policymaking, a well-established scientific research process, and independent peer review. Second, commissioned science does not mean privatization. As Msomphora (2016) suggested that scientific research in SBFM should be funded by the entire society at large, that is, the government, which provides a good reason for making the science public. Social concerns, such as complaints from NGOs, also require the disclosure of scientific methods and results used for decision-making. Communism is still a key norm: SBFM asks for mechanisms allowing stakeholders' participation in each management process and recording and disclosure of the methods and results of scientific research, thereby ensuring sufficient collaboration and communication and promoting the legitimacy of science. What is more consistent with the Mode 2 idea is that SBFM asks for using fishers' knowledge and allowing them to participate in scientific research since many reports we reviewed have shown that it is no longer feasible to use a "technocratic approach" to control the use of science in fisheries management, especially when facing highly localized problems. However, this does not mean abandoning the "technocratic approach". It is still vital to ensure that scientists play an important role in decision-making, including prioritizing peerreviewed scientific advice provided by skilled and prestigious scientists in decision-making, appointing them to conduct management performance evaluation, and communicating and explaining science to the non-scientist community.
1.7. Conclusion

In this chapter, we propose an operational SBFM model consisting of four main processes: objective-setting, scientific research process, management strategy formulation, and implementation. These four processes are contained within the same system and thus mutually influence each other via information flow. The interaction process within the system is not linear, but multi-dimensional and intricate. Only when this multi-dimensional interaction is satisfied can the application of BAS in decision-making be guaranteed. Each process should meet a series of criteria to ensure the generation and use of BAS and the effective operation of the whole system. The capacity of the system to produce and use BAS is mainly reflected in the following areas: a) collecting a good range of quality-assured data that meets the needs of scientific research and fishery policy formulation; b) analyzing the collected data through a well-designed scientific research process including analyzing the performance of previous management strategies; c) selecting and using the best data from different sources; and d) efficient informational feedback among various components and stages of the SBFM.

Following the guiding questions of this study and according to literature review findings, we identified the expectations of each process of the SBFM system and the corresponding criteria for fulfilling these expectations in operations. Overall, an effective SBFM requires achievable management objectives and a set of inclusive processes to ensure the integration of diversified relevant information, the assessment of the credibility of this information, and the evaluation and update of decision-making based on this information. Fisheries-related databases and stakeholders' involvement serve as a vehicle to realize and tighten the information feedback loops between objective-setting, scientific research, strategy formulation, and implementation and enforcement. These results are consistent with the principles of models proposed by previous studies focusing on the application of science in decision-making, such as structured decision-making (SDM) (Gregory & Long, 2009, Irwin et al., 2011). However, compared to SDM, the SBFM framework we propose in this chapter includes a comprehensive list of criteria for those principles (expectations) and the criteria are divided into the four processes of fisheries management systems. The

framework can provide stakeholders, especially the policymakers with an operational standard to establish or reform their legal and institutional framework to satisfy SBFM. It will also help promote the role of science in fisheries management, govern the use of the post-normal problem-oriented fisheries science in management, avoid inconsistencies in the understanding of SBFM among stakeholders, and promote the compliance of relevant agencies with BAS responsibilities.

It should be noted that we do not assume that it is only when all the criteria presented in Table 1.3 are met that they can claim that SBFM has been implemented. In fact, it might be impossible that all the criteria will be met within a single fisheries management system and the extent to which the criteria will apply will depend on the social, economic, and cultural context. However, we believe that the comprehensive list of criteria presented in Table 1.3 provides a checklist for those jurisdictions or fisheries agencies that are committed to implementing SBFM to assess the capacity of their current management system and to facilitate capacity building for the production and use of BAS in fisheries management.

As aforementioned, SBFM may perform differently in different jurisdictions or fisheries due to data availability. We have discussed the primary considerations of implementing SBFM in data-rich and data-poor scenarios, respectively. We insist that the elements included in the basic SBFM operational framework presented in Figure 1.3 should be seen as a minimum set of criteria for SBFM. However, further case-based research on how to effectively use this framework and the comprehensive set of criteria developed to improve science-policy interactions in different scenarios, especially in data-poor fisheries is vital and necessary. In addition, concerning the nuances of the mandates for the production and use of BAS in fisheries management in different jurisdictions, research on relevant legislation is significant, such as systematically collating and comparing their requirements on the types and formats of scientific information for fisheries decision-making. Finally, since the reports reviewed in this research cover fields beyond just fisheries, the results of this study can also inform the production and use of BAS in other natural resources management.

CHAPTER 2

EVOLUTION OF MARINE FISHERIES MANAGEMENT IN CHINA FROM 1949-2019: HOW DID CHINA GET HERE AND WHERE DOES CHINA GO NEXT?

2.1. Abstract

This chapter presents the evolution of China's marine fisheries industry and management policies, providing a comprehensive background for the follow-up study of this dissertation. In this study, we reviewed the evolving marine fisheries management practices in China to delineate changes in fisheries policies and their performances from 1949 to 2019. The study revealed that China's marine fisheries management has shifted from pursuing maximized landings to prioritizing conservation. This transformation is accompanied by the central government's increasing requirements for sustainable fisheries management and institutional innovation. However, the development and implementation of China's marine fisheries management are hindered by several outstanding issues, including the large size of the fishing fleet, large and poorly-organized fishing community, the "hidden" fishing capacity, uniform management approaches that sometimes fail to account for local conditions, lack of clearly defined and allocated fishing rights, limited data quality and availability, insufficient fisheries monitoring programs, and inadequate integration of scientific information in policymaking.

2.2. Introduction

China is the largest producer and exporter of marine fish and fishery products in the world. Despite the fact that in recent decades in China, mariculture productions account for most of the increased seafood productions (Figure 2.1), a more sustainable marine capture fisheries industry in China is still critical to the global seafood supply, food security, and seafood trade (e.g., Smith et al., 2010; Blomeyer et al., 2012). Today, the production of China's domestic marine capture fisheries still accounted for 18% of the world's total (FAO, 2018), furthermore, many signs suggest that fish farming in China is reaching its limits: narrow species diversity cannot satisfy the whole spectrum of diet needs; a sharp increase in aquaculture production is impossible due to environmental caps (e.g. habitat destructions, pollution, climate change, feed scarcity) (e.g., Zou et al., 2011; Tacon & Metian., 2015; Luo., Feb 2019, Wang et al., 2013).





Note: Data on maricultural production before 1954 are unavailable. Inconsistency in production statistics before and after 2006 due to changes in statistical methods.

Figure 2.1. (A) ratio and (B) amount of total domestic marine capture fisheries landings and maricultural production in China from 1950 to 2017.

However, China's wild marine fisheries resources have been declining since the late 1970s. A recent research paper by Cao et al. (2017) suggested that China's steady and large volume of marine fishing

28

landings in the past decades is supported by a relatively small number of highly abundant fish stocks, whereas the majority of the other wild fish stocks are in decline or have already collapsed. More evidence points to the decline, such as the falling average trophic levels of marine catches (Du et al., 2014), the decreasing proportion of economically valuable (usually high-trophic level) species (Bian, Wan, & Jin, 2018), the diminishing fish sizes at maturity and at capture (Lin, Chen, & Lin, 2007), and declining marine biodiversity (Fu et al., 2018). These environmental challenges in China's oceans have only become more prominent in recent years (Jiao et al., 2015). Today, the Chinese government is faced with an urgent need to re-evaluate the ideal balance between marine resources conservation and socio-economic indicators (Ma et al, 2013; Lu et al., 2019).

In 2012, China's central government proposed the concept of "Ecological Civilization" and, for the first time since the founding of PRC, resources conservation and environmental protection became a guiding principle in policymaking. In 2015, the CPC Central Committee and the State Council issued the "Opinion on Accelerating the Ecological Civilization Construction" and then the "Overall Plan of Ecological Civilization System Reform" (which we will refer to as "The Overall Plan). The Overall Plan proposed a framework for institutional reform in the natural resources management sector; there is a section specifically describing the exploitation and protection of marine resources. The proposals have been reiterated by the 13th Five-Year Plan for the National Economic and Social Development of the PRC (2016-2020).

In this context, the Chinses central fisheries authority launched the 13th Five-Year Plan for National Fisheries Development of the PRC (Referred to as 13FYP hereafter) in December 2016, which acts as the guidance for fisheries management throughout the country in the period from 2016 to 2020. The 13FYP echoes the call for "prioritizing ecosystem and promoting green development", breaking from the earlier balancing act of "paying equal attention to the development of production and ecological conservation" stated in the 12FYP. The 13FYP introduced concrete objectives: by 2020, [China] will decommission 20,000 motorized marine fishing vessels accounting for at least a total of 1.5 million kilowatts of main engine power (Double Control Target (DCT)) and reduce the total domestic fishing production to less than

10 million tons (from ~13 million tons in 2015). This is the first time that China has issued a quantifiable target on fishing yield (referred to as Total Yield Limit (TYL) below) (MOA, 2016). To meet these targets, the Chinese government has invested extensive efforts into reviewing and reforming its legislation, institutional arrangements, and mechanisms of the governance of marine capture fisheries (MOA, 2017).

Presently, the 13FYP period is coming to a close and the 14FYP (2021-2025) is in the pipeline. This offers an excellent opportunity to reevaluate China's marine fisheries management design, especially the initiatives since 2016, and identify important challenges, core issues, and possible areas for improvement going forward.

In this chapter, we trace the Chinese government objectives of marine fisheries management and the basic indicators and methods used to control domestic fishing capacity and conserve marine fisheries resources, as well as the corresponding performance from 1949 to early 2019. We would like to explore how the evolution of policy helps us understand and possibly predict the direction of changes in China's fisheries management policy. By doing so, we put forward six considerations that should be taken seriously in future fisheries reform in China.

In their paper, Cao et al (2017) pointed out that China needs serious institutional reforms to realize a true paradigm shift in marine fisheries management. More studies have reviewed the history of China's marine fisheries management, especially focusing on the evolution after 1978 when China pushed economic reforms and opened up the domestic market (e.g., Yu & Yu, 2008; Shen & Heino, 2014). Their results are also important references for this study. However, this study ventures further to capture a broader policy evolution perspective. This chapter traces the motivations behind the changes in marine fisheries policy and highlights new initiatives in China's fisheries reforms after 2016. We focus on the core issues of Chinese national marine fisheries management and decision-making mechanisms, as well as the management tools used. We believe our findings will be conducive to more targeted, confident reform measures in China, in terms of both legislative and institutional reforms.

2.3. Materials and methods

We traced historical fisheries practices by reviewing government documentation, white papers, and peer-reviewed journal articles and then inquired experts to supplement and confirm our findings (see section 2.5). We used official statistics data to observe changes in fisheries production; these data were the best available temporal and spatial information for our study. The data for 1949-1988 were obtained from the *Forty Years of China's Fisheries Statistic* (MOA, 1989). Data after 1988 were obtained from China's Fisheries Statistical Yearbooks (CFSYs) (Note that there is an inconsistency in production statistics before and after 2006 due to changed statistical methods. We recognize that there are potential biases and inaccuracies ingrained in these datasets, which previous studies have pointed out (e.g., Watson & Pauly, 2001; Pauly, 2008; Pauly & Froese, 2012), and also exposed by our research - by comparing the relationship between the statistics and the policies (see section 2.6.1).

Our keystone dialogues with the experts took place during two workshops on the Total Allowable Catch (TAC) system for marine fisheries management and a study tour organized by the University of Maine Marine Fisheries Partnership (MFP) (https://umaine.edu/mfp/). The two workshops took place on September 9, 2016, and April 28, 2018, in China, respectively; government officials, scientists, and other stakeholders from NGOs were invited to discuss the development and implementation of TAC programs in China. The study tour took place from July 29, 2018, to August 3, 2018, in New England, United States. Fisheries policy-makers, managers, and scientists from China and the US were invited for an academic and experience exchange on marine fisheries management. Participants from China taking part in the study tour are highly involved in China's post-2016 fisheries reforms. All in all, all three events provided the researcher with excellent opportunities to engage in in-depth conversations with the key figures in developing fisheries management policies in China. A total of 21 experts participated in a one-on-one discussion with the researcher, Shu Su; they are six fisheries policymakers and managers from Chinese fisheries administrative departments at national and provincial levels; nine scientists working for Chinese fisheries research institutions and public universities; four fisheries stakeholders from ENGOs; and two

Ph.D. students engaged in fisheries policy and regulations research in China. The researcher inquired the experts for information relating to policy evolution and asked them to confirm the findings which were previously drawn from public sources. A list of the core questions/conversation topics with experts is presented in Appendix B. To protect the privacy of the respondents, their personal information is confidential.

2.4. Background

Here, we present the necessary background information to help a better understanding of our findings stated in this chapter.

2.4.1. China's marine fisheries management

Chinese marine fisheries management is typically top-down and reliant on a command-and-control approach (Shen & Heino, 2014). Management policies are passed down in order from national, provincial, municipal, and county levels. The Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs (MARA) (known as the Ministry of Agriculture (MOA) before the State Council's institutional reform in March 2018 (Liu, 2018)), under the State Council, is the national administrative department for fisheries (ADF) in charge of fisheries affairs throughout the country. MARA's counterparts at the provincial level are responsible for issuing specific management policies and regulations for their respective administrative regions; fisheries policies at the provincial level mirror the national policies. Lastly, administrators at municipal and county levels are mainly responsible for enforcing policies and regulations on the ground. We outlined the various agencies and organizations that participate in marine fisheries management in China and their responsibilities. The results are presented in Figure 2.2. The feature of China's marine fisheries management system will be further illustrated in Chapter 3.



Note: Arrows indicate affiliations (upper-level points to lower-level). Colored circles indicate different functions listed in the diagram key. "Decision-making" specifically refers to the final review and adoption; "policy-making" refers to the development of policies and regulations; "Overseeing" refers to supervision and law enforcement; "assisting management" includes data collection duties, academic or industrial exchange organizing, and so on. Blocks in black represent government departments, blocks in gray represent non-profit organizations affiliated with the government, and the blue blocks represent industry associations (only examples are listed).

Acronyms: ADF- Administrative Department for Fisheries; BFFA-Bureau of Fisheries and Fisheries Administration; CAFS-Chinese Academy of Fishery Sciences; CAPPMA-China Aquatic Products Processing and Marketing Alliance; CCS-China Classification Society; CFA-China Fisheries Association; CSF-China Society of Fisheries; CRAA-China Recreational Angling Association; FEAC-Fisheries Experts Advisory Committee; FRI-Fisheries Research Institute; MARA-Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs; MOT-Ministry of Transportation; MSA-Maritime Safety Administration; NFTEC-National Fisheries Technology Extend Center; RI-Research Institute.

Figure 2.2. Agencies and organizations participating in marine fisheries management in China.

2.4.2. China's marine fishery industry

China's mainland is surrounded by the Bohai Sea (BS), the Yellow Sea (YS), the East China Sea

(ECS), and the South China Sea (SCC) from north to south. Currently, there are more than 22,000 species

discovered in China's seas (Liu et al., 2011). Among them, more than 3,000 are fish species, about 1000

kinds distribute in the north of the SCS, mainly in the GOT, near 700 in the ECS, and about 290 in the YS

and BS (Fu et al., 2008, Liu et al., 2011). Due to the geographic features, species stocks in the four sea areas

are relatively independent, especially in the BS and the Gulf of Tonkin (GOT), which are located in the north of the SCS (Liu, 2013).

According to the statistics of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), China has been the largest producer of aquatic products in the world since 1989. The absolute volume of marine capture fisheries production in China peaked at more than 14 million tons in 1999 but has since then decreased and stabilized at a lower level of 11-13 million tons (Figure 2.1(B)). However, according to the Vice Minister of the MARA, the total volume still significantly exceeds the estimated maximum sustainable (MSY) for China's marine fisheries at eight to ten million tons vield (MARA: http://www.moa.gov.cn/xw/zwdt/201701/t20170120_5461152.htm).

In 2016, the total amount of landings of marine capture fisheries in China was over 13.28 million tons with fish species accounted for 69.15% of the total, followed by shrimp, crabs, shellfish, and squid (Table 2.1). Landings in ECS were generally the highest, followed by those in SCS, YS, and BS (Table 2.2). Most landings were captured by fishing gears with low selectivity (Table 2.3).

Categories	Fish	Crustaceans		Shellfish	Algae	Cephalopods		Others		
Subcategories		Shrimp	Crabs			Cuttlefish	Squid	Octopus	Jellyfish	Others
Production	9.19	1.59	0.81	0.56	0.02	0.14	0.39	0.14	0.21	0.44
Percentage	69.2%	12.0%	6.1%	4.2%	0.2%	1.1%	2.9%	1.0%	1.6%	3.3%

Table 2.1. China's marine capture production (million tons).

Note: Data is obtained from the 2016 Chinese Fisheries Statistical Yearbook published by the MARA.

Table 2.2. China's marine capture production (million tons) by sea area in 2016.

Sea areas	Bohai Sea	Yellow Sea	East China Sea	South China Sea
Production	1.02	3.32	5.18	3.77
Percentage	7.6%	25.0%	39.0%	28.4%

Note: Data is obtained from the 2016 Chinese Fisheries Statistical Yearbook published by the MARA.

Table 2.3. China's marine capture production (million tons) by fishing gear in 2016.

Categories of fishing gears	Trawl	Purse Seine	Gillnet	Trap Net	Line and Hook	Others
Production	6.23	1.10	3.04	1.55	0.40	0.96
Percentage	52.22%	9.26%	25.51%	13.00%	3.40%	8.01%

Note: Data is obtained from the 2016 Chinese Fisheries Statistical Yearbook published by the MARA.

China has the world's largest marine fishing fleet; the fishing vessel number accounted for 19 percent of the world's total (FAO, 2018); making China's nearshore and offshore waters the busiest fishing area in the world (Kroodsma et al., 2018). However, the fleet operates with poor fishing selectivity (Figure 2.3) and a relatively low level of per capita productivity; the production per fisher in China was 1.89 tons in 2014, compared to 24.2 tons in Europe, 19.7 tons in North America, 10.4 tons in Oceania, and 2.47 tons for the global average (FAO, 2016). Additionally, a large proportion of the vessels are small-sized and concentrated in China's nearshore waters (Figures 2.4 and 2.5).





(C)





36

(A)



(A)



Note: Small: < 12 m; medium: >=12 m and < 24 m; large: >= 24 m. Data are obtained from the CFSYs.

Figure 2.4. China's marine motorized fishing vessel number by (A) main engine power.





(C)





The marine fishing industry is critical for the economic development, income, and employment of the coastal communities in China. There were at least 3.9 million people directly engaged in marine fishing in 2017; about 75% of them are traditional fishers who have been fishing for generations, living in remote rural areas with low education levels, and highly dependent on fisheries income (MARA, 2017).

Any future fisheries reform in China must pay attention to these conditions. Next, we review China's historical fisheries management practices and provide suggestions for the improvement of China's sustainable fisheries management.

2.5. Results

2.5.1. History of management practices

China has increasingly displayed concerns for the protection and conservation of wild fisheries resources since 1949. The management priorities, once solely focused on optimizing economic values, now emphasize ecological values (Xiao & Zhao, 2017). We can better capture this broad-scale shift by dividing the history of China's fisheries management into four phases. Table 2.4 lists the significant national fisheries policies in different phases that drove the changes in both the fishing industry and management framework in China. Table 2.5 demonstrates the responses to said policy changes: specific changes in management targets and corresponding results. We can observe how the fisheries statistics (i.e., motorized marine fishing vessel number and horsepower, marine capture production) respond to the changing management priorities and fisheries policies in Figure 2.6.

Table 2.4. Significant national fisheries policies listed in chronological order of implementation date.

Government Documents						
Phase One (1949-1978): driving for economic growth						
1951 - Directives on fishery production (National ADF)						
- Maximize catch volume by devoting effort to developing fishery production.						
1952 - Directives on fishers' work (National ADF)						
- Require local governments to work to increase the number of fishers.						
1953 - Resolution on agricultural production cooperatives (CPC Central Committee)						
- Encourage the establishment of agricultural production cooperatives.						
1960 - Outlines of the national agricultural development (1956-1967) (The 2nd NPC)						
- Advocate for the consolidation of the agricultural cooperation system and innovation in fishing technology.						
Phase Two (1979-1999): awaking to fisheries resources conservation needs						
1979a - Decisions on accelerating agricultural development (CPC Central Committee)						
- Introduce household contract responsibility system; rationally use fisheries resources and promote fishery						
production.						
1979b - Regulations on the protection of aquatic resources reproduction (State Council)						
- Focus on the protection of economically valuable aquatic animals and plants.						
1979c - Interim provisions on certain issues concerning fisheries licensing (National ADF)						
- Introduce the fishing license system.						
1980 - Implementation plan of national fisheries resources survey and fisheries zoning research (National ADF)						
- Mark the beginning of China's fisheries scientific research.						
1981 - Decision of the State Council on the establishment of juvenile fish reserves						
- Launch the first two juvenile fish reserves.						
1983 - Report on several issues concerning the development of marine fisheries (National ADF)						
- Propose to establish a marine fisheries resource protection and proliferation fund.						
1985 - Directives on relaxing the policy and accelerating the development of the fishery and aquaculture						
industry (No.5 Central Document) (CPC Central Committee & State Council)						
- Emphasize the protection, enhancement, and rational employment of fish stocks; require innovation in the						
"household contract responsibility system" to mobilize fishers' fishing enthusiasm; proposes to offset capture						
fisheries depletion with the development of aquaculture and distant-water fishing.						
1986 - Fisheries Law of PRC (Revised and reacted in 2000, 2004, 2009, 2013)						
1987 - Opinions on control indicators for nearshore and offshore motorized fishing vessels (National ADF)						
- Require the local government to control the amount of horsepower of MMFVs (Single-control).						
1989 - Measures for the management of fishing licenses (National ADF)						
- Improve the fishing license system.						

1992 - Opinions on controlling the growth indicators of marine fishing intensity during the 8th FYP period (National ADF)

- Emphasize the importance of controlling the blind growth fishing intensity; use fishing vessel number as

another indicator for fishing intensity.

1996 - China ocean agenda 21 (China oceanic administration)

- Call for sustainable fisheries management.

1997a - Opinions on further accelerating fisheries development (National ADF)

- Emphasize the development of legislation on fisheries administrative management.

1997b- Opinions on the implementation of controlling indicators of marine fishing intensity during the 9th FYP period (National ADF)

1999 - "Zero-growth" policy for national annual marine fishing yield (National ADF)

- The first policy considering output (landings) control.

Phase Three (2000 -2015): balancing economic, social, and conservation goals

2000a - Revised Fisheries Law of PRC

- TAC has been mandated.

2000b - "Negative growth" policy for annual fishing yield (National ADF)

2001 - The 10th FYP for national fisheries development (National ADF)

- Ensure an increase in fisheries economy, optimize the structure of the fishing industry, reduce fishing intensity.

2002a - Important decisions on fishers' retirement and relocation (State Council)

- Mark the introduction of marine fishers' resettlement program.

2002b - Notice on promoting stock enhancement programs (National ADF)

- Mark the beginning of the popularization of fish stock enhancement programs.

2002c - Provisions on the administration of fishery licensing (Revised and reacted in 2004, 2007, 2013, and 2019)

2003 - Opinions on the implementation of MMFVs control system in 2003-2010 (National ADF)

- Issue the first national measurable management target; the DCT.

2006a - An action plan for the conservation of aquatic living resources (State Council)

- Identify measurable management objectives for both short-term and long-term; provide a management framework for fisheries resources protection and enhancement.

2006b - The 11th FYP for national fisheries development (National ADF)

- Ensure the continuous increase in the income of the fishers; promote fisheries sustainable development;

advance harmonious social development in rural fishing areas.

2007 - Plan for medium and long-term fishery science and technology development (2006-2020) (National ADF)

Table 2.4. continued

- Form a complete high-efficient fisheries science and technology system by 2020, realizing the transformation of traditional fisheries into modern fisheries.

2009 - Notice on the investigation of fishing gears and methods in the national fishing industry

- Provide a basis for the development of the fishing gear assessment system.

2011 - The 12th FYP for national fisheries development (National ADF)

- Further improve fisheries economy and industry structure and the protection of fishers' livelihood and fisheries resources.

2013 - Notice on soliciting opinions on the improvement of the minimum mesh size system and the fishing gear access system for marine fishing (National ADF)

2015 - Overall plan for the reform of eco-civilization system (CCP; State Council)

- Provide a framework for institutional reform of natural resource management. There is a section specifically emphasizing the need to regulate marine resources' exploitation and implement protections.

Phase Four (2016-): prioritizing ecological conservations

2016 - 13th FYP for national fisheries development (National ADF)

- Promote green development of fisheries; issues DCT and TYL for 2016-2020; increase the level of fisheries modernization.

2017 - Notice on further strengthening domestic fishing vessel management and implementing the system for managing total marine fisheries resources (National ADF)

- Improve MMFVs double-control system; implement total marine fishery resources management system;

improve the organization level of fisheries resources management; improve governance capacity.

2017 - Notice on further regulating the proliferation and release of aquatic organisms (National ADF)

2018 - Notice on further clarifying issues related to the protection and compensation of aquatic biological

resources in fishery-related engineering project

2019 - Key work points for fisheries administrative management in 2019

- Further promote the conservation and restoration of aquatic biological resources; deepen reform in the

comprehensive management of fishing vessels and ports.

Format: Issued Date - Title of the document (The entity issued the document); description related to marine fisheries in the document, or the role of the document in the history of China's marine fisheries management. Acronyms: ADF - Administrative Department for Fisheries; CPC - Communist Party of China; DCT - Double Control Target; FYP - Five Year Plan; MMFV - Marine Motorized Fishing Vessel; NPC - National People's Congress; TYL - Total Yield Limit.

Table 2.5. Evolution of input-based targets and output-based targets of Chinese marine fisheries management, with corresponding results. Information and data are acquired from relative documentation and China's fisheries statistical yearbooks.

Time	Targets/Limit	Results (Total changes in the period)					
Input control indicators							
(Total number of MMFV (V) and total combined horsepower of all MMFVs (CHP))							
1987-1992	"Single control" policy	CHP + 19.7%					
1992-1996	"Double control" policy	CHP + 36.9%; V + 13.5%					
1996-2000	"Double control" policy	CHP + 16.8%; V + 3.1%					
2003-2010	DCT: CHP - 10%; V - 13%	CHP + 8.5%; V - 23.8%					
2016-2020	DCT: CHP - 10%; V - 10%	Preliminary results until 2018: CHP - 4.2%; V - 13.2%					
Output control indicators (Amount of marine capture fisheries production (P))							
1999-2000	"Zero-growth"	P - 1.2%					
2000-2015	"Negative-growth"	P - 5.5%					
2016-2020	TYL: P - 23.6%	Preliminary results until 2018: P - 21.4%					

Acronyms: MMFV - Marine Motorized Fishing Vessel; DCT - Double Control Target; TYL - Total Yield Limit; P – Production; "-" – decrease by; "+" – increase by.



Note: The top line chart shows the evolution of production, the number, and the total horsepower of motorized fishing vessels of China's marine capture fisheries. The lower part indicates the key elements of the social and economic environment and the changes in fisheries policies at the national level.

Figure 2.6. Relationship between management objectives, policies, and the dynamic of the fishing industry.

Table 2.6 lists the significant, still-active fisheries resources conservation and protection management measures. We can see how conservation methods became more sophisticated and diverse over the years. The management evolved from a sole reliance on simple technical regulations to employing a combination of input (effort) controls and technical measures, and finally towards a regime that combines a diverse array of effort controls, technical measures, and output (catch) controls (The terms are explained in Table 2.6). In the following section, we extract the key events in history that shaped today's Chinese fisheries management system.

Table 2.6. China's significant marine fisheries management and conservation measures listed in chronological order of national implementation date.

Time Management Measures	Mandated Management Scope (current)			
1955 - Coastal zones closed to motorized bottom trawling	Bottom trawling in certain areas			
	(Figure 2.7)			
1958 - Stock enhancement programs	Some economically valuable species			
1962 - Banned fishing methods [†]	Fishing by the explosion, with poison			
	or with electricity, etc			
1979 - Fishing license system [‡]	All fisheries			
1981 - Fisheries resources protected reserves †	Designated areas			
1989 - Fisheries resources proliferation protection fees [¶]	All fisheries			
1992 - "Double control" system [‡]	All fisheries			
1995 - Summer fishing moratorium [†]	Designated fisheries			
2002 - Fishing Logs [¶]	All fisheries			
2002 - Fishers exiting and relocation system	Traditional fishers			
2003 - Fishing vessel buyback and scrapping system	Certain types of vessels			
2004 ⁺ - Minimum mesh size of fishing gears	45 types of fishing gears			
2007 - Aquatic germplasm resources reserves	51 certain areas (Marine)			
2014 - Fishing gear access system	All fisheries			
2017 - Limiting system for total marine capture fisheries production	All fisheries			
2017 - TACs	Selected fisheries (Pilot)			
2017 - On-board observers	At least 2 fisheries (Pilot)			
2018 - Minimum catchable-size	15 species			
2018 - Maximum proportion of undersized catch	15 species			
2019 - Designated port for landing	Taizhou City (Pilot)			

Note: The mandated management scope includes the fisheries, fishers, and fishing equipment that the measures currently (in 2019) covered or targeted. Acronym: TAC - Total Allowable Catch. Keys:

Technical measures: control on the types of fishing gears allowed and restrictions on times and areas of harvest.

Input controls: restrictions put on the intensity of use of gear or boat that fishers use to catch fish. Output controls: controls are direct limits on the amount of fish coming out of a fishery. Fisheries monitoring methods Others

2.5.1.1. Phase One: driving for economic growth (1949-1978)

After the founding of the PRC in 1949, China entered a period of post-war reconstruction. All industrial sectors in the country set forth the goal of maximizing economic outputs, and the fisheries sector was no exception (Zhou & Li, 2009; Muscolino, 2009). In 1953, the central government passed a document named "Resolution on Agricultural Production Cooperatives", encouraging fishers to establish fisheries cooperatives, for the sake of enhancing fishing efficiency, increasing production, and reducing operational risks. To heed this call, hitherto independent fishers began to organize. An organization-based fisheries operation and management system was subsequently formulated; the ownership of fishing vessels, gears, and other tools passed from individual fishers to the cooperatives; cooperatives took charge of the fishery operations, and even managed and distributed income from fishing in a centralized way (Li, 2017). By 1956, these cooperatives expanded into different regions and covered almost all coastal communities in China (Hu, 2007). In the 1960s, cooperatives continued to consolidate, forming even larger groups called communes (Zhao, Sun, Zheng, & Geng, 2016). However, the unionization of fishers played a limited role in driving production growth, in light of the large fisheries economic increase at the next historic period when the organizations were disbanded.

Depletion has been observed in some fisheries at a local level, which is caused by not only the Chinese state's intervention after 1949 (i.e., policies advocated for maximizing catch volume to increase economic returns) but also other multiple factors. In particular, Japanese motorized fishing fleets entered waters off Zhejiang after exhausting fisheries stocks in the ECS, which overrode the institutions that used to regulate fisheries by Chinese fishers and accelerated the resources decline (Muscolino, 2006). This prompted the Chinese government to demarcate the coastal no-fishing zone to prohibit motorized bottom trawling operations in 1995 (Figure 2.7). The coastal zone for motorized bottom trawling became the first significant marine fisheries resources conservation approach in China. It was initially implemented in the Bohai Sea, Yellow Sea, and the East China Sea in the 1950s, and then expanded into the South China Sea in 1980. Today, the operation of motorized fishing vessels using bottom trawl is prohibited all year round

in this area. The outer boundary of this area has become the basis for distinguishing marine fisheries waters in China's marine fisheries administrative management.



Note: The red line, straight with 40 designated points (with specific latitude and longitude), represents the outer boundary of the closed zone. These points vary in distance from the sea baseline (represented by the green dotted line).

Figure 2.7. A simplified schematic map for coastal zones closed to motorized bottom trawling.

2.5.1.2. Phase Two: awaking to fisheries resources conservation needs (1979-1999)

After China began its economic reforms in 1978, the communes gradually disintegrated. Fishing vessels and equipment, owned by the collectives, were contracted out or sold to individuals (Qian, 2000). Fishers began to operate independently and retained all incomes from fishing (except for a small portion paid to the collectives according to the contracts and for taxes) (Shen, 2006; Wang, 2011). During this phase, fishing capacity increased rapidly, propelled by a massive influx of new fishers and a new wave of shipbuilding (Guo & Huang, 2001). According to the fisheries statistics, the number of full-time and part-time fishers swell by one million and 440,000, respectively, between 1979 and 1999. During the same period, the number of motorized marine fishing vessels increased by 533.7 % and the annual catch increased by 357.4%.

Still, optimizing economic output remained the priority amidst China's drive for development during this phase, but concerns about the protection and enhancement of coastal fisheries resources began to emerge in the national fisheries-related government documentation (Ferraro & Brans, 2012). A fishing license system, introduced in 1979 to control fishing efforts, ended the era of pure open access fisheries in China (Mu et al., 2007; Huang & He, 2019). The Summer Fishing Moratorium (SFM) was first introduced and tested in Zhejiang Province to prohibit trawlers from fishing from August to October 1979. It has been officially implemented since 1995, and its temporal and spatial scale and the fisheries being covered have been extended. Today, SFM is considered to be the most extensive (in terms of coverage) and the most intensive (in terms of enforcement) conservation measure for marine fisheries resources in China.

These aforementioned fisheries management measures were officially authorized by the *Fisheries Law of the People's Republic of China* (referred to as "*Fisheries Law*" in this dissertation) promulgated in 1986. This law formed the legal basis of China's marine fisheries management (Huang & Tang, 2010). Soon afterward, the central government called for limiting the total horsepower of the marine fishing fleet in 1987, and then further mandated a limitation on both the total horsepower and number of motorized marine fishing vessels in 1992 (known as the "Double Control" system) (Zhang et al., 2016). Meanwhile, China began to boost mariculture and distant-water fishing, attempting to offset pressure on coastal fisheries resources by adjusting the industrial structure, indicated by the No.5 Central Document published in 1985. More fisheries subsidies have been issued to encourage and support fishers to fish farther from the Chinese shores (Mallory, 2016).

During this phase, the implementation of those conservation methods was not satisfactory. Recognition of the need to conserve coastal marine fisheries resources was overshadowed by the national drive for economic growth (Palmer, 1998). Local authorities, pressured to meet economic growth objectives (e.g. development and employment), favored short-term socio-economic gains rather than long-term conservation needs.

2.5.1.3. Phase Three: balancing economic, social, and conservation goals (2000-2015)

The "Ocean Agenda 21" set the tone for China's marine fisheries management going into the 21st century, signaling a shift towards more environmentally responsible and sustainability-focused management practices (Shi, 2002; Zhao, Hynes & He, 2014). However, various bilateral fisheries agreements signed by China with its neighboring countries, including ones signed with Japan, South Korea, and Vietnam, came into force around the year 2000, which complicated China's domestic marine fisheries management (Rosenberg, 2005; Ou & Tseng, 2010). Many Chinese fishers lost access to their historic fishing grounds located in more distant fishing grounds. The situation dwindled employment opportunities for fisheries communities, and at the same time further increased coastal fishing pressure; as most of those fishers returned to operate in China's domestic offshore waters (Zhang, Cui, & Rong, 2004). In this context, the national government had to reconsider the trade-offs between socio-economic and conservation goals (MOA, 2006).

On the one hand, the government issued a directive on "zero growth" in marine fishery production in 1999, and then another directive requested "negative growth" in 2000. Besides, they issued the first quantitative target on reducing the total number of marine motorized fishing vessels and the total horsepower for 2003-2010 nationwide (Double control target, DCT) (MOA, 2003). On the other hand, the government began to carry out fishing vessel buyback programs and developed training programs (coupled with monetary incentives) to help traditional fishers to withdraw from capture fisheries and find alternative employment (MOF & MOA, 2003). In response to these policy measures, fishing yields and fleet size both decreased. However, the total amount of horsepower kept increasing (Figure 2.6).

Legally, China made a major revision to the two primary legislations for fisheries administrative management during this phase. *The Fisheries Law* was reenacted in 2000 and the *Provisions of Administration of Fishing Licenses* (PAFL) was reenacted in 2002. A maturing legal framework for fisheries resource protection and conservation was then in the works. Later in 2006, China issued the *Outline of Action Plan for the Conservation of Aquatic Living Resources*. This document guides the development of subsequent fisheries resources conservation policies in China.

Remarkably, the 2000 *Fisheries Law* mandated the use of TAC for the first time in China, despite the management still being reliant on input controls and technical methods. An expert group was set up in 2003 to study the implementation of TACs. However, it turned out that the TAC cannot be implemented unless major reforms are made to the fisheries systems (Tang & Tang, 2003).

2.5.1.4. Phase Four: prioritizing ecological conservations (2016-present)

Domestically, China's national development philosophy has gradually shifted from emphasizing economic growth to emphasizing ecological protection in recent years. Internationally, there is a growing global call-to-action to protect the marine environment. In this context, fisheries resource conservation has become a top priority of marine fisheries management in China. After 13FYP proposed the updated DCTs and the first TYL, the MOA issued the *Notice on Further Strengthening the Management of Domestic Fishing Vessels and Implementing the System for Managing Total Marine Fisheries Resources* in February 2017, which outlined China's central agenda for fisheries reforms. Soon afterward, the national government reauthorized the PAFL which has entered into force on January 1, 2019; the *Fisheries Law* is currently being revised.

A series of initiatives have been taken since 2016 to improve the mechanisms and methods for marine fisheries management. Here, five major initiatives were identified and elaborated on; these initiatives may shed light on the future directions of Chinese fisheries reforms. Other initiatives were presented in Box 2.1.

2.5.2. Fisheries reform actions

2.5.2.1. Fishing vessel classification system

The MARA has re-defined marine fishing vessels into three size-classes according to their length overall (LOA) (large, medium, and small) and further divided the permissible fishing areas for the three size-classes of vessels (Figure 2.8). The new system indicates a decentralization in fisheries management; DCTs for small-sized fishing vessels with LOA less than 12m - previously determined by the national ADF and allocated to each coastal province according to a pre-determined ratio - are now determined by

provincial authorities (Figure 2.9). Combined with regulations on prescribed fishing areas, whereby smallsized fishing vessels can only operate in the provincial waters to which they belong, the new management scheme greatly bolstered local autonomy.



Note: The number of dots representing national marine protected areas (MPAs), or aquatic germplasm resources reserves (AGRRs) does not reflect the actual number. Since 2017, large and medium-sized fishing vessels (Length overall (LOA) \geq =12 m) are no longer allowed to enter Class A waters without a special permit; vessels approved for operations in Class B or C cannot operate across sea areas (which refer to C1, C2, and C3); small fishing vessels (LOA<12 m) can only operate in Class A waters and cannot operate across provincial boundaries.

Figure 2.8. Schematic diagram of the spatial division of China's marine fisheries areas.



Note: The processes for TAC pilots in Liaoning, Shandong, Zhejiang, Fujian, Guangzhou are different. The flowchart (B) represents their general practice. Arrows indicate the direction of the process. The brackets imply sub-processes. Flowcharts were developed based on related documentations and then reviewed by experts involved in the processes.

Figure 2.9. Decision-making processes for (A) double control targets (DCTs) and (B) fisheries management plan (FMP) of total allowable catch (TAC) pilot programs.

2.5.2.2. Reorganizing fisheries communities

The changed fisheries operation model emerged after China adopting economic reform ushered in an era of rapid economic growth in the fishing sector. Fisheries productions previously coordinated by the communes came to independently operate by individual households. This transformation has the downside of making monitoring, control, and surveillance more difficult (Chen, 2009). Also, the loss of the fisheries cooperatives to act as intermediaries between the government and fishers reduced fishers' voice in management (Gao & Gao, 2008).

Currently, reinventing fisheries community organizations is becoming a concern in China. The 2019 PAFL has indicated that fishers should be associated with one of the local corporate or unincorporated organizations, such as fisheries cooperatives, fisheries associations, village collective economic organizations, and village committees.

The primary purpose of the re-organization of fisheries communities is to aid the implementation and enforcement of fisheries policies and regulations. The government views this initiative as a way to reestablish the severed channels of communications with local stakeholders as well as a potential first step to foster an environment of compliance with management regulations within the communities.

2.5.2.3. Output controls - TAC pilot programs

China uses fisheries pilot programs to incubate innovations and integrate bottom-up initiatives and local knowledge into the national policy process. From 2017 to 2018, the TAC-based management approach was piloted in six selected fisheries located in provincial jurisdictional waters. In 2019, the approach was further used in the fisheries where were exempted by the SFM regulations; those fisheries are also located in provincial waters. Thus, so far, TACs management plans were all developed at the provincial level and reported to the MARA for approval (Figure 2.9 (B) shows the general decision-making process). TACs were calculated based on historical fisheries statistical data in 2017 due to insufficient conditions for stock assessment especially in terms of data limitation. TACs quotas were then allocated to individual fisheries cooperatives or vessel sectors. Because of the inadequate monitoring and enforcement capacities in China

today, provincial managers regard the pilots as "test runs" primarily for refining methods and building social acceptance, rather than a measure to produce immediate conservation effects.

2.5.2.4. Co-management approach

China also introduced co-management ideas in its fisheries management with the launch of TAC pilot programs (Jentoft, McCay & Wilson, 1998). Comparing the decision-making processes of the DCTs with that of the TACs, we can observe that scientists, the fishing industry and the partners, and NGOs are receiving more opportunities to be involved in the decision-making process for the latter (Figure 2.9). In fact, fisheries cooperatives played an especially important role in those programs; for example, in the pilot swimming crab (Portunus trituberculatus, Portunidae) TAC program in Zhejiang province, the cooperatives, composed of fisher representatives, assumed the responsibilities for quota allocations within the organization. Besides, they were responsible for fisheries-dependent data collection and helped in supervision. From these trends, we are optimistic that a more adaptive and more transparent management regime is taking shape.

2.5.2.5. Fisheries monitoring

In the past, in addition to the fisheries statistic system, only the fishing logbook program was used to obtain production data of fisheries using medium and large boats. Since 2019, fisheries using small-size vessels have been first included in this program. In addition, China has investigated and tested a number of alternative fisheries monitoring and reporting programs. For example, on-board observers, hail-out and hail-in systems, and electronic logbooks have been used in various TAC pilots. Local governments have gradually begun to designate ports for unloading catches to improve landings-control and catch-reporting (MARA, 2018; MARA 2019). These attempts could improve the quality and availability of data and as well as promote seafood traceability in the future.

Box 2.1. Other initiatives since 2016

Various other initiatives in addition to the five elaborated in the main text have also been taken in China to optimize sustainable marine fisheries management. They are:

1) A brand-new fishing gear access system has been introduced; rather than relying solely on banning certain types of fishing methods and restricting minimum mesh size for a limited number of types of fishing gears, all types and standards of fishing gears allowed will be clearly specified under this new system.

3) Fishing boats using trawl nets, standing nets with single anchors, or large deep-water purse seines nets are no longer allowed to be built, and existing vessels will be phased out due to their destructive impact on the ecological environment.

4) Non-local residents or enterprises applying for local marine fishing licenses are no longer allowed. Thus, the inland residents will be not able to obtain a marine fishing license and the mobility of fishers in coastal communities will be reduced.

5) Fishing licenses for recreational fisheries are now mandated, which filled the gap of recreational fisheries management in China.

6) Rules of some existing management measures have been revised and become severer, such as the SFM.

7) A reallocation of fishery subsides is unfolding. Fuel subsidies have been decreased in some provinces.

2.6. Considerations in China's fisheries management

China's marine fisheries management has come to a historical turning point, that is, the conservation of fisheries resources, instead of economic growth, has become the primary management objective of central leadership. The same is true at local levels; for the first time, the quality of the ecology and environment has been used as one of the indicators for the working evaluation of local government leaders. Meanwhile, ensuring the livelihoods of fishers, especially those who are highly dependent on fisheries, is also seen as a significant management objective (Cao et al, 2017). Here, we conclude five issues that may impede the realization of these goals based on Chinese historical management practices. We believe that China's future fisheries reform should first consider these six issues.

2.6.1. Remarkable efficiency or misleading data?

There is, at first glance, an encouraging response in the dataset to policies: in 1999, just as the "zero-growth policy" was issued, the total fisheries production stopped growing and remained at a relatively stable level in the following years. The 2016 observation reflected similar incidents, where fisheries productions decreased right away after the release of TYL (Figure. 2.6). The immediacy of the statistical response to policy shifts inspires skepticism: Were these positive responses realistic situations? Did they reflect real policy success or were they merely a result of data manipulation?

The reliability of China's statistical data was questioned by previous studies. Some argued that the data may be "trimmed" by government agencies at successive administrative levels as they are reported from the ground up, due to political incentives (e.g., Guan & Yu, 2004; Sun & Huang, 2009; Pauly et al., 2014). Watson and Pauly (2001) pointed out that China over-reported its domestic marine fishing output in the 1980s and 1990s because the state entities monitoring the economy were given the task of increasing output. Fortunately, conserving natural resources and restoring the ecosystem instead of increasing output has become a state priority since 2016. Such a transformation, although cannot totally eliminate concerns in terms of political influence in data reporting, does inspire more confidence in providing a better environment for reporting more reliable fisheries statistics. Even so, the ability of the Chinese statistical system to provide accurate data deserves reasonable doubt since the data collection scheme in place in China is not immune to quality loopholes (Gao, 2005). The data quality issue should be further investigated in future studies.

2.6.2. The "hidden" fishing capacity

Since 1979, input controls have been the cornerstone of China's fisheries management to limit the fishing intensity and conserve fisheries resources (Yu & Yu, 2006; Tang & Zou, 2010). However, success has been limited, as the total marine fishing capacity in China remains high (Yang et al., 2016). One reason for this is the government's lack of control over other factors in determining fishing capacity except for

horsepower and vessel numbers, such as vessel tonnage, storage capacity, auxiliary vessels, time of operations, gear deployment, and the number of fishers (Tang, Zou, & Hu, 2009).

Besides, the underestimated horsepower clouds over the veracity of national fisheries statistics and lead to input controls' failure. Zhang et al. (2018) pointed out that since almost all taxes, fees, and/or fines levied on fishing vessels are calculated based on the vessel's horsepower, fishers tend to under-report the horsepower of their vessels (or otherwise only report the lowest possible diesel engine power rating, which does not reflect reality). Zhang et al (2018) also observed that even diesel engine manufacturers participate in this increasingly elaborate deception by mislabeling the engines that they produce to suit the market preference. All of these factors contribute to the hidden fishing capacity in China, which remains unfathomable due to inadequate surveys and ground-truthing in management (only 6,500 certified surveyors are assigned to meet the annual inspection needs for more than 1.09 million fishing vessels, including about 300,000 marine fishing vessels).

Unregistered fishing vessels are another contributor to the "hidden capacity", presenting yet another obstacle to China's fisheries effort reductions and input controls objectives (e.g., Shen & Heino, 2014; Buszynski, 2012; Mills et al., 2011). Since the 1990s, China has sought to fight illegal fishing boats by introducing a series of normative documents. However, coming short of a formal and higher-level legal mandate, success has been limited (e.g., Hua, 2005; Zhu & Pei, 2015; Pei & Xie, 2018).

2.6.3. Different fisheries vs Consistent management approaches

In addition to the pilot programs, other fisheries management approaches in China exhibit a certain degree of uniformity across different regions (Schwartz, 2003). However, uniform management measures are placed at odds with the diverse environmental, ecological, and social characteristics in China's fisheries and fishing communities across different regions (Shen & Heino, 2014; Huang & Tang, 2019; Li et al., 2019; Liu & Tao, 2016; Tang, 2017).

In particular, the situation of fisheries using small-sized fishing vessels located in China's coastal waters is greatly different from other fisheries. These fisheries share similar characteristics with small-scale
fisheries around the world, such as involving highly mixed species; hiring a large number of temporary seasonal workers, many of whom are migrants; exhibiting low community and environmental resilience and in a weak and disorganized market (e.g., Andrew et al., 2007; Su, 2016;). Some common problems are more prominent in these fisheries (Chen & Tang, 2013), such as overexploitation, lack of data, complex social issues (e.g., low coverage of insurance (Liu & Ping, 2010)), and enormous scale (the number of small-sized fishing vessels in China is about twice that of large and medium-sized fishing vessels).

China's diverse fisheries urgently need diversified, devolved policy and management measures that are not only feasible but also responsive to the specific needs of a particular fishery or fishing community (Wilson et al., 1994; Chen & Tang, 2014). To elaborate this point, the current SFM closes all Chinese coastal and offshore waters regulated with consistent rules - with only a limited number of fisheries were exempted and managed by separate regulations during the closure (MARA, 2019). This clear-cut approach creates a hard time for some groups of fishers whose fishery is more reliant on the summer season; when the optimal fishing season overlaps with the closure in a particular fishery, fishers are incentivized to fish during the closure, resulting in more illegal fishing and higher costs of law enforcement.

Furthermore, the knowledge asymmetry between policymakers at the national level and those working locally could impede management success (Jasanoff, 1996, Cash et al., 2002). The decentralization of the fishing vessel classification management system provides opportunities to address this issue. However, the challenge to devolve responsibilities remains formidable, considering China's top-down, command and control management framework. Today, the TYL is developed and allocated by the MARA (central government) to the eleven coastal provinces at a fixed proportion determined by historical catch. In addition, local governments have less capacity to develop fisheries policies and regulations due to the lack of experience and knowledge. The lack of policy solutions rooted on the ground may lead to significant management failure.

2.6.4. Participatory policymaking

Failure to integrate stakeholders' knowledge and opinions in decision-making might be the vital reason for the past poor compliance and low efficacy of fisheries management in China. As Figure 2.9 (A) indicated, the government is the dominant player in the decision-making process of DCTs, in which the mechanism for stakeholders' involvement is severely inadequate. However, Figure 2.9 (B) indicates that the science, policy, and fishery communities have been better bridged in the decision-making process of TACs. This might be another valuable gain from piloting TACs, and such a model is worthy to be learned and used in the development of other fisheries management measures.

2.6.5. Poorly designed rights-based fisheries management system

Rights-based fisheries management is another perspective of management (Townsend & Charles, 1997; Charles, 2001). In China, with the demise of fishing communes at the start of the second policy phase (1979-1999), the privatization of fishing equipment was not accompanied by the privatization of fisheries resources, leading to "Olympic" competition and sharply increased fishing capacity (Ostrom et al., 1994); the failure to distribute the use rights led to governance failure in conservation (Hu & Xue, 2003; Tang & Su, 2017).

Paying more attention to perfecting the rights-based fisheries management system, rather than being limited by the traditional management idea (i.e., improving input controls, output controls, technology measures, etc.) could improve China's fisheries management system.

2.7. Moving forward: recommendations for China's fisheries reform

Overall, China's fisheries management is moving in the direction of becoming more refined, diversified, and modernized. The transformation of China's national development agenda has provided a great opportunity for fisheries institutional reform.

We suggested that the reform should take into account the previously identified issues in this chapter. Implementing and creating more property-rights approaches will resolve the problem of the poorly

developed rights-based fisheries management system. This is an important research subject for people studying Chinese fisheries management, whereas it does not fall within the scope of this dissertation.

With regard to the four remaining considerations described above, while they involve various aspects of fisheries management, we recognized that they fall under the umbrella of science-based fisheries management (SBFM) and relate to a significant problem: how can scientific information and knowledge be better generated and used during fisheries management? To be more precise, the uncertainty associated with the fisheries statistical system and the "hidden" fishing capacity result in untrustworthy data inputs for the management system, especially unreliable fisheries-dependent data. The use of highly unified fisheries management approaches throughout the country comes at the cost of failing to account for local variations, which indicates a lack of integration of local fisheries knowledge in fisheries research and policymaking. Similarly, the lack of a formal mechanism for multiple stakeholders to participate in decision-making indicates insufficient use of available information. In this light, we argue that improving the production and use of science in fisheries management, and thus developing the SBFM scheme, is critical to China's fisheries reform. The following chapters of this dissertation will address further analysis and a reform plan.

CHAPTER 3

DIAGNOSE AND ADVISE ON CHINA'S MARINE FISHERIES MANAGEMENT USING SYSTEM THINKING

3.1. Abstract

Ensuring that fisheries decision-making is based on the best available science (BAS) is critical to sustainable fisheries management and science-based fisheries management (SBFM) is thereby widely advocated worldwide. China is the largest marine fishing country in the world, but its marine fisheries management system's ability to implement SBFM has yet to be analyzed. In this study, I reviewed China's marine fisheries management system and used a pre-developed SBFM framework as a guide to diagnosing the system from the perspective of system thinking. The system's advantages and disadvantages in terms of BAS development and usage were identified and evaluated.

3.2. Introduction

Sustainable fisheries management requires decisions based on sound science. To help ensure this, fisheries policies should establish institutions to conduct the best available science (BAS) and processes to ensure that it forms the basis of decision-making (Cooke et al., 2017). Science-Based Fisheries Management (SBFM) is committed to completing satisfactory integration and consideration of all available information across multiple dimensions provided by various stakeholders through effective processes and procedures, thereby ensuring the timely production and use of BAS in the development of management strategies (Bisbal, 2002; NRC, 2003; Sullivan et al., 2006; Su et al., 2021). Due to variations in the legal and institutional structure and data availability, SBFM can be operated in a variety of ways in different jurisdictions or fisheries (Ryder et al., 2010). However, there are still a set of criteria that need to be met to ensure that SBFM is implemented and to facilitate the operation of SBFM (Su et al., 2021). Failure to meet these criteria will not achieve successful SBFM, which may weaken the effectiveness of SBFM in collecting,

addressing, and considering information (Su et al., 2021). This may lead to biased decision-making and unsustainable fisheries management.

China is a major player in worldwide seafood production, consumption, and trade (FAO, 2020). Its government has initiated an ambitious fisheries reform effort and elevated the goal of sustainability since 2017, which needs a well-designed legal and institutional framework to support strong science and its integration into decision making (Cao et al., 2017; Su et al., 2020). However, no assessment of China's marine fisheries management system's capacity to produce and use BAS has been undertaken to date. This study was conducted to fill this gap and to evaluate the Chinese marine fisheries management system to better understand its performance and progress in implementing SBFM. We believe this study will help people better understand China's marine fisheries management. Meanwhile, this study provides a reproducible method for evaluating the capacity of a fisheries management system in terms of producing and using BAS in decision-making from a perspective of system thinking.

The rationality of this study is based on a hypothetical premise that China would need to implement SBFM. An important argument is that the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) has entered into force in China since 1996 and the UNCLOS stipulates that "the coastal State, taking into account the best scientific evidence available to it, shall ensure through proper conservation and management measures that the maintenance of the living resources in the exclusive economic zone (EEZ) is not endangered by overexploitation (§61, UN, 1982). Furthermore, China's domestic policies call for structured, democratic, pluralistic, and scientific decision-making, which is consistent with the principle of SBFM (Zhou, 2012). The regulatory document of "Implementation outlines for comprehensive promotion of law-based administration 全面推进依法行政实施纲要", released by China's State Council in 2004, introduced a ten-year goal of developing a framework to ensure structured, democratic, and scientific administrative decision-making in any area (GOSC, 2004). This goal was reiterated and updated in the document "Implementation outlines for building a government ruled by law 法治政府建设实施纲要

(2015-2020)". It calls for the establishment of statutory mechanisms to allow expert demonstration, risk assessment, legitimacy review, public participation, and to enhance their role in decision-making (GOSC, 2015). The "Implementation Outline for the Establishment of a Rule of Law-Based Society 法治社会建设 实施纲要 (2020-2025)" further elaborates the following development goals: (i) improving the social governance system to be supported by science and technology; ii) allowing democratic consultation, social coordination, and public participation in decision-making; iii) creating a social governance pattern of co-construction, co-governance, and sharing; and (iv) promoting the role of citizen's and social organizations in industrial self-regulation (GOSC, 2020). Additionally, China's historical management practices point to a shift towards more science-based sustainable marine fisheries management (Su et al., 2020). Therefore, the results of this study can provide a reference for China's future fisheries reforms to better meet the needs of international obligations and domestic policy development on making BAS-based decisions.

3.3. Materials and methods

In this study, we use system thinking to assess China's marine fisheries management system. The System Thinking theory stresses holistic analysis that focuses on how the system's components are interconnected and how the system works through time (Meadows, 2006). Based on a detailed review of the relevant laws and regulations, management objectives, institutional structure, and decision-making process, we diagnosed the interconnections between the many components that comprise China's marine fisheries management system to determine if sufficient circumstances are in place in the system for SBFM to be successful. The information used to describe China's marine fisheries management system was obtained from the most widely available resources, including those provided by organizations' official websites, regulatory documents, grey reports, and peer-reviewed articles, and it was cross-verified by the authors of this paper.

3.4. An overview of China's marine fisheries management system

To visualize the components of China's marine fisheries management system, as well as their relations and interactions, I sketched a map of the country's current marine fisheries management system, from national policies through operations on the water and underlying ecosystem, using the most widely available resources (Figure 3.1). Note that Figure 2.2 also showed several sections of this map concerning the organizational structure for management within the fisheries sector.



Acronyms: CAFS – China's Academy of Fishery Science; MARA - Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affair; FYP – Five-Year Plan for the National Economic and Social Development of the People's Republic of China; ADF - Administrative Department for Fisheries; MA – Management Approach; CFA-China Fisheries Association; CSF - China Society of Fisheries; NFTEC-National Fisheries Technology Extend Center; FRI-Fisheries Research Institute; NGO – Non-Government Organization

Figure 3.1. A system map of China's current fishery management system.

Like most jurisdictions in the world, China's marine fisheries management involves the policy and management community, the science community, and the industrial community. The players or components in these three communities are connected based on legal obligations, policy demand, and/or their natural attributes and hence form an intricate network.

In the following sections, I will diagnose the system using system thinking to identify and describe both important and missing links and feedback loops critical to the production and use of BAS in fisheries policy and decision-making. Before moving on to the diagnosis, I'll first highlight some key aspects of the system, even though some of this information was briefly mentioned before in Chapter 2. To begin, China's marine fisheries management highly relies on a top-down command-and-control system using input controls and technical measures (Su et al., 2020). This situation has been partly changed after China launched a new round of fisheries reforms in 2017 (Cao et al., 2017). The most relevant initiative is the introduction of Total Allowable Catch (TAC). Currently, China is implementing a single Total Catch Limit (TCL) for the overall marine fisheries and at the same time is also testing single-species-based TACs in some selected fisheries (Su et al., 2020; Tang & Zhao, 2020).

In terms of bureaucratic structure, China runs a hierarchical administration (Shen & Heino, 2014). From top to bottom, the administrative levels are national, provincial, municipal, and county. Horizontally, governments at various levels divide the management functions into different units according to the legislation and assign the administrative functions to different functional departments. The functional divisions are responsible for implementing management and accountable to the government to which they are subordinated at the same level. Vertically, governments at different levels administer their territories in a top-down manner: lower-level government is directed and supervised by higher-level units.

Marine fisheries management is governed by a series of laws that regulate activities related to the use of marine resources (Huang & Tang, 2019), among which the Fisheries Law is the basic law of fisheries management. At the same time, the management is guided by the Five-Year Plan for the National Fisheries Development of the People's Republic of China. The Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs (MARA), which is the National Administrative Department for fisheries (ADF) under the State Council, oversees fisheries affairs throughout the country. And there are other departments involving in marine fisheries administration, including the Ministry of Transportation (MOT), which is in charge of fishing vessel inspection, the Ministry of Ecology and Environment (MEE), which is responsible for marine conservation and pollution control, and the Ministry of Natural Resources (MNR), which is responsible for planning and managing the use of sea areas and rebuilding damaged ecosystems.

Within the policy and management community, fisheries management objectives, plans, measures, and regulations are mainly formulated by the national and provincial governments and their ADFs. MARA is responsible for drafting and proposing national fisheries management goals and policies, formulating specific fisheries development plans and management measures, and organizing scientific research and demonstrations on the reform and improvement of fisheries policies. Those policies that involve the functions of other departments of the State Council or the distribution of major interests and responsibilities (such as the allocation of "double control" indicators) require the approval of the State Council.

There are 11 provincial-level administrative regions along the coast of mainland China. Provincial fisheries policies are demonstrated and proposed by the provincial ADFs based on national fisheries policies, and then be reviewed and approved (or declined) by the provincial governments. Policies that involve the unified arrangement of the country are required to be submitted by the provincial government to MARA for review and approval. ADFs under the provincial level are responsible for implementing and enforcing fisheries management regulations within their jurisdictions.

Regarding the interaction between policy and science communities, policymakers usually appoint experts from various organizations for scientific inputs based on the expertise needs for the development of fisheries policies. Early knowledge accumulation is often used as a basis for selecting and nominating experts, which means that experts with extensive experience engaging in fisheries decision-making and demonstrating persuasive abilities, as well as experts who have made significant contributions and have a strong reputation in their research areas, are more likely to be chosen.

For those initiatives that require expertise in new areas, investigations and discussions will be conducted to select experts with matching capabilities for the scientific consultation. For example, the decision-making departments will first choose the widest possible selection of potential candidates based on experts' experience and expertise, as well as findings from literature review, and then convening candidates to participate in seminars to discuss the nominees. Another approach is that the ADFs will identify certain research topics and programs based on potential policy needs and recruit applicants from the general public as a reserve of expert nominees.

The experts being nominated for providing scientific consulting services are primarily from governments' in-house research institutions, including the Chinese Academy of Fishery Science (CAFS) and its branches (especially its regional FRIs), provincial fisheries research institutions (FRIs), and the National Fisheries Technology Extend Center (NFTEC) and its branches at local levels, as well as fisheriesrelated public universities and colleges. In addition to experts from governments' in-house institutions and public universities, several non-governmental organizations (NGOs) have signed a memorandum of cooperation with governments and may act as scientific advisors for the development of fisheries policies (Su et al., 2020).

Furthermore, the research-oriented societies including the Chinese Fisheries Society (CFS), and its branches involving different specific fields related to fisheries at various levels also play a role in providing scientific references for policymaking. The CFS, in particular, has been entrusted by MARA with compiling China's Fisheries Statistical Yearbooks (CFSYs). These research-oriented societies are composed of members from science and industrial communities, with some also having members from the management community; and they hold conferences and seminars for fisheries academic exchange both nationally and internationally on a regular or irregular basis, which, at the same time, offer platforms for the academic communication among multiple stakeholders.

In recent years, the increasing practices in establishing expert tanks have offered an additional contributor to the interactions between science, policy, and industrial communities in China's fisheries management. The expert tanks are MARA-led advisory committees (see Table 3.1) that were formed to conduct management-needs-oriented research, produce scientific advice for policymaking, and provide technical support for fisheries management implementation. These committees are hybrid organizations composed of senior government officials, senior scientists, senior employees from related state-owned enterprises, and sometimes fishers' representatives.

Table 3.1. A list of fisheries-related expert advisory committees.

Fisheries Expert Advisory Committee (FEAC)
National Marine Fisheries Resources Assessment Expert Committee (NCEMFRA)
Marine Ranch Construction Expert Advisory Committee (MRCEAC)
National Fishing Port Management Experts Committee (NFPMEC)
National Committee of Experts on Fishing Vessel Management (NCEFVM)
National Recreational Fisheries Expert Think-tank (NRFET)

As for the interactions between policy and industrial circles, the industry's responses on policy interventions, including fisheries data and the opinions of fisheries communities, are typically fed back to the policy and management community through a bottom-up process (Pan, 2015). Meanwhile, associations composed of industry representatives and their partners have long been critical in collecting and supplying fisheries data for management, as well as conducting research and providing consulting reports. In addition, co-management between local government and fisheries cooperatives is being implemented in some areas (Tang & Zhao, 2020).

There are additional ways for involving fishers and their partners in policymaking. First, the national and provincial ADFs can directly solicit their input on pertinent decisions through surveys, interviews, and hearings. Second, governments at all levels are required to initiate procedures for soliciting public opinion on proposed policies, and the public can submit comments and suggestions through specified channels, such as email. Additionally, scientists and industry may cooperate on research to inform policymaking; industry participation and insight into the research may eventually influence management decisions.

3.5. A diagnosis of China's marine fisheries management system

At a glance, the system map of China's marine fisheries management (Figure 3.1) shows that data from different components can all be passed through the current feedback loops to the system's primary fisheries policy- and decision-making bodies - MARA and provincial ADFs. That is, in principle, this system is capable of ensuring that fisheries policymakers collect usable data from all corners of the system for the purpose of crafting policies.

However, it is worthwhile to consider whether these existing feedback loops are productive and efficient in conveying available data; whether there are sufficient mechanisms or methods to ensure the collection and transformation of quantity- and quality-assured data; and, most importantly, whether there are legal mandates and consistent protocols that could ensure that the data are adequately considered and integrated into decisions. From another angle, it's worth analyzing whether the established connections are capable of ensuring or promoting trust among various components and communities, thereby contributing to the legitimacy of the scientific basis for policymaking.

Indeed, the ability of the existing feedback loops in the system to communicate accurate data varies significantly. It appears that a feedback loop with more components has a higher chance of data loss and inaccuracy, and that when two components are only weakly coupled, the extent of data exchange between them decreases. Some components of the system are loosely connected for a variety of reasons, including a lack of a clear legal mandate, a failure to resolve multi-party interests and disputes, the absence of collaboration plans, and insufficient capacity for implementation in terms of monitoring, supervision, and education, as we demonstrate in greater detail below. These frayed or even missing connections may intensify distrust and misunderstanding between the various components and communities, further eroding the already frayed connections.

3.5.1. Legal demand for science-based policymaking

Providing specific legislative requirements for science-based decision-making is crucial to ensuring the integration of science into the development of management measures (Su et al., 2021). China has enacted a number of laws and regulations governing marine fisheries management (Xue, 2005). Six of these legal documents include clauses referring to the use of science in fisheries-related decision-making. Table 3.2 presents the names of these documents and the most relevant statement(s). These statements involve several management approaches and four of them are mandated to be formulated and implemented by ADFs, including TACs, Fishing Quota System (FQS), Fishing Vessel, and Gear Index System (FVGIS), and Fishing Licensing System (FLS). Overall, the legislation stipulates that the creation of these approaches must be based on or consider the state of fisheries resources and the surrounding environment. TACs and the FQS, in particular, require stock assessments. However, TACs and the FQS were not implemented until 2017 and those legal statements relating to the FVGIS and the FLS were only added in 2018. Therefore, for those widely used management measures in China's marine fisheries management, the integration of science into policymaking was not required by legislation before 2017.

Table 3.2. The legislation mandating the use of science in fisheries policymaking in China's marine sector.

Name (Laws and regulations) and the corresponding description concerning "science" Fisheries Law

§22. The ADF of the State Council shall be responsible for organizing the investigation and assessment of fisheries resources and providing the scientific basis for the implementation of the Fishing Quota System.

Provisions of Administration of Fishing Licenses

§3. The state shall, according to the change of fisheries resources and the state of the environment, determine the control indexes for fishing vessels and gear, total fishing capacity, and the number of fishing licenses.

Action Outlines for Conservation of Aquatic Living Resources

Part III, §3.1. To establish and improve the fisheries resources investigation and assessment system, the quota allocation system, and the supervision and management system, distribute quota indicators fairly, justly, and openly, and actively explore effective mechanisms and approaches for quota transfer.

Part VI, §5. Increase scientific research investment in the conservation of aquatic resources, strengthen infrastructure building, integrate current scientific research and educational resources, and enhance their technological advantages.

Wildlife Conservation Law

§8. The national key protected wild animals list shall be formulated after scientific evaluation organized by the wildlife protection department of the State Council, and the list shall be adjusted according to the evaluation every five years.

Marine Environmental Protection Law

§6. The coastal local government shall use the sea areas scientifically and rationally according to the local marine functional zoning.

Nature Reserves Ordinance

§17. The environmental protection administrative department of the State Council shall, in conjunction with the relevant nature reserve administrative department of the State Council, formulate a national nature reserve development plan based on the investigation and evaluation of the national natural environment and natural resource status.

At present, although China's domestic legislative requirements indicate that the development of

certain fisheries management measures should be based on scientific information, the laws do not expressly

authorize BAS (i.e., best available scientific evidence or best available scientific information).

Regarding the legislative statements per se, they at the very least fail to reflect a significant attribute

of BAS on which fisheries decision-making should be based under SBFM, namely, inclusiveness (NRC,

2004). The legislative statements in Table 3.2 rarely address the consideration and use of alternative types

of data in addition to the evidence obtained by scientific study, such as local fisheries knowledge (Stead et

al., 2006; Stephenson et al., 2016). They also do not show much potential in dealing with issues concerning

data limitation and the trade-offs of different types of data offered by various stakeholders. At present, most

Chinese fisheries are data-poor or data-limited. This is one of the most serious issues confronting China's sustainable fisheries management. TACs, for example, were mandated by China's Fisheries Law in 2000 but never implemented due primarily to a lack of data (Tang & Tang, 2003), and they are still only tested in a few fisheries today in China. If legislation could mandate the consideration, evaluation, and integration of anecdotal information, including experiential, narrative, and local information in decision-making, it could contribute to timely decision-making and promote the implementation of certain management measures when available data is scarce or limited for satisfactory scientific research (NRC, 2004; Su et al., 2020).

Second, there is a misalignment between China's marine fisheries management objectives and its legislative requirements for science-based decisions. The existing legislative statements emphasize that the development of certain fisheries management measures should consider the state of natural resources, including wildlife and the aquatic environment, implying the need for natural science research while overlooking the need for social science research. China's 13th FYP, on the other hand, specifies the country's fisheries management objectives, which encompass social, economic, and biological aspects (Table 3.3). Natural science knowledge alone will not be sufficient to assist the development of fisheries management measures to achieve multi-dimensional objectives. To effectively manage the complex fisheries system under such multi-dimensional management objectives, a suitable combination of biological analyses with social and economic concerns is important (Heck et al., 2015; Stephenson et al., 2017; Charnley et al., 2017).

General objective	Mean objective (management measure)		
Conservation			
Effectively addressing overcapacity	Removing a certain number of fishing vessels and a certain amount of horsepower of the national marine fishing fleet (Double control system)		
Fishing production is less than the growth amount of fisheries resources	Controlling landings to a certain level (Total yield limit and Total allowable catch)		
Initially curbing the declining trend of fisheries resources Effectively protecting important fishing areas Gradually restoring ecological functions of key fishing grounds Making progress in protecting endangered aquatic wildlife and some economically important fish species	Establishing a certain number of a) National demonstrative marine ranching area; b) National Aquatic Germplasm Resources Reserve; c) National and provincial aquatic biological nature reserve		
Socio-economic			
Lifting out of poverty	Increasing per capita disposable income of fishers and farmers in poverty areas		
Improving income	Increasing per capita net income of fishers and farmers		
Expanding coverage of insurance	Increasing the coverage of insurance of fishery communities (including aquaculture)		
Improving safety	N/A		

Table 3.3. Management objectives of China's marine fisheries management in 2016 to 2020.

3.5.2. Linkage between fisheries policy and science communities

The key to a good system for integrating BAS in decision-making is to establish a clear boundary between those who use scientific advice (policymakers) and those who provide scientific advice (scientists) (Jasanoff, 1990; Rykiel, 2001). At the same time, well-designed mechanisms and methods should be in place to facilitate communication and collaboration between policymakers and scientists, ensuring mutual understanding and trust between the two parties (Briggs, 2006; Soomai, 2017).

These two criteria are theoretically met by China's institutional framework in the fishery sector. MARA and provincial ADFs in charge of fisheries policymaking entrust FRIs or universities with specific fisheries research, and methods are in place to enable their collaboration and communication. However, marine fisheries management in China involves not only the fishery sector but also other sectors in charge of marine resources, as aforementioned. The inadequacy of inter-departmental cooperation mechanisms has significantly hampered interaction between policymakers from the fishery sector and scientists from other related sectors. This will be explained later.

Another major concern about the connection between fisheries policy and science communities is that although scientists are consulted and their advice is passed on to policymakers, it is unclear whether and how the advice is considered and used in policymaking. The process's lack of transparency can be blamed, but the more underlying explanation is that there is a lack of statutory, unified, and explicit protocols in place to authorize and regulate the consultations. This problem can also be observed in the interaction between policymakers and other data providers such as industry associations. The lack of statutory unified protocols for considering and using available data in decision-making may lead to more subjective decisions that rely on the personal experiences and intentions of the policy- and decision-makers. This issue exists in many areas of management in China and was recognized by previous studies (Ren, 2018).

3.5.3. Connections within science communities

In China's highly top-down system, the marine fisheries across the country are treated as a single management unit when formulating national management strategies and measures (Su et al., 2020). By contrast, the fisheries research institutions focusing on different sea areas around China's mainland are only loosely linked in the map via surveys and research, and their collaboration affects only the resources but not management or industry. The links between the in-house research institutions of MARA and other departments are even weaker due to the disconnect between departments. The disconnections within the overall scientific enterprises limit the availability, sharing, and accessibility of fisheries data, and hinders interdisciplinary research (Haapasaari et al., 2012), which remains an enduring obstacle to the implementation of SBFM in China.

The direct driver for the low level of scientific collaboration in the realm of China's marine fisheries is the lack of mandatory scientific research cooperation programs for the purpose of providing the scientific basis for fisheries decision-making. Meanwhile, scientists' potential competition for financing, study topic selection, and personal career advancement impedes spontaneous collaboration between scientists or different scientific research institutions. The appointment procedure for scientific consultation in the decision-making process further stimulated this competition. Being appointed means that the ability and reputation of scientists are recognized by the political community and may be accompanied by some advantages such as in applying for research funding.

The initiative – the establishment of a series of advisory committees since 2017 – can partly solve the issues described above, at least in theory. The advisory committees have developed charters specifying the responsibilities of different groups of committee members (which are mainly scientists) and the ways of cooperation among the groups.

Taking NCEMFRA as an example, it was founded to be responsible for conducting stock assessments, generating suggested TACs for national marine fisheries, reviewing species-based TAC management plans, and providing technical guidance for fisheries resources surveys (MARA, 2019a). The committee's members are recommended by the organization to which they belong, with a five-year recruitment duration. The committee currently consists of 44 scientists, one MARA official, and one manager from China Agricultural Development Group Co., Ltd. (CADG), and the annual committee meeting is required. Scientists are from governmental scientific institutions affiliated with the fisheries department (N=33), universities and colleges related to marine fisheries (N=28), and other governmental scientific institutions outside of the fisheries system (N=3). They are divided into three groups to assess fisheries resources of the three Chinese sea areas and collaborate on developing proposed TACs for the national marine fishery. Members from MARA and CADG are responsible for reviewing the proposed TACs to ensure that TACs meet policy requirements and adapt to industry conditions (MARA, 2019a).

Therefore, a formal and regular process has been formed allowing scientists to collaborate and develop scientist advice for decision-making through a structured method. Scientists being recommended by their peers appears to be a more convincing approach than being nominated by decision-makers. Meanwhile, since they are from different institutions and different fields related to marine fisheries, the

connection within the overall marine science enterprise can be promoted, and this provides conditions for making fisheries decisions that consider the ecosystem (Ramirez-Monsalve et al., 2016). Furthermore, the review conducted by the members from MARA and the fishing industry increases the relevance and legitimacy of the scientific advice (Cash et al., 2002), as well as facilitating direct conversation among stakeholders from the three communities, namely science, policy, and industry.

Despite these improvements, the committees are still in the early stages of development. Some important criteria concerning the production of scientific research results in SBFM remain absent, including a detailed and comprehensive collaboration research plan, independent scientific review process, and rules to address uncertainties and divergences (Su et al., 2021). Furthermore, according to the NCEMFRA regulations, only the responsibility of producing and reviewing scientific advice within the committee is explained, whereas it is still unclear how the scientific advice provided by the committee is used by policymakers. Mandatory and consistent protocols for integrating scientific advice into decision-making are still absent.

3.5.4. Linkage between fisheries department and the industry

Different levels of fisheries agencies in the fisheries unit transmit information through a feedback loop of "commands" from top to bottom and "reporting and feedback" from bottom to top (see Figure 3.1) (Liu et al., 2009). However, some scholars pointed out that the quantitative fisheries data collected at the grassroots level may be tampered with for political purposes in the process of upward transmission (Gao, 2005; Sun & Huang, 2009). This issue may have been avoided if a method for cross-verifying data from various sources had been established. However, China has not yet developed such a method, and it appears that the quantitative data obtained from different sources at present have their own set of limitations, which we will discuss in section 3.5.6.

In the shortage of quantitative data that can reliably characterize industry behavior, qualitative data, such as industry and partner views and comments on policies, become increasingly relevant (Lipsman, 2019). The interactions between grassroots managers and the industry are the main means to bring industrial perspectives into the policy and management community in China. For example, when revising the rules of Summer Fishing Moratorium (SFM), ADFs at the coastal city and county level collected opinions and suggestions from local fisheries communities on the revised rules through various methods, including public hearings, and reported the feedback to the higher-level government. However, this could also be hindered by inefficient bureaucracy and inadequate transparency (Mol & Carter, 2006). For example, Xiao and Bai (2019) complained that the comments of the local fisheries communities in Zhanjiang City on modifying the SFM regulations to fit local features had not been adopted by the higher-level government after being reported many times by the local government (Xiao & Bai, 2019). Moreover, the top-down command and control regime leads to local policies that are destined to be highly aligned with national policies, which may reduce the motivation of grassroots fisheries agencies and the fisheries industry to participate in policymaking due to the limited negotiation space (Pan, 2015).

The industry's opinions and suggestions can also be directly passed on to the national and provincial ADFs through other channels that were described earlier in section 3. Among these channels, industry representatives participating in the advisory committees could secure two-way information exchange between the representatives and policymakers under a structured method. Other approaches, such as fishers engaging in policymaker-organized surveys and opinion consultation sessions, are more one-way information delivery, and the degree to which the information is considered by policymakers and incorporated into decisions is unclear due to missing explanations (Pan, 2015).

Another feedback loop contributing to the policy-industry interface relies on the implementation of co-management. The co-management approach benefits the implementation of SBFM in many ways, including its potential capabilities in facilitating the integration of local fisheries knowledge into decision-making, promoting the localization of fisheries management, and improving compliance (Bremer & Glavovic, 2013). In China, this approach has been used in some TAC pilot fisheries (Tang & Zhao, 2020). However, the widespread usage is hampered by the lack of cohesive community organization (Su et al., 2020). China's vast marine fishing communities - with over 5.5 million fishers engaged - appear largely unstructured; in particular in small-scale fisheries, most fishing activities are operated based on household

(Chen & Tang, 2014). However, thanks to China's recent efforts to empower fishing communities, more extensive use of co-management is anticipated: the MARA agenda has placed a strong focus on promoting the formation of local fisheries cooperatives and their engagement in management since 2017 (MOA, 2017). Fishers engaging in marine fisheries are now mandated to join a fisheries organization according to the revised Provisions of Administration of Fishing Licenses (PAFL) enacted in 2019 (§11, China, PAFL).

3.5.5. Inter-departmental information transfer

By design, the responsibilities regarding fisheries management and marine conservation are divided and hold by the MARA and other departments including MOT, MEE, and MNR. Collaboration between these departments is important in not only science-based decision-making but also in implementation and enforcement. However, compared with the strengths of vertical communication and coordination within an individual department, the horizontal interactions between departments are relatively loose in China. This is due to various reasons, among which the widely recognized ones are the issues related to departmentalism (Linden, 1994) and lacking inter-department collaboration mechanisms (Xu, 2008; Liu, 2013, Fu, 2013).

In the marine fisheries sector, a data-sharing mechanism between departments is missing. MARA has limited access to data collected by other departments and even by their in-house scientific research institutions. Insufficient data sharing between departments on the one hand causes a waste of resources, on the other hand, it may lead to duplication of investment in monitoring and scientific research.

3.5.6. Databases serving as a vehicle for interactions

In addition to the institutional structure, databases serve as the vehicle to connect different communities (Su et al., 2021). In China, the Fisheries Statistical Yearbooks (CFSYs) providing fisheries production data serve as the primary resources for fisheries decision-making and scientific research (Gao, 2005). They involve 361 indicators including fishing production, economic output, the number and horsepower of fishing boats, and fishers' income. The corresponding data are collected through the National Fisheries Statistical Surveys (NFSS), which is conducted annually by fisheries agencies and statistical units to monitor the dynamic changes of the national fisheries industries (MARA & NBS, 2019). Data are

gathered by the grassroots agencies, reported from the bottom to the top, and are compiled and published in CFSYs (MARA & NBS, 2019).

Previous studies have criticized the CFSYs for their poor quality, blaming obsolete survey methodology, flawed data audit systems, insufficient data collection efforts, and insufficient interdepartmental collaboration (Guan & Yu, 2004; Gao, 2005; Sun & Huang, 2009; Wang & Yin, 2012; Pauly et al., 2014). Furthermore, it is suspected that the fisheries data provided by CFSYs may be manipulated by handlers for various reasons while being transmitted upwards (Gao, 2005). This concern can be addressed by comparing and confirming CFSYs with data acquired by other fisheries monitoring programs. Furthermore, at-sea monitoring of fishing activity and total catch could influence the performance of the processes that make up the fisheries management system significantly; they collect data on the spatial and temporal dimensions of effort and total catch, as well as the taxonomic and life stage composition of catch to facilitate the science underlying management decisions (Kritzer, 2020). However, China's at-sea fisheries monitoring is imperfect and lagging behind. The fishing logbook, which is the only fisheries monitoring method authorized by the Fisheries Law in China so far, has great uncertainties and limitations: the quality of data is poor due to low level of compliance (Sun & Huang, 2009); and the small-sized fishing vessels which currently account for 64% of China's marine fishing fleet have only been required to fill in the fishing logs since 2019 (§50, China, PAFL, 2019). Lack of reliable fisheries data can be the Achilles' heel of SBFM, especially in a highly top-down context like China, where policymakers at high levels can be misinformed and make incorrect conclusions.

Fortunately, enhancing data quality and limitation has been at the forefront of China's fisheries reform agenda since 2017 (MOA, 2017). Monitoring methods including e-logbook, dockside landing checking, hail-in, and hail-out reporting, product labeling, on-board observers, telephone interviews, Fishing Vessel Identification Management (FVIM), and Vessel Monitoring System (VMS) are now tested in selected areas or fisheries, especially in the fisheries piloting single species TAC-based management (Shandong ADF, 2019; Tang & Zhao, 2020).

Another drawback of CFSYs, China's primary database utilized for fisheries management, is a mismatch between the data composition they supply and the data needs of fisheries scientific research. Scientists complained about the limited usability of CFSYs in scientific research due to the inappropriately designed methods or missing survey indicators of the NFSS (Liu, 2011; Zhang et al., 2017). For example, Zhang et al. (2017) proposed that the surveys failed to provide fisheries production data required by traditional single-species-based stock assessment models. China's historical fisheries management has been heavily reliant on the top-down system using input controls but not stock-based. In this case, the CFSYs classify the production of the national marine fishing fleet by species categories (including finfish, shrimp and crab, shellfish, algae, and others), sea areas (including Bohai, Yellow Sea, East China Sea, and the South China Sea), and fishing gear types. The production data of some fish species with high economic value are in place but not being recorded by regions or places (MARA, 2019b). The lack of connection between the NFSS and scientific research might be the most relevant contributor to the data shortage in fisheries science research, especially stock assessment in China.

3.6. Discussion and Conclusion

China's marine fisheries management system is composed of a variety of elements embedded in the management and policy community, science community, and industrial community through a series of feedback loops. MARA and provincial ADFs are major policymakers in developing fisheries management strategies. Governmental fisheries research institutions and public universities play a major role in providing policymakers with scientific support. The fisheries industry also plays a role in decision-making via advisory committees and other relatively less structured methods. Overall, fisheries policymakers can obtain feedback from the fisheries science community and the industry through various exiting feedback loops. However, the system still has critical deficiencies that could hinder the production and use of BAS and the implementation of SBFM. Here, we conclude that the following points need to be improved:

We propose that the scope of application of such mandate should be extended to cover other fisheries management measures. Meanwhile, we believe that it is necessary for China to explicitly authorize

BAS-based fisheries decision-making through its domestic fisheries legislation, so as to be in line with the requirements of related international legal documents (such as UNCLOS). Even if it does not, to achieve a successful SBFM, China's current fisheries-related legislation should be improved to address the specific issue relating to the use of science. The critical questions that may be considered to be addressed by the legislation include what kinds of scientific information are required for the decision-making, how to address uncertainties and the trade-offs between information provided by different groups of stakeholders and in different dimensions, as well as how to use best available scientific information to make timely decisions. Inadequate legislative mandates for the use of science in decision-making may be the most important factor contributing to the paper's findings of loose relations between various players in the system.

We reiterate that it would be helpful for China to include clear legal requirements for socioeconomic evidence in addition to natural science as a decision-making basis, which will not only promote the consistency between legislation and its multi-dimensional management objectives but also promote cooperation among different disciplines and more systematic scientific advice for fisheries decision-making. In addition, adopting legal provisions to consider broader information beyond scientific research results in fisheries decision-making, while clarifying the priority of data from diverse sources for consideration, will facilitate timely and unbiased decisions.

Second, the connection between the many scientific institutions within the fisheries science community is insufficient, let alone the even more weakly related communities of fisheries science and other marine-resources-use science. The establishment of advisory committees may be able to assist alleviate this disconnect. However, incentives and mandatory scientific research cooperation plans aiming to inform fisheries decision-making are still required to stimulate collaboration and data-sharing within the overall scientific enterprise.

Thirdly, the inter-departmental collaboration mechanisms between MARA and other departments are absent. China's administrative regime is heavily reliant on vertical contact and collaboration between agencies within individual departments, however, the horizontal interaction between different departments is relatively weak. Disconnection between departments not only impedes data exchange, but also the implementation and supervision of fisheries management policies.

Last but not least, as for the current state of the system, the quality and amount of relevant fisheriesrelated data cannot be guaranteed, which results in poor availability and high uncertainty of the science underlying management decisions. Many factors contribute to this, including a lack of a data audit process, insufficient fisheries monitoring programs, limited enforcement capacity, and low compliance. The ultimate cause could be insufficient policy mandates for the production and use of BAS in policymaking.

Aside from a lack of data quality and quantity, it appears that the use of available data in fisheries research and decision-making is insufficient. This is owing to poor data sharing among organizations, as well as a misalignment between the design of the data collection method (NFSS) and the needs of scientific research (especially stock assessments). Standards and protocols for data collection, storage, and verification should be developed, and they must be defined in accordance with fisheries management objectives and research agendas (Su et al., 2021).

Despite the flaws discussed above, China has made great progress toward SBFM since 2017, when a new phase of fisheries reform was initiated. First, the establishment of a series of advisory committees has created a formal and stable framework for multidisciplinary stakeholders to participate and collaborate in decision-making, especially scientists from different organizations and disciplines. Furthermore, the single-species TAC pilot programs have aided in the production and use of BAS in a variety of ways by introducing multiple new fisheries monitoring programs and the co-management approach. In fact, in some of the TAC pilot programs, a more structured decision-making process with mechanisms allowing the integration of scientific information and the participation and collaboration of multiple stakeholders has been developed (Su et al., 2020). To step forward, China certainly needs more practical and proactive reforms in its legislation, institutional structure, decision-making process, and data collection, storage, and verification systems. We propose that the two best strategies could be to optimize the mechanisms related to the advisory committees and to improve and promote the TAC-based management model of single species at scale.

CHAPTER 4

MOVING TOWARDS SCIENCE-BASED FISHERIES MANAGEMENT: A PROPOSAL FOR FISHERIES REFORM

4.1. A summary of challenges, obstacles, and opportunities

In the study presented in Chapter 1, a comprehensive checklist for operating SBFM was developed, which lists a series of elements that enable or promote the production and use of BAS in fisheries management. The checklist was then used as a reference when evaluating China's marine fisheries management; challenges, obstacles, and opportunities to implement SBFM in China's marine sector have been identified and described through a study of China's historical marine fisheries management practices and an evaluation of China's current marine fisheries management system (Chapters 2, 3 and 4). A summary of the evaluation results is presented in Table 4.1. Note that some minor changes were made to the checklist to clarify the results. For example, I added adjectives describing the degree to some of the criteria. In the following sections, I will synthesize and wrap up the important disadvantages and advantages of China's fisheries management system for the implementation of SBFM, summarize the opportunities, and then propose suggestions for China to move towards a more successful SBFM.

Table 4.1. China's national marine fisheries management system's performance over SBFM criteria.

General	Yes or No	
Best available science-based fisheries management and conservation is required by law	No	
Institutional structure is well designed for ensuring science-policy interaction and the		
involvement and collaboration of multidisciplinary stakeholders		
Standards and mechanisms regarding data collection, storage, and verification, including the		
fisheries monitoring plan, should be developed and be in line with management objectives	No	
and the research plan		
Division of responsibilities is clear; responsibilities for making policies and conducting		
scientific research should be separated		
Process 1: Management objective-setting		
Objectives are measurable and time-bounded	Yes	
Objectives have performance indicators over biological, social, and economic dimensions	Yes	
Management unit and boundaries are identified and informed by the biological feature of the		
fish stock or ecosystem function		
Mechanisms for value-based debate among stakeholders are in place	Unknown	
Fisheries monitoring programs are used to evaluate whether the objective is being met	Yes	
Process 2. Scientific research process (data production)		
A research plan is developed based on management objectives	Unknown	
Data used to generate scientific advice are relevant to the specific fishery being managed	Yes	
External review of scientific advice based on user needs and other knowledge is conducted		
Scientific advice is produced through a well-established scientific research process with:		
a clear statement of objectives;	Unknown	
conceptual models for predicting and testing hypotheses under different scenarios;		
well-established protocols to collect data;		
rigorous statistical analysis and logical interpretation;		
clearly documented methods, results, and conclusions;		
independent peer review of research methods, results, and conclusions.		
Skilled and reputable scientists are nired to do research		
Limitation of data and knowledge gaps are acknowledged and documented		
Social science research, multidisciplinary and interdisciplinary research are conducted	Unknown	
Process 3 Development of management strategies (data uso)		
Process 5. Development of management strategies (data use)	No	
Rules for using the scientific information must account for divergences	No	
Approaches for communicating and understanding scientific advice and other knowledge are	INO	
Approaches for communicating and understanding scientific advice and other knowledge are	Yes	
Rules for using the scientific information must account for uncertainty	No	
Monitoring programs are in place to inform adaptive undating of management strategies	N0 Ves	
Performance of management strategies are evaluated and learned from accordingly	Unknown	
Decisions are recurrent	Ves	
Decisions are recurrent Process 4 Implementation (data inputs)		
Sufficient monitoring programs are in place to provide a means for supervision and collecting		
fisheries data		
Sufficient outreach programs and education courses for both managers and fishers should be		
in place	No	

4.1.1. Challenges and obstacles

Inadequate science-policy relations in decision-making may be a significant barrier to SBFM implementation in China. This was discovered during the review of China's historical fisheries management practices, and it was reinforced by the subsequent studies of China's current marine fisheries management system and the perspectives of stakeholders. The most compelling evidence for this conclusion is the lack of a statute, systematic, and routine protocols and mechanisms that allows for the processing, consideration, and integration of BAS during the development of management measures (Chapters 3). There are no consistent guidelines for defining BAS, dealing with divergences and complexities, or incorporating BAS into policies (Chapters 2 and 3). The decision-making process for objectives-setting was not investigated due to a lack of available material, while it is likely a higher-level process with less transparency and stakeholders' involvement than the policymaking process for specific management measures.

Regarding the institutional framework, although it has established various mechanisms that allow multiple players to provide their knowledge, data, and information to policymakers, it is unknown how their inputs are considered and used by policymakers in decision-making, let alone to say that the institutional framework per se is imperfect due to insufficient and missing connections set for certain players (or system components) that lead to insufficient collaboration and data exchange between different departments and organizations (Chapter 3).

Another evidence indicating the isolation of science and policy in China's marine fisheries management is that there is a lack of management-problem-oriented fisheries scientific research. No fisheries science research plan or report (except those established in the single-species TAC pilot programs) that aimed to support or advise the implementation of a specific fisheries management measure or to assess fisheries management success was found. Although such a plan or report may exist, the lack of transparency is self-evident. This can be linked to the finding in Chapter 3 that existing Chinese national fisheries management priorities fail to make clear demands (such as MSY) for directing scientific research.

Furthermore, China's capacity to conduct fisheries scientific research is constrained, owing to a lack of adequate fisheries data, technology, and talent, as well as a lack of collaboration between scientists from different organizations or disciplines (Chapter 3). Additionally, since China's fisheries management objectives are set for the national marine fisheries as a whole rather than by fishery, the serious mismatch between management and biological units makes fisheries scientific research far more difficult to provide useful advice for decision-making (Chapter 3).

A lack of availability of quality-assured fisheries data is another major impediment to China's SBFM (Chapters 2 and 3). The National Fisheries Statistical Survey (NFSS), which is China's primary tool for collecting fisheries-related data, is thought to be incapable of providing sufficient quality-assured data for scientific research and decision-making. The accuracy of data collected is questionable due to factors such as the contradiction between the comprehensive statistical survey approach and the limited survey capability, and the numerous potential issues that occur in the data reporting process (Chapters 2 and 3). The disconnection between the old NFSS design and the new policy and scientific research requirements further reduces the data's usability in scientific research and decision-making, especially in fisheries where single-species TACs are tested (Chapter 3). The fishing logbook, in addition to the NFSS, is another tool used in China to collect fisheries-dependent data. However, the data gathered are limited in scope - its application in small-sized fishing fleets was not mandated until 2019 - and could be less accurate due to poor compliance (Chapters 2 and 3). Additionally, the quality of fishery data (fishing vessel parameters) provided by the fishing vessel inspection department has also been questioned due to limited inspection capabilities and hidden fishing capabilities (Chapter 2). Worse, the IUU fishing further exacerbates the uncertainty of the data collection system and data collected via NFSS, fishing logbooks, vessel inspections are stored separately and are not used for cross-validation (Chapter 2 and 3).

Issues such as an insufficient fisheries monitoring and supervision system, a lack of legitimacy in fisheries decision-making processes, the contradiction between uniform national fisheries policies and local fisheries, and a low level of awareness within the fishing industry about the importance of science-based

fisheries management provide conditions or motivations for the fishing industry to fail to comply with regulations, which further exacerbate the unreliability of reported fisheries data (Chapters 2, and 3).

The above-mentioned issues can all hinder the implementation of SBFM in China, and there may be a causal relationship between them. One of the fundamental explanations for these issues can be the absence of a legal and specific mandate for BAS-based policymaking in China's domestic fisheries-related laws (Chapter 3). A specific legal requirement for BAS-based policymaking can provide the legislative basis and incentives for SBFM implementation and the data exchanges between the different processes and components that comprise the fishery system as a whole.

Last but not least, the conflict between the conservation of fisheries resources and the social security and welfare of fishing communities may weaken the effectiveness of China's implementation of SBFM. Despite the fact that China has prioritized conservation objectives in its national marine fisheries management agenda, concerns about social security, especially the livelihood security of small-scale fishing communities, will prevent grassroots managers from pursuing conservation goals. This problem has historically hampered the implementation of conservation practices in China's marine fisheries management in recent decades (Chapters 2).

4.1.2. Advantages and opportunities

There are advantages and opportunities that can benefit China's SBFM implementation, including the criteria in place (marked as Yes in Table 4.1) and the following points:

First, the transformed national environmental protection policy elevates the requirements for using science to assist in developing more environmentally stabilizable fisheries management measures and making more refined and quantitative decisions (Chapter 2). The growing policy demand made by China's central government for the establishment of decision-making processes that enable scientific demonstration and stakeholder participation is consistent with the SBFM principle (Chapter 3). Thus, with stronger political wills, China is reforming its fisheries institutions, and moving towards a more successful SBFM could be the reforming goal.

Second, multiple methods and channels are in place in China for fisheries policymakers to solicit inputs from and communicate with fisheries scientists for decision-making and a satisfactory relationship of mutual trust between fisheries policymakers and scientists is established (Chapter 3).

Third, a more robust fisheries data collection system will benefit from China's increased investment and efforts in improving its fisheries monitoring system. In the draft statute of Fisheries Law amendment published in 2019, more additional fisheries monitoring methods were mandated. In some places, early practices such as using an electronic logbook, dockside monitoring, hail-in and hail-out reporting, and designating landing ports are conducted accompanying the implementation of TACs (Chapter 3).

Fourth, the single-species TAC pilot programs, as the product of fisheries reform after 2016, provide enhanced circumstances for implementing SBFM locally: more structured fisheries decision-making processes with clear management objectives, specific scientific research plans, and closer partnerships between a broader range of stakeholders have been established; more robust data collection systems are developed with the introduction of multiple new fisheries monitoring methods; and, some of these programs have implemented co-management approaches (Chapters 2 and 3). These pilot programs provide a model of decentralization, localization, and collaboration of fisheries management in China's top-down regime, which enable the production of a better BAS by improving data limitation for scientific research and decision-making, increasing the relevance between science being used in decisions, the decisions per se, and the fisheries being managed, and enhancing the compliance of the industry.

Fifth, the newly established hybrid expert advisory committees provide an opportunity for the establishment of a statutorily mandated, structured, and routine fisheries decision-making process for the development of national management measures at large (Chapter 3). They provide formal platforms for collaboration among stakeholders from different circles, including policy and management, science, and the industry, which aids in promoting communication among stakeholders, addressing their divergences, and controlling uncertainties. More importantly, the establishment of these committees mandates cooperation between scientists from different institutions and different disciplines, which tightens the connections within the entire marine fisheries-related scientific enterprise.

4.2. Steps moving forward

In general, I suggest that China use the SBFM operating framework and the criteria checklist given in Chapter 1 to evaluate and reform its national marine fisheries management system. Here I am proposing suggestions on key reforms and approaches that should be taken into account.

1) Reform legal framework

I propose that China's domestic fisheries legislation provide a provision for BAS-based policymaking. At the least, the nature, type, and scope of the evidence that should be considered in developing fisheries management strategies, as well as the guidelines for the identification of "the best science" should be clarified. The legislation also should contain provisions explicitly created to enable collaboration and sharing of data between various marine fisheries agencies, organizations, and disciplines. Furthermore, management reference (MSY, MEY, OY, and etc.) guiding fisheries scientific research should be mandated.

2) Improve the fisheries data collection and verification system

First, I propose developing unified standards for collecting and storing fisheries data. Second, in terms of data collection methods, the NFSS should be reformed to align with policy and research needs, and more fisheries monitoring methods with greater coverage should be implemented. It is worthwhile to research to create the most cost-effective fisheries monitoring system. Third, as soon as possible, methods enable cross-validation of data obtained using various methods. This can be aided by electronically storing data. Given that the draft statute of revised Fisheries Law released in 2019 requires legality labeling of seafood, I propose that China develop a thorough fisheries traceability system that integrates the fishing, refining, and trading processes to further strengthen the fisheries data verification system.

3) Establish separate fisheries management regimes for small-scale fisheries and industrial fisheries

Given the distinction between small-scale and industrial fisheries, I propose that China create two separate management systems for fisheries that use small-scale fishing vessels (small-scale fisheries) and fisheries that use medium- and large-scale fishing vessels (industrial fisheries). The national and provincial

governments should devise management priorities, plans, and measures for these two fisheries, respectively. Doing this will promote the relevance between policies, scientific research, and the fisheries being managed, as well as enhance the involvement of local stakeholders in decision-making. The TAC pilot programs and the reformed fishing vessel management system have created favorable conditions for the establishment of the two different regimes (Chapter 2).

4) Establish structured methods for developing fisheries management strategies

I suggest that China establish structured decision-making methods for the development of management strategies, whether for industrial fisheries (at the national level) or for small-scale fisheries (at the provincial level). Clear and unified processes, procedures, and standards for data collection (fishery monitoring, statistics, and surveys), processing (scientific research process and independent peer-review), communication (stakeholder participation and external review), and use (rules to consider and incorporate multi-source data and to address uncertainties and divergences) should be established.

In the decision-making process, the distribution of roles should be clear. The already formed hybrid expert advisory committees, in particular, may play an important role in the national process (for commercial fisheries). Scientist groups are in charge of conducting scientific research, while other members (management circle representatives or fishing industry representatives) are in charge of external review. At the provincial level, I propose that each province's FRI be designated as the permanent body responsible for scientific research. Meanwhile, the government should empower and educate fisheries cooperatives to play a larger role, such as participating in external reviewing advice provided by FRIs. Furthermore, I propose to allow the scientists from the expert advisory committees and the provincial FRIs to cross-review (independent peer review) each other's research plan, results, and conclusion. In addition, the factors that trigger the decision-making process should be clarified, that is, under what circumstances should consider evaluating and updating management strategies.

5) Leverage the localized TAC pilot program to develop SBFM at large

Many favorable conditions for the implementation of SBFM are provided by the TACs pilot programs, including those relating to the decision-making process and fisheries monitoring, which are not

available or are lacking in China's national marine fisheries management system. As a result, I propose that China combine SBFM development with TAC pilot programs. In this case, China can use the SBFM operating framework described in Chapter 1 of this dissertation to review and reform the management framework of its current single-species TAC pilot programs, and then further improve the framework as the scope of TAC implementation expands.

I propose that the TAC pilots be extended in two ways simultaneously. The first is to develop TAC approaches for multi-species fisheries while keeping the pilot in a relatively limited sea area (i.e., coastal sea areas within provincial jurisdictions). Since provincial jurisdictional waters are targeted by small-sized fishing vessels involving in capturing multiple species. The other is to continue concentrating on a single species but to explore the TACs of economically important fish species with a wider distribution and migration range in offshore water managed by the national government. Regardless of the expansion of the dimension, the fisheries management framework should be improved with the goal of implementing SBFM, and the pilots will ultimately provide experience and lessen for building the SBFM framework nationwide.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Andrew, N. L., Béné, C., Hall, S. J., Allison, E. H., Heck, S., & Ratner, B. D. (2007). Diagnosis and management of small-scale fisheries in developing countries. Fish and Fisheries, 8(3), 227-240. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-2679.2007.00252.x
- Bian, X. D., Wan, R. J., Jin, X. S., (2018). Ichthyoplankton Succession and Assemblage Structure in the Bohai Sea During the Past 30 Years Since the 1980s. Advances in fishery science, 39(02):1-15. doi: 10.19663/j.issn2095-9869.20170911001 (In Chinese)
- Bisbal, G. A. (2002). The best available science for the management of anadromous salmonids in the Columbia River Basin. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 59(12), 1952-1959.
- Blomeyer, R., I. Goulding, D. Pauly, A. Sanz, and K. Stobberup. (2012). The role of China in world fisheries. Directorate-General for Internal Policies. Policy Department B: Structural and Cohesion Policies. European Parliament, 102 pp. doi: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/meetdocs/2009_2014/documents/pech/dv/chi/china.pdf
- NRC (National Research Council). (2004). Improving the Use of the "Best Scientific Information Available" Standard in Fisheries Management. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/11045..
- Bonney, R., Cooper, C. B., Dickinson, J., Kelling, S., Phillips, T., Rosenberg, K. V., & Shirk, J. (2009). Citizen science: a developing tool for expanding science knowledge and scientific literacy. BioScience, 59(11), 977-984. doi: 10.1525/bio.2009.59.11.9
- Bradshaw, G. A., & Borchers, J. G. (2000). Uncertainty as information: narrowing the science-policy gap. Conservation ecology, 4(1). doi: https://www.jstor.org/stable/26271749
- Bremer, S., & Glavovic, B. (2013). Exploring the science–policy interface for Integrated Coastal Management in New Zealand. Ocean & coastal management, 84, 107-118.
- Buszynski, L. (2012). The South China Sea: oil, maritime claims, and US-China strategic rivalry. The Washington Quarterly, 35(2), 139-156. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/0163660X.2012.666495
- Cao, L., Chen, Y., Dong, S. L., Hanson, A., Huang, B., Leadbitter, D., ..., Naylor, R. L. (2017). Opportunities for Marine Fisheries Reform in China. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114(3): 435-442. doi: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1616583114
Cash, D., Clark, W. C., Alcock, F., Dickson, N. M., Eckley, N., & Jäger, J. (2002). Salience, credibility, legitimacy and boundaries: Linking research, assessment and decision making. Cambridge, MA: John F. Kennedy School of Govt., Harvard University, Faculty Working Paper RWP02-046.https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.372280

Charles, A. T. 2001. Sustainable Fishery Systems. Blackwell Science, Oxford, United Kingdom.

- Charnley, S., Carothers, C., Satterfield, T., Levine, A., Poe, M. R., Norman, K., ... & Basurto, X. (2017). Evaluating the best available social science for natural resource management decisionmaking. Environmental Science & Policy, 73, 80-88. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2017.04.002
- Chen, Y. (2003). Quality of fisheries data and uncertainty in stock assessment. Scientia Marina 67:75-87. doi: https://doi.org/10.3989/scimar.2003.67s175
- Chen, Y. Y, & Tang, Y. (2013). Small-scale fisheries and management. Journal of Shanghai Ocean University. 22(5), 749-754. doi: http://www.cqvip.com/qk/90212a/201305/47288088.html (In Chinese)
- Chen, Y. Y., & Tang, Y. (2014). Study on co-management of China's small-scale fisheries based on fishers' organization, Guangdong Agricultural Science, 18(6): 221-226. doi: http://www.cnki.com.cn/Article/CJFDTotal-GDNY201406054.htm (In Chinese)
- Chen, Y., Chen, L., & Stergiou, K. I. (2003). Impacts of data quantity on fisheries stock assessment. Aquatic Sciences, 65(1), 92-98. doi: 10.1007/s000270300008
- Chen, Z. Q. (2009). Research on China fishery professional cooperative economic organization. Doctoral thesis. Ocean University of China. doi: http://cdmd.cnki.com.cn/Article/CDMD-10423-2009171331.htm (In Chinese)

China. Provisions of Administration of Fishing Licenses. (In Chinese)

- Christie, P., Fluharty, D. L., White, A. T., Eisma-Osorio, L., & Jatulan, W. (2007). Assessing the feasibility of ecosystem-based fisheries management in tropical contexts. Marine Policy, 31(3), 239-250. doi: 10.1016/j.marpol.2006.08.001
- Christy, F. T. (1982). Territorial use rights in marine fisheries: definitions and conditions (No. 227). Food & Agriculture Org.

- Cochrane. K. L. (2002). A fishery manager's guidebook: Management measures and their application: Fisheries management. Food & Agriculture Org..
- Conroy, M. J., & Peterson, J. T. (2013). Decision making in natural resource management: a structured, adaptive approach. John Wiley & Sons.
- Cooke, S. J., Wesch, S., Donaldson, L. A., Wilson, A. D., & Haddaway, N. R. (2017). A call for evidence-based conservation and management of fisheries and aquatic resources. Fisheries, 42(3), 143-149. doi: 10.1080/03632415.2017.1276343
- Cui, L.F. & S. L. Huang (2015). Selection of international fisheries treaties and documents. Beijing: China Ocean Press.
- Cullen, P. (1990). The turbulent boundary between water science and water management. Freshwater Biology 24, 201–209. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.1990.tb00319.x
- Dankel, D. J., Stange, K., & Nielsen, K. N. (2016). What hat are you wearing? On the multiple roles of fishery scientists in the ICES community. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 73(2), 209-216.
- De Santo, E. M. (2010). 'Whose science?' Precaution and power-play in European marine environmental decision-making. Marine Policy, 34(3), 414-420. doi: 10.1016/j.marpol.2009.09.004
- Degnbol, P., & McCay, B. J. (2007). Unintended and perverse consequences of ignoring linkages in fisheries systems. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 64(4), 793-797. doi: 10.1093/icesjms/fsm040
- Dietz, T., and P. C. Stern. 1998. Science, values and biodiversity. BioScience 48:441–4. doi: 10.2307/1313241
- Domínguez-Tejo, E., & Metternicht, G. (2018). Poorly-designed goals and objectives in resource management plans: Assessing their impact for an Ecosystem-Based Approach to Marine Spatial Planning. Marine Policy, 88, 122-131. doi: 10.1016/j.marpol.2017.11.013
- Doremus, H. (2004). The purposes, effects, and future of the Endangered Species Act's best available science mandate. Envtl. L., 34, 397. Doi: https://ssrn.com/abstract=524223
- Du, J. G., Ye, G. Q., Chen, B., & Zheng, X. Q. (2014). Changes in the marine trophic index of Chinese marine area, Biodiversity Sciences, 22(4):532-538. doi: 10.3724/SP.J.1003.2014.13200

- Esch, B. E., Waltz, A. E., Wasserman, T. N., & Kalies, E. L. (2018). Using best available science information: Determining best and available. Journal of Forestry, 116(5), 473-480. doi: 10.1093/jofore/fvy037
- EU (2013). Regulation No 1380/2013 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL. Retrieved from http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2013/1380/oj
- Failing, L., Gregory, R., & Higgins, P. (2013). Science, uncertainty, and values in ecological restoration: a case study in structured decision-making and adaptive management. Restoration Ecology, 21(4), 422-430. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-100X.2012.00919.x
- FAO. (2018). The state of the world fisheries and aquaculture. Rome. doi: http://www.fao.org/state-of-fisheries-aquaculture
- FAO. (2020). The state of world fisheries and aquaculture. Rome: FAO.
- Ferraro, G., & Brans, M. (2012, February). Trade-offs between environmental protection and economic development in China's fisheries policy: A political analysis on the adoption and implementation of the Fisheries Law 2000. In Natural Resources Forum (Vol. 36, No. 1, pp. 38-49). Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing Ltd. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-8947.2012.01443.x
- Fritz, J. S. (2010). Towards a "new form of governance" in science-policy relations in the European maritime policy. Marine Policy 34 (1):1–6. doi: doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2009.04.001
- Fu, X. M., Mei, Q., Wang, Y. D., Wang, N. (2018). The status and safety degree assessment of marine biodiversity in Qingdao offshore area. Marine Environmental Science, 37(1): 21-27. doi: http://html.rhhz.net/HYHJKX/html/20180104.htm (In Chinese)
- Fu, Y.F. (2013). The analysis on the participation mechanism of government's public decision-making in our Country-based on the regional element as study variable. Chinese Public Administration. 334(3), 35-39. Doi: 10.3782/j.issn.1006-0863. (In Chinese)
- Fulton, E. A., Smith, A. D., Smith, D. C., & van Putten, I. E. (2011). Human behaviour: the key source of uncertainty in fisheries management. Fish and fisheries, 12(1), 2-17. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-2979.2010.00371.x
- Galland, G. R., Nickson, A. E., Hopkins, R., & Miller, S. K. (2018). On the importance of clarity in scientific advice for fisheries management. Marine Policy, 87, 250-254. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.10.029

- Gao, H. Q. (2005) The accuracy of fisheries statistics in recent 20 years. China's Fisheries Economy. 2, 30-31. DOI: http://www.cqvip.com/qk/97311b/200502/15535276.html (In Chinese)
- Gao, M. & Gao, J. (2008). Study on the optimization of China's Marine fisheries management system. Pacific Journal, 2:81-85. doi: http://www.cnki.com.cn/Article/CJFDTotal-TPYX200802013.htm (In Chinese)
- Garcia, S. M. (2005). Fishery science and decision-making: dire straights to sustainability. Bulletin of Marine Science, 76(2), 171-196. doi: https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/umrsmas/bullmar/2005/00000076/0000002/art00002
- Garcia, S. M. (2008). Fisheries assessment and decision-making: towards an integrated advisory process. The ecosystem approach to fisheries. CABI, Wallingford, UK and Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (pp:158-196). Rome.Glaser, M., & Glaeser, B. (2014). Towards a framework for cross-scale and multi-level analysis of coastal and marine social-ecological systems dynamics. Regional Environmental Change, 14(6), 2039-2052. doi: 10.1007/s10113-014-0637-5
- Gleick, P. H., Adams, R. M., Amasino, R. M., Anders, E., Anderson, D. J., et al. (2010). Climate change and the integrity of science. Science 328, 689–690. doi: 10.1126/science.328.5979.689
- Godfray, H. C. J., Crute, I. R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J. F., Nisbett, N., ... & Whiteley, R. (2010). The future of the global food system. Biological sciences. 365(1554). 2769-2777. doi: https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0180
- GOSS (General Office of the State Council) (2004). Implementation outlines for comprehensive promotion of law-based administration. (In Chinese)
- GOSS (General Office of the State Council) (2015). Implementation outlines for building a government ruled by law. (In Chinese)
- GOSS (General Office of the State Council) (2020). Implementation Outline for the Establishment of a Rule of Law-Based Society. (In Chinese)
- Gray, S., Shwom, R., & Jordan, R. (2012). Understanding factors that influence stakeholder trust of natural resource science and institutions. Environmental management, 49(3), 663-674. doi: 10.1007/s00267-011-9800-7

- Gregory, R., and G. Long. 2009. Using structured decision making to help implement a precautionary approach to endangered species management. Risk Analysis 29(4):518–532. doi: 10.1111/j.1539-6924.2008.01182.x.
- Guan, S. F., & Yu, X. Y. (2004). Discussion on the reform of fisheries statistical system. Jiangxi Aquatic Technology, (04), 6-11. doi: http://www.cqvip.com/qk/98130x/200404/15829139.html (In Chinese)
- Guo, W. L., & Huang, S. L. (2001). Discussion on problems and countermeasures of controlling the fishing intensity of Chinese marine fisheries. Journal of Shanghai Ocean University. 02, 132-139. doi: http://www.cqvip.com/qk/90212x/200102/5390781.html (In Chinese)
- Guston, D. H. (2001). Boundary organizations in environmental policy and science: an introduction. doi: 10.1177/016224390102600401
- Hernandez, A., & Kempton, W. (2003). Changes in fisheries management in Mexico: effects of increasing scientific input and public participation. Ocean & Coastal Management, 46(6-7), 507-526. doi: 10.1016/S0964-5691(03)00032-2
- Hessels, L. K., & Van Lente, H. (2008). Re-thinking new knowledge production: A literature review and a research agenda. Research policy, 37(4), 740-760. doi: 10.1016/j.respol.2008.01.008Hilborn, R. (2007). Defining success in fisheries and conflicts in objectives. Marine Policy, 31(2), 153-158. doi: 10.1016/j.marpol.2006.05.014
- Hipel, K. W., Obeidi, A., Fang, L., & Kilgour, D. M. (2008). Adaptive systems thinking in integrated water resources management with insights into conflicts over water exports. INFOR: Information Systems and Operational Research, 46(1), 51-69. doi: 10.3138/infor.46.1.51
- Hu, J. P. (2007). Exploration on the standardization construction of fishers' cooperatives in Putuo district, Zhoushan city. Chinese fishery economy, 4, 65-66. doi: http://www.cnki.com.cn/Article/CJFDTotal-ZYJJ200704023.htm (In Chinese)
- Hu, Z. X., & Xue, G. F. (2003). Study on China's Fisheries Legislation and Fishery Rights System (Doctoral dissertation). doi: http://www.cqvip.com/qk/96862a/200301/7328846.html (In Chinese)
- Hua, X., C. (2005). Basis for administrative enforcement: pre-control and post-review. Policy and law. 06, 67-73. doi: 10.15984/j.cnki.1005-9512.2005.06.012 (In Chinese)
- Huang, S. L., & Tang, Y. (2010). Fisheries regulations and fisheries administration. Beijing, China Agriculture Publishing House. (In Chinese)

- Huang, S. L., & Tang, Y. (2019). Review and prospect of theories of fisheries management and China's practice. Journal of Fisheries of China, 2019, 43(1): 211-231. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.11964/jfc.20181011512 (In Chinese)
- Huang, S. L., & He, Y. R. (2019). Management of China's capture fisheries: Review and prospect. Aquaculture and Fisheries. doi: http://doi.org/10.1016/j.aaf.2019.05.004
- ICES (International Council for the Exploration of the Seas). (2017). ICES Metadata Catalogue. http://gis.ices.dk/geonetwork/srv/eng/catalog.search?node=srv#/home.
- ICES, C. (2000). Report of the Working Group on Fishery Systems. doi: http://www.ices.dk/sites/pub/Publication%20Reports/Expert%20Group%20Report/rmc/2000/wgfs /WGFS00.pdf
- ICSP13 (2018). Report of the thirteenth round of Informal Consultations of States Parties to the Agreement for the Implementation of the Provisions of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982 relating to the Conservation and Management of Straddling Fish Stocks and Highly Migratory Fish Stocks, New York. doi: https://www.un.org/Depts/los/convention_agreements/ICSP13/ICSP13_final_report.pdf
- Irwin, B. J., Wilberg, M. J., Jones, M. L., & Bence, J. R. (2011). Applying structured decision making to recreational fisheries management. Fisheries, 36(3), 113-122. doi: 10.1080/03632415.2011.10389083
- Jasanoff, S. (1990). The fifth branch: Science advisers as policymakers (1990th ed., p. 302). Harvard University Press.
- Jasanoff, S. (1996). Beyond epistemology: relativism and engagement in the politics of science. Social studies of science, 26(2), 393-418. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/030631296026002008
- Jentoft, S., McCay, B. J., & Wilson, D. C. (1998). Social theory and fisheries co-management. Marine Policy, 22(4-5), 423-436. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-597X(97)00040-7
- Jiao, N. Z., Chen, D. K., Luo, Y. M., Huang, X. P., Zhang, R., Zhang, H. B., ... & Zhang, F. (2015). Climate change and anthropogenic impacts on marine ecosystems and countermeasures in China. Advances in Climate Change Research, 6(2), 118-125. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.accre.2015.09.010

- Karl, H. A., Susskind, L. E., & Wallace, K. H. (2007). A dialogue, not a diatribe: effective integration of science and policy through joint fact finding. Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development, 49(1), 20-34. doi: 10.3200/ENVT.49.1.20-34
- Karr, K. A., Fujita, R., Carcamo, R., Epstein, L., Foley, J. R., Fraire-Cervantes, J. A., ... & Weaver, A. H. (2017). Integrating science-based co-management, partnerships, participatory processes and stewardship incentives to improve the performance of small-scale fisheries. Frontiers in Marine Science, 4, 345. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2017.00345
- Kritzer, J. P. (2020). Influences of at-sea fishery monitoring on science, management, and fleet dynamics. Aquaculture and Fisheries. doi: 10.1016/j.aaf.2019.11.005
- Kroodsma, D. A., Mayorga, J., Hochberg, T., Miller, N. A., Boerder, K., Ferretti, F., ... & Woods, P. (2018). Tracking the global footprint of fisheries. Science, 359(6378), 904-908. doi: 10.1126/science.aao5646
- Li, B., Jin, X., M., Yang, J., Han, Z., L & Su., F. (2019). Spatio-temporal evolution and influencing factors for marine fishing industry ecosystem vulnerability in China. Acta Ecologica Sinica, 39(12); 4273-4283. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11769-019-1076-5
- Li, J., X. (2017). Study on the evolution and cultivation of marine fishery economic organization in China. Marine Sciences, 41(06), 119-125. doi:10.11759/hykx20170419003 (In Chinese)
- Lin, L. S., Chen, J. H., Lin, J. Z. (2007). Analysis on recent status of the bottom trawl fishery resources in the East China Sea region. Marine Fisheries. 04:371-374. doi: 10.13233/j.cnki.mar.fish.2007.04.016 (In Chinses)
- Linden, R. M. (1994). Seamless government: A practical guide to re-engineering in the public sector. Jossey-Bass.
- Lindenmayer, D. B., & Likens, G. E. (2010). The science and application of ecological monitoring. Biological conservation, 143(6), 1317-1328. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2010.02.013
- Link, J. S., Bundy, A., Overholtz, W. J., Shackell, N., Manderson, J., Duplisea, D., ... & Friedland, K. D. (2011). Ecosystem-based fisheries management in the Northwest Atlantic. Fish and Fisheries, 12(2), 152-170. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-2979.2011.00411.x
- Lipsman, J. E. (2019). Local knowledge and democracy in fisheries management: a case study of adaptation to the Anthropocene in southeast Louisiana. Ecology and society, 24(4).

- Liu, F.& Tao, J., P. (2016). Risk perception, risk resistance and agricultural insurance demand -- an empirical study based on dynamic panel of 31 provinces in China. Agriculture technology and economy. 9, 92-103. doi: http://www.cqvip.com/qk/90329x/201609/670271296.html (In Chinese)
- Liu, H. (2018). Institutional reform for better governance. China Daily. Retrieved from http://global.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201803/15/WS5aa9a7e1a3106e7dcc141b27.html
- Liu, J. Y. (2013). Status of Marine Biodiversity of the China Seas. PLoS ONE, 8(1):1-24. doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0050719
- Liu, J., & Diamond, J. (2005). China's environment in a globalizing world. Nature, 435(7046), 1179. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/4351179a
- Liu, T., & Ping, Y. (2010). Thinking and Policy Analysis of policy-based Fishery Insurance Model in China-A Case Study in Medium and Small Sized Fisher. Jiangsu agricultural science. 2,405-407. doi: https://www.xueshu.com/jsnykx/201002/12639188.html (In Chinese)
- Liu, X, S., Bai, X. Q., & Liu, Y. (2009). Fisheries Administration in China. Chinese Fisheries Economics, 27 (2): 5-10. DOI: https://www.cnki.com.cn/Article/CJFDTotal-ZYJJ200902002.htm (In Chinese)
- Liu, X. B. (2011). International challenge of fisheries statistics faced in China. China's fisheries, 9. doi. https://www.cnki.com.cn/Article/CJFDTotal-SICA201109009.htm (In Chinese)
- Liu, X. P. (2013). A logical study on the cooperation between government departments. Doctoral dissertation, Fudan University. (In Chinese)
- Lu, Y., Jenkins, A., Ferrier, R. C., Bailey, M., Gordon, I. J., Song, S., ... & Feng, Z. (2015). Addressing China's grand challenge of achieving food security while ensuring environmental sustainability. Science Advances, 1(1), e1400039. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1400039
- Lubchenco, J., & Grorud-Colvert, K. (2015). Making waves: The science and politics of ocean protection. Science, 350(6259), 382-383. doi: https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad5443
- Ma, C., Zhang, X., Chen, W., Zhang, G., Duan, H., Ju, M., ... & Yang, Z. (2013). China's special marine protected area policy: trade-off between economic development and marine conservation. Ocean & coastal management, 76, 1-11. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2013.02.007

- MacDonald, B. H., & Soomai, S. S. (2019). Environmental Research and Knowledge Production Within Governmental Organizations. In Research Outside The Academy (pp. 21-50). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.
- Mallory, T. G. (2016). Fisheries subsidies in China: Quantitative and qualitative assessment of policy coherence and effectiveness. Marine Policy, 68, 74-82. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2016.01.028
- MARA & NBS (National Bureau of Statistics) (2019). Opinion regarding further strengthening fisheries statistics (Nongyu Fa [2019] No. 9). (In Chinese)

MARA (2019a). Notice on the issuance of the Constitution of the National Marine Fisheries Resources Assessment Expert Committee. Retrieved from http://www.moa.gov.cn/gk/tzgg_1/tfw/201912/t20191231_6334140.htm. (Accessed 25 February 2021. (In Chinese)

MARA (2019b). China's Fisheries statistical yearbook 2019. (In Chinese)

MARA. (2018). Letter from the General Office of the MARA on the approval Construction of a test base for comprehensive management reform of national fishing vessels in Taizhou City, Zhejiang Province. Retrieved from http://www.moa.gov.cn/govpublic/YYJ/201804/t20180403 6139550.htm (In Chinese)

- MARA. (2019). Notice of the General Office of the MARA on Printing and Distributing the Main Points of Fisheries management in 2019. Retrieved from http://www.moa.gov.cn/ztzl/2019gzzd/sjgzyd/201903/t20190315_6176673.htm (In Chinese)
- Martin, K. S., McCay, B. J., Murray, G. D., Johnson, T. R., & Oles, B. (2007). Communities, knowledge and fisheries of the future. International Journal of Global Environmental Issues, 7(2-3), 221-239. doi: 10.1504/IJGENVI.2007.013575
- McGuire, C. J., & Harris, B. P. (2011). Systems Thinking Applied to US Federal Fisheries Management. Nat. Resources & Env't, 26, 3. Retrieved from https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein.journals/nre26&div=46&id=&page=

Meadows, D. H. (2008). Thinking in systems: A primer. chelsea green publishing.

Merton, RK 1996. The ethos of science. In On social structure and science, ed. P. Sztompka. (pp. 267–276). Chicago, Ill and London: University of Chicago Press.

Miles, M.B., Huberman, A.M., 1984. Qualitative Data Analysis. Sage, Newbury Park.

- Mills, D. J., Westlund, L., de Graaf, G., Kura, Y., Willman, R., & Kelleher, K. (2011). Under-reported and undervalued: small-scale fisheries in the developing world. In R. S. Pomeroy & N. A. Andrew (Eds). Small-scale fisheries management: frameworks and approaches for the developing world (pp:1-15). CABI.
- MOA. (2003). Notice on the issuance of "opinions on the implementation of the marine fishing vessel control system 2003-2010". Retrieved from http://jiuban.moa.gov.cn/zwllm/tzgg/tz/200311/t20031128_141542.htm (In Chinese)
- MOA. (2006). The 11th Five-Year Plan (2006-2010) for National Fisheries Development of China. Retrieved from http://jiuban.moa.gov.cn/zwllm/ghjh/200612/t20061204_733031.htm (In Chinese)
- MOA. (2016). The 13th Five-Year Plan (2016-2020) for National Fisheries Development of China. Retrieved from http://www.gov.cn/xinwen/2017-01/08/content_5157624.htm (In Chinese)
- MOA. (2017). The Notice of the MOA on further strengthening domestic fishing vessel management and implementing the system for managing total marine fisheries resources. Retrieved from http://www.moa.gov.cn/nybgb/2017/derq/201712/t20171227_6130861.htm (In Chinese)
- MOA. (2017). Notice on Establishment of Fisheries Expert Advisory Committee. http://www.yyj.moa.gov.cn/tzgg/201703/t20170330_6300727.htm (In Chinese) (Accessed 1 June 2020). (In Chinese)

MOA.(1989). 40 years of China's fisheries statistics. China Agriculture Press. Beijing. (In Chinese)

- MOF & MOA. (2003). Notice on the issuance of the interim provisions on the administration of the use of special funds for fishers' resettlement in marine sector. Retrieved from http://www.mofcom.gov.cn/article/bh/200301/20030100063689.shtml (In Chinese)
- Mol, A. P., & Carter, N. T. (2006). China's environmental governance in transition. Environmental politics, 15(02), 149-170.
- Msomphora, M. R. (2016). The role of science in fisheries management in Europe: from Mode 1 to Mode 2. Maritime Studies, 15(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40152-016-0042-4

- Mu, Y., Yu, H., Chen, J., & Zhu, Y. (2007). A qualitative appraisal of China's efforts in fishing capacity management. Journal of Ocean University of China, 6(1), 1-11. doi: 10.1007/s11802-007-0001-1
- Murphy, D. D., & Weiland, P. S. (2016). Guidance on the use of best available science under the US Endangered Species Act. Environmental Management, 58(1), 1-14. doi: 10.1007/s00267-016-0697-z
- Muscolino, M. S. (2009). Fishing wars and environmental change in late imperial and modern China (Vol. 325). Harvard University Press.
- Newman, D., Berkson, J., & Suatoni, L. (2015). Current methods for setting catch limits for datalimited fish stocks in the United States. Fisheries Research, 164, 86-93. doi: 10.1016/j.fishres.2014.10.018
- Nosek, B. A., Alter, G., Banks, G. C., Borsboom, D., Bowman, S. D., Breckler, S. J., ... & Contestabile, M. (2015). Promoting an open research culture. Science, 348(6242), 1422-1425. doi: 10.1126/science.aab2374
- Nutley, S. M., Walter, I., & Davies, H. T. (2007). Using evidence: How research can inform public services. Bristol University Press, Policy press. doi: 10.2307/j.ctt9qgwt1
- Ostrom, E., Gardner, R., Walker, J., & Walker, J. (1994). Rules, games, and common-pool resources. University of Michigan Press.
- Ou, C. H., & Tseng, H. S. (2010). The fishery agreements and management systems in the East China Sea. Ocean and Coastal Management, 5(53), 279-288. doi: 10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2010.04.004
- Palmer, M. (1998). Environmental regulation in the People's Republic of China: The face of domestic law. The China Quarterly, 156, 788-808. doi: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0305741000051341
- Pan, Y. (2015). Research on optimizing public participation mechanism in China's administrative decision-making. BBS of political science and law, 8(mid), 147-148. Doi: 10.19387/j.cnki.1009-0592.2015.23.072.
- Pauly, D. (2008). Global fisheries: a brief review. Journal of Biological Research-Thessaloniki, 9, 3-9. doi: https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/1feb/abb101f91559096ae42acad02dfe2cc77ea9.pdf

- Pauly, D., & Froese, R. (2012). Comments on FAO's State of Fisheries and Aquaculture, or 'SOFIA 2010'. Marine Policy, 36(3), 746-752. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2011.10.021
- Pauly, D., Belhabib, D., Blomeyer, R., Cheung, W. W., Cisneros-Montemayor, A. M., Copeland, D., ... & Zeller, D. (2014). China's distant-water fisheries in the 21st century. Fish and Fisheries, 15(3), 474-488. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12032
- Pei, Z., B, & Xie, Z. (2018). The confiscation of illegal fishery vessels: legal matters and system completion. Journal of Shenyang Agricultural University. 20(01),36-40. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1008-9713.2018.01.007 (In Chinese)
- Qian, Y. (2000). The process of China's market transition (1978-1998): The evolutionary, historical, and comparative perspectives. Journal of Institutional and Theoretical Economics, 156(1), 151-179. doi: http://www-siepr.stanford.edu/workp/swp99012.pdf
- Ramirez-Monsalve, P., Raakjær, J., Nielsen, K. N., Santiago, J. L., Ballesteros, M., Laksá, U., & Degnbol, P. (2016). Ecosystem Approach to Fisheries Management (EAFM) in the EU–Current science–policy–society interfaces and emerging requirements. Marine Policy, 66, 83-92. doi: 10.1016/j.marpol.2015.12.030
- Ravetz, JR. 2006. Post-normal science and the complexity of transitions towards sustainability. Ecological complexity 3(4): 275–284.
- Raymond-Yakoubian, J., Raymond-Yakoubian, B., & Moncrieff, C. (2017). The incorporation of traditional knowledge into Alaska federal fisheries management. Marine Policy, 78, 132-142. doi: 10.1016/j.marpol.2016.12.024
- Regulation (EU) No 1380/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2013 on the Common Fisheries Policy, amending Council Regulations (EC) No 1954/2003 and (EC) No 1224/2009 and repealing Council Regulations (EC) No 2371/2002 and (EC) No 639/2004 and Council Decision 2004/585/EC. doi: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:02013R1380-20190814&from=EN.
- Ren. H. (2018). Summary of the research progress of administrative decision-making mechanism in contemporary China. Journal of Sichuan Administration College, 6, 27-34. Doi: https://www.cnki.com.cn/Article/CJFDTotal-SXZB201806005.htm.当代中国行政决策机制研究 进程综述.
- Rice, J. C. (2011). Advocacy science and fisheries decision-making. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 68(10), 2007-2012. doi: 10.1093/icesjms/fsr154

- Rosenberg, D. (2005). Managing the resources of the China Seas: China's bilateral fisheries agreements with Japan, South Korea, and Vietnam. The Asia-Pacific Journal, 3(6): 24-29. doi: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/51180952.pdf
- Runhaar, H., & van Nieuwaal, K. (2010). Understanding the use of science in decision-making on cockle fisheries and gas mining in the Dutch Wadden Sea: Putting the science–policy interface in a wider perspective. Environmental science & policy, 13(3), 239-248. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2010.03.001
- Ryder, D. S., Tomlinson, M., Gawne, B., & Likens, G. E. (2010). Defining and using 'best available science': a policy conundrum for the management of aquatic ecosystems. Marine and Freshwater Research, 61(7), 821-828. doi: 10.1071/MF10113
- Rykiel, E. J., Jr. 2001. Scientific objectivity, value systems, and policymaking. BioScience 51:433–36. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0433:SOVSAP]2.0.CO;2
- Schwartz, J. (2003). The impact of state capacity on enforcement of environmental policies: the case of China. The Journal of Environment & Development, 12(1), 50-Y. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/1070496502250438
- Shandong ADF. (2019). Shandong Province 2019 Implementation Plan for the Pilot Jellyfish fisheries. http://news.wugu.com.cn/article/1537893.html 山东省农业农村厅关于印发《山东省 2019 年度 海蜇专项资源品种限额捕捞试点工作实施方案》的通知
- Shelton, P. A. (2007). The weakening role of science in the management of groundfish off the east coast of Canada. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 64(4), 723-729. doi: 10.1093/icesjms/fsm008
- Shen, G. M. & Heino, M. (2014). An overview of marine fisheries management in China, Marine Policy, 44: 265-272. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2013.09.012
- Shen, X. D. (2006). Research on the evolution of basic management system of fishery economy in China. Fisheries Economy Research. 2006(01): 25-28. doi: http://www.cnki.com.cn/Article/CJFDTotal-YJYJ200601007.htm (In Chinese)
- Shi, T. (2002). Ecological agriculture in China: bridging the gap between rhetoric and practice of sustainability. Ecological Economics, 42(3), 359-368. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-8009(02)00122-2

- Smith, M. D., Roheim, C. A., Crowder, L. B., Halpern, B. S., Turnipseed, M., Anderson, J. L., ... & Liguori, L. A. (2010). Sustainability and global seafood. Science, 327(5967), 784-786. doi: 10.1126/science.1185345
- Soomai, S. S. (2017). Understanding the science-policy interface: Case studies on the role of information in fisheries management. Environmental Science & Policy, 72, 65-75. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2017.03.004
- Soomai, S. S., & MacDonald, B. H. (2019). Information matters: Global perspectives about communication at the science-policy interface. In The Future of Ocean Governance and Capacity Development (pp. 275-280). Brill Nijhoff. doi: 10.1163/9789004380271_046
- Stead, S., Daw, T., & Gray, T. (2006). Uses of fishers' knowledge in fisheries management. doi: 10.3167/aia.2006.130308
- Stephenson, R. L., Benson, A. J., Brooks, K., Charles, A., Degnbol, P., Dichmont, C. M., ... & Wiber, M. (2017). Practical steps toward integrating economic, social and institutional elements in fisheries policy and management. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 74(7), 1981-1989. doi: 10.1093/icesjms/fsx057
- Stephenson, R. L., Paul, S., Pastoors, M. A., Kraan, M., Holm, P., Wiber, M., ... & Benson, A. (2016). Integrating fishers' knowledge research in science and management. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 73(6), 1459-1465.
- Su, M. (2016). Characteristic index and connotation study of small-scale fisheries. Chinese Fisheries Economics. 34(4), 48-53. doi: http://www.cqvip.com/qk/97311x/201604/670658827.html (In Chinese)
- Su, S., Tang, Y., Chang, B., Zhu, W., & Chen, Y. (2020). Evolution of marine fisheries management in China from 1949 to 2019: How did China get here and where does China go next?. Fish and Fisheries, 21(2), 435-452.
- Su, S., Tang, Y., Chen, J., Chang, B., & Chen, Y. (2021). A comprehensive framework for operating science-based fisheries management: A checklist for using the best available science. Fish and Fisheries.
- Sullivan, P. J., Acheson, J., Angermeier, P. L., Faast, T., Flemma, J., Jones, C. M., ... & Zanetell, B. A. (2006). Defining and implementing best available science for fisheries and environmental science, policy, and management. Fisheries, 31(9), 460.

- Sun, W., Q. & Huang, S., L (2009). Requirement of the international community on fishery statistics and ponderation over improvement of Chinese fishery statistics. Marine fishery. 34(04): 476-481. doi: http://www.cqvip.com/qk/90212x/200901/29262865.html (In Chinese)
- Szuwalski, C. S., Burgess, M. G., Costello, C., & Gaines, S. D. (2017). High fishery catches through trophic cascades in China. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114(4), 717-721. doi: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1612722114
- Tang Y. and Tang J. (2003). Study on implementation of total allowable catch system in China. Journal of Shanghai Fisheries University, 12(3), 249-254. (In Chinese)
- Tang, G., L. (2017). Ecological resilience and sustainable utilization of fishery resources. Guangdong Ocean University. Master's thesis. doi: CNKI: CDMD:2.1017.865803 (In Chinese)
- Tang, Y. & Zhao, L. H. (2020). Review of the pilot of marine fisheries TACs in China and suggestion on the further development. Journal of Fisheries of China. doi: 10.11964/jfc.20200212148. (In Chinese)
- Tang, Y., & Su, S. (2017). Research on negative externalities of fishery resource utilization. Acta Pacifica Sinica, 25(7), 54-62. doi: http://www.cnki.com.cn/Article/CJFDTotal-TPYX201707007.htm (In Chinese)
- Tang, Y., & Zou, W. H. (2010). Analysis of the legal system of fishery resource conservation and management in China. Resource Science, 32(1), 28-34. doi: 1007-7588 (2010) 01-0028-07 (In Chinese)
- Tang, Y., Zou, W., H., & Hu, Z., M. (2009). An analysis of utilization status and management of marine fisheries resources in China based on statistics data. Resources Science, 31(6), doi: CNKI: SUN: ZRZY.0.2009-06-027 (In Chinese)
- Townsend, R. E., & Charles, A. T. (1997). User rights in fishing. Northwest Atlantic Groundfish: Perspectives on a Fishery Collapse, 177-184. doi: http://smufacweb.smu.ca/~charles/PDFS_2005/035.pdf
- UN. (2015). Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. doi: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/transformingourworld
- UN. (1982). United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea.

UN document A/CONF.164/37 (1995). doi:

https://www.un.org/Depts/los/convention_agreements/texts/fish_stocks_agreement/CONF164_37. htm

USA (2007). Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act.

Van den Hove, S., 2007. A rationale for science–policy interfaces. Futures 39 (7), 807–826. doi: 10.1016/j.futures.2006.12.004

Vasconcellos, M., Cochrane, K., Kruse, G. H., Gallucci, V. F., Hay, D. E., Perry, R. I., & Woodby, D. (2005). Overview of world status of data-limited fisheries: Inferences from landings statistics. USA, AK: Alaska Univ., Alaska Sea Grant College Program.https://doi.org/10.4027/FAMDLS.2005.01

Wang, P. (2011) Research on the changes in community cooperative economic organizations in fishing villages (Doctoral dissertation). The Ocean University of China. doi: http://cdmd.cnki.com.cn/Article/CDMD-10423-1011231274.htm (In Chinese)

Wang, S. H. & Yin, X. Y. (2012) Suggestions on improving the quality of grassroots fisheries statistical data. Tianjin aquatic, 1. doi: https://www.cnki.com.cn/Article/CJFDTotal-TJSC201201018.htm. (In Chinese)

Wang, S. L., Xu, X. R., Sun, Y. X., Liu, J. L., & Li, H. B. (2013). Heavy metal pollution in coastal areas of South China: a review. Marine pollution bulletin, 76(1-2), 7-15. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.08.025

Watson, R., & Pauly, D. (2001). Systematic distortions in world fisheries catch trends. Nature, 414(6863), 534. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/35107050

- Webb, J. A., Stewardson, M. J., Chee, Y. E., Schreiber, E. S. G., Sharpe, A. K., et al. (2010). Negotiating the turbulent boundary: the challenges of building a science–management collaboration for landscape-scale monitoring of environmental flows. Marine and Freshwater Research 61, 798–807. doi: 10.1071/MF09059
- Wesselink, A., Buchanan, K. S., Georgiadou, Y., & Turnhout, E. (2013). Technical knowledge, discursive spaces and politics at the science–policy interface. Environmental Science & Policy, 30, 1-9. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2012.12.008

- Wilson, J. A., Acheson, J. M., Metcalfe, M., & Kleban, P. (1994). Chaos, complexity and community management of fisheries. Marine Policy, 18(4), 291-305. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0308-597X(94)90044-2
- Wouters, P, A. Scharnhorst, K. Vann, M. Ratto, S. Hellsten, J. Fry, and M. Lynch. (2008). Messy shapes of knowledge–STS explores informatization, new media, and academic work. In The handbook of science and technology studies, 3rd ed, ed. E.J. Hackett, O. Amsterdamska, M. Lynch, and J. Wajcman. (pp. 319–353). Cambridge: The MIT Press.
- Xiao B. S. & Bai, F. C. (2019). Study on the optimal countermeasure of Summer fishing moratorium in Zhanjiang City. Heibei Fisheries, 305(5), 55-62. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1004-6755.2019.05.016. (In Chinese)
- Xiao, L. G., Zhao, R. Q. (2017). China's new era of ecological civilization. Science, 24 (358): 1008-1009. doi: 10.1126/science.aar3760
- Xu, Y. T. (2008). Study on reforming and perfecting government decision-making mechanism, Theoretical research, 3:1-7. https://www.cnki.com.cn/Article/CJFDTotal-LLTT200803000.htm
- Xue, G. (2005). China and international fisheries law and policy (Vol. 50). Martinus Nijhoff Publishers.
- Yang, H., & Zhao, D. (2015). Performance legitimacy, state autonomy and China's economic miracle. Journal of Contemporary China, 24(91), 64-82. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/10670564.2014.918403
- Yang, Y., Liu, Z.G., He, Y. L., & Ye, S. F. (2016). The assessment of carrying capacity of marine fishery resources based on the non-equilibrium production model-A case study in Zhejiang province. Marine Environmental Science. 35(04), 534-539. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.13634/j.cnki.mes20160409 (In Chinese)
- Yu, H., & Yu, Y. (2008). Fishing capacity management in China: Theoretic and practical perspectives. Marine Policy, 32(3), 351-359. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2007.07.004
- Zhang, K, Liao, B. C., Xu, Y. W., Zhang, J., Sun, M. S, Qiu, Y. S., Chen, Z. Z. (2017). Assessment for allowable catch of fishery resources in the South China Sea based on statistical data. Acta Oceanologica Sinica. 39(8):25-33. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.0253-4193201708003.

- Zhang, P. G., Cui, J. & Rong, W. (2004). Thought on Dalian's marine fishers' relocation and reduction of fishing vessels. Aquatic Science, 23(12), 34-35. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1003-1111.2004.12.011 (In Chinese)
- Zhang, Z., L, Zhang, S. S., Li, S., Y., Cao, J., J., & Ge, S. (2018) Evaluation and policy suggestions on fishing vessel "double control system" in China. Chinese Fisheries. (04), 34-40. doi: http://www.cqvip.com/qk/90481x/201804/7000560369.html (In Chinese)
- Zhao, L., Sun, H. W., Zheng, S. N, Geng, R. (2016). Construction Path of New Fishery Management System. Agricultural Outlook. 2016, 12(08), 41-46. doi: http://www.cnki.com.cn/Article/CJFDTotal-NYZW201608011.htm (In Chinese)
- Zhao, R., Hynes, S., & He, G. S. (2014). Defining and quantifying China's ocean economy. Marine Policy, 43, 164-173. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2013.05.008
- Zhou G. H. (2012) The Reform and Development of the Decision-making System in Contemporary China, Social Sciences in China, 33:2, 25-45, DOI: 10.1080/02529203.2012.677260
- Zhou, X. H. & Li, M. S. (2009). Take stock of China's fishing industry for 60 years. Chinese Aquatic Product, 10:5-13. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1002-6681.2009.10.003 (In Chinese)
- Zhu, H., & Pei, Z., B. (2015). Study on legislative countermeasures of fishing boat management in Liaoning province. Ocean Development and Management. 32(4), 59-65. doi: http://www.caoe.org.cn/file/File/1436903533.pdf (In Chinese)
- Ziman, J. (2000). Postacademic science: constructing knowledge with networks and norms. In Beyond the science wars: the missing discourse about science and society, ed. U. Segerstråle (pp. 135– 154). Albany, NY, USA: State University of New York Press.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A. CHAPTER 1. A LIST OF REPORTS REVIEWED FOR IDENTIFICATION OF SBFM CRITERIA.

- Larocque, S. M., Lake, C., Midwood, J. D., Nguyen, V. M., Blouin-Demers, G., & Cooke, S. J. (2020). Freshwater turtle bycatch research supports science-based fisheries management. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 30(9), 1783-1790.
- Christie, P., Fluharty, D. L., White, A. T., Eisma-Osorio, L., & Jatulan, W. (2007). Assessing the feasibility of ecosystem-based fisheries management in tropical contexts. Marine Policy, 31(3), 239-250.
- 3. Shelton, P. A. (2007). The weakening role of science in the management of groundfish off the east coast of Canada. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 64(4), 723-729.
- 4. Runhaar, H., & van Nieuwaal, K. (2010). Understanding the use of science in decision-making on cockle fisheries and gas mining in the Dutch Wadden Sea: Putting the science–policy interface in a wider perspective. Environmental science & policy, 13(3), 239-248.
- 5. Swart, J. A. A., & Van Andel, J. (2008). Rethinking the interface between ecology and society. The case of the cockle controversy in the Dutch Wadden Sea. Journal of Applied ecology, 45(1), 82-90.
- 6. Turnhout, E., Hisschemöller, M., & Eijsackers, H. (2008). Science in Wadden Sea policy: from accommodation to advocacy. Environmental Science & Policy, 11(3), 227-239.
- 7. E. Turnhout, M. Hisschemöller, H. Eijsackers (2008). Science in Wadden Sea policy: from accommodation to advocacy Environmental Science & Policy, 11 (3), pp. 227-239
- 8. Soomai, S. S. (2017). The science-policy interface in fisheries management: Insights about the influence of organizational structure and culture on information pathways. Marine Policy, 81, 53-63.
- 9. Soomai, S. S. (2017). Understanding the science-policy interface: Case studies on the role of information in fisheries management. Environmental Science & Policy, 72, 65-75.
- Sullivan, P. J., Acheson, J., Angermeier, P. L., Faast, T., Flemma, J., Jones, C. M., ... & Zanetell, B. A. (2006). Defining and implementing best available science for fisheries and environmental science, policy, and management. Fisheries, 31(9), 460.
- Leiss, W. (2000). Between expertise and bureaucracy: Risk Management Trapped at the Science-policy interface. Risky Business: Canada's Changing Science-Based Policy and Regulatory Regime. University of Toronto Press, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, 49-74.
- 12. Olson, J., & Pinto da Silva, P. (2020). Knowledge production at the science–policy interface: Lessons from fisheries scientists. Science and Public Policy, 47(1), 47-55.
- 13. Ramirez-Monsalve, P., Raakjær, J., Nielsen, K. N., Santiago, J. L., Ballesteros, M., Laksá, U., & Degnbol, P. (2016). Ecosystem Approach to Fisheries Management (EAFM) in the EU–Current science–policy–society interfaces and emerging requirements. Marine Policy, 66, 83-92.

- Linke, S., Gilek, M., Karlsson, M., & Udovyk, O. (2014). Unravelling science-policy interactions in environmental risk governance of the Baltic Sea: comparing fisheries and eutrophication. Journal of Risk Research, 17(4), 505-523.
- Aps, R., Fetissov, M., Holmgren, N., Norrstrom, N., & Kuikka, S. (2012). Fisheries management: from linear to collaborative science-policy interface. Management of natural resources, sustainable development and ecological hazards, 3(148), 3-14.
- 16. Mackinson, Steve, et al. "Engaging stakeholders in fisheries and marine research." Marine Policy 35.1 (2011): 18-24.
- Wesselink, A., Buchanan, K. S., Georgiadou, Y., & Turnhout, E. (2013). Technical knowledge, discursive spaces and politics at the science–policy interface. Environmental Science & Policy, 30, 1-9.
- 18. Bremer, S., & Glavovic, B. (2013). Exploring the science–policy interface for Integrated Coastal Management in New Zealand. Ocean & coastal management, 84, 107-118.
- 19. Hernandez, A., & Kempton, W. (2003). Changes in fisheries management in Mexico: effects of increasing scientific input and public participation. Ocean & Coastal Management, 46(6-7), 507-526.
- 20. Stead, S., Daw, T., & Gray, T. (2006). Uses of fishers' knowledge in fisheries management.
- 21. Nowlis, J. S. (2004). Performance indices that facilitate informed, value-driven decision making in fisheries management. Bulletin of Marine Science, 74(3), 709-726.
- 22. Dankel, D. J., Stange, K., & Nielsen, K. N. (2016). What hat are you wearing? On the multiple roles of fishery scientists in the ICES community. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 73(2), 209-216.
- 23. Conroy, M. J., & Peterson, J. T. (2013). Decision making in natural resource management: a structured, adaptive approach. John Wiley & Sons.
- 24. Irwin, B. J., Wilberg, M. J., Jones, M. L., & Bence, J. R. (2011). Applying structured decision making to recreational fisheries management. Fisheries, 36(3), 113-122.
- 25. Garcia, S. M. (2008). Fisheries assessment and decision-making: towards an integrated advisory process. The ecosystem approach to fisheries. CABI, Wallingford, UK and Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, 158-196.
- 26. Policansky, D. (1998). Science and decision making in fisheries management. In Reinventing Fisheries Management (pp. 57-71). Springer, Dordrecht.
- 27. Cash, D. W., W. C. Clark, F. Alcock, N. M. Dickson, N. Eckley, D. H. Guston, J. Jager, and R. B. Mitchell. 2003. Knowledge systems for sustainable development. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 100 (14):8086–8091.
- 28. De Santo, E. M. (2010). "Whose science?" Precaution and power-play in European marine environmental decision-making. Marine Policy 34:414–420.

- 29. Hernes, H. K., Jentoft, S., & Mikalsen, K. H. (2005). Fisheries governance, social justice and participatory decision-making. In Participation in fisheries governance (pp. 103-118). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Godfrey, L., Funke, N., & Mbizvo, C. (2010). Bridging the science-policy interface: a new era for South African research and the role of knowledge brokering. South African journal of science, 106(5-6), 44-51.
- 31. Fritz, J.-S. (2010). Towards a "new form of governance" in science-policy relations in the European maritime policy. Marine Policy 34 (1):1–6.
- 32. Funtowicz, S. O. and J. R. Ravetz. 1993. Science for the post-normal age. Futures 25 (7):739–755.
- Hastings, J. G. (2011). International environmental NGOs and conservation science and policy: A case from Brazil. Coastal Management 39:317–335
- 34. Hastings, J. G., R. L. Gruby, and L. S. Sievanen. (2012). Science-based coastal management in Fiji: Two case studies from the NGO sector. Marine Policy 36:907–914.
- 35. Brosnan, D. M. (2000). Can peer review help resolve natural resource conflicts?. Issues in Science and Technology, 16(3), 32-36.
- 36. Clark, T.W. 1993. Creating and using knowledge for species and ecosystem conservation: science, organizations, and policy. Perspect. Biol. Med. 36: 497–525
- Stephenson, R. L., Benson, A. J., Brooks, K., Charles, A., Degnbol, P., Dichmont, C. M., ... & Wiber, M. (2017). Practical steps toward integrating economic, social and institutional elements in fisheries policy and management. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 74(7), 1981-1989.
- 38. Heck, N., Stedman, R. C., & Gaden, M. (2015). The integration of social science information into Great Lakes fishery management: Opportunities and challenges. Fisheries Research, 167, 30-37.
- Meffe, G. K., Boersma, P. D., Murphy, D. D., Noon, B. R., Pulliam, H. R., Soulé, M. E., & Waller, D. M. (1998). Independent scientific review in natural resource management. Conservation biology, 12(2), 268-270.
- 40. Hartley, T. W., & Robertson, R. A. (2008). Stakeholder collaboration in fisheries research: integrating knowledge among fishing leaders and science partners in northern New England. Society and Natural Resources, 22(1), 42-55.
- 41. Symes, D. (2006). Fisheries governance: A coming of age for fisheries social science?. Fisheries research, 81(2-3), 113-117.
- 42. Bisbal, G. (2002). The best available science for the management of anadromous salmonids in the Columbia River Basin. Canadian Journal ofFisheries and Aquatic Sciences 59, 1952–1959. doi:10.1139/F02-157
- 43. De Freitas, D. M., & Tagliani, P. R. A. (2009). The use of GIS for the integration of traditional and scientific knowledge in supporting artisanal fisheries management in southern Brazil. Journal of Environmental Management, 90(6), 2071-2080.

- 44. Jentoft, S. (2017). Small-scale fisheries within maritime spatial planning: knowledge integration and power. Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning, 19(3), 266-278.
- 45. Bradshaw, G. A., & Borchers, J. G. (2000). Uncertainty as information: narrowing the science-policy gap. Conservation ecology, 4(1).
- 46. Briggs, S. V. (2006). Integrating policy and science in natural resources: why so difficult?. Ecological Management & Restoration, 7(1), 37-39.
- 47. Symes, D., & Hoefnagel, E. (2010). Fisheries policy, research and the social sciences in Europe: challenges for the 21st century. Marine Policy, 34(2), 268-275.
- Fenichel, E. P., Gentner, B., & Arlinghaus, R. (2013). Normative considerations for recreational fishery management: a bioeconomic framework for linking positive science and normative fisheries policy decisions. Fisheries Management and Ecology, 20(2-3), 223-233.
- 49. Holmes, J., and Clark, R. (2008). Enhancing the use of science in environmental policy-making and regulation. Environmental Science & Policy 11, 702–711. doi:10.1016/J.ENVSCI.2008.08.004
- 50. Van Cleve, F. B., Simenstad, C., Goetz, F., & Mumford, T. (2004). Application of the Best Available Science in Ecosystem Restoration: Lessons Learned from Large-Scale Restoration Project Efforts in the USA. PUGENT SOUND NEARSHORE PARTNERSHIP OLYMPIA WASHINGTON.
- 51. Hartley, T. W., & Robertson, R. A. (2006). Stakeholder engagement, cooperative fisheries research and democratic science: the case of the Northeast Consortium. Human Ecology Review, 161-171.
- 52. Haapasaari, P., Kulmala, S., & Kuikka, S. (2012). Growing into interdisciplinarity: how to converge biology, economics, and social science in fisheries research?. Ecology and Society, 17(1).
- 53. Guston, D. H. (2001). Boundary organizations in environmental policy and science: an introduction. https://doi.org/10.1177/016224390102600401
- 54. Hanssen, L., Rouwette, E., & van Katwijk, M. M. (2009). The role of ecological science in environmental policy making: from a pacification toward a facilitation strategy. Ecology and Society, 14(1).https://www.jstor.org/stable/26268051
- 55. Raymond-Yakoubian, J., Raymond-Yakoubian, B., & Moncrieff, C. (2017). The incorporation of traditional knowledge into Alaska federal fisheries management. Marine Policy, 78, 132-142.
- 56. Farmery, A. K., Ogier, E., Gardner, C., & Jabour, J. (2019). Incorporating ecologically sustainable development policy goals within fisheries management: An assessment of integration and coherence in an Australian context. Journal of environmental management, 249, 109230.
- 57. Van den Hove, S., 2007. A rationale for science-policy interfaces. Futures 39 (7), 807-826.
- 58. Karr, K. A., Fujita, R., Carcamo, R., Epstein, L., Foley, J. R., Fraire-Cervantes, J. A., ... & Weaver, A. H. (2017). Integrating science-based co-management, partnerships, participatory processes and stewardship incentives to improve the performance of small-scale fisheries. Frontiers in Marine Science, 4, 345.

- 59. Jasanoff S. The fifth branch: science advisers as policymakers. 1990th ed. Harvard University Press; 1994. 302 pp
- 60. NRC (National Research Council). (2004). Improving the Use of the "Best Scientific Information Available" Standard in Fisheries Management. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/11045.
- 61. Karl, H. A., Susskind, L. E., & Wallace, K. H. (2007). A dialogue, not a diatribe: effective integration of science and policy through joint fact finding. Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development, 49(1), 20-34.
- 62. Gray, S., Shwom, R., & Jordan, R. (2012). Understanding factors that influence stakeholder trust of natural resource science and institutions. Environmental management, 49(3), 663-674.
- 63. Stephenson, R. L., Paul, S., Pastoors, M. A., Kraan, M., Holm, P., Wiber, M., ... & Benson, A. (2016). Integrating fishers' knowledge research in science and management. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 73(6), 1459-1465.
- 64. Kritzer, J. P. (2019). Influences of at-sea fishery monitoring on science, management, and fleet dynamics. Aquaculture and Fisheries.
- Nursey-Bray, M. J., Vince, J., Scott, M., Haward, M., O'Toole, K., Smith, T., ... & Clarke, B. (2014). Science into policy? Discourse, coastal management and knowledge. Environmental Science & Policy, 38, 107-119.
- 66. Lindenmayer, D. B., & Likens, G. E. (2010). The science and application of ecological monitoring. Biological conservation, 143(6), 1317-1328.
- 67. Garcia, S. M. (2005). Fishery science and decision-making: dire straights to sustainability. Bulletin of Marine Science, 76(2), 171-196.
- 68. Rice, J. C. (2011). Advocacy science and fisheries decision-making. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 68(10), 2007-2012.
- 69. Lane, D. E., & Stephenson, R. L. (1998). A framework for risk analysis in fisheries decision-making. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 55(1), 1-13.
- 70. Sullivan, J. M., Cerny-Chipman, E. B., Rosenberg, A. A., & Lubchenco, J. (2017). Bridging the Science–Policy Interface: Adaptive Solutions in the Anthropocene. In Conservation for the Anthropocene Ocean (pp. 3-22). Academic Press.
- 71. Doremus, H. (2004). The purposes, effects, and future of the Endangered Species Act's best available science mandate. Envtl. L., 34, 397.
- 72. Lowell, N., & Kelly, R. P. (2016). Evaluating agency use of "best available science" under the United States Endangered Species Act. Biological Conservation, 196, 53-59.
- 73. Green Nylen, N. (2011). To achieve biodiversity goals, the new Forest Service planning rule needs effective mandates for best available science and adaptive management. Ecology LQ, 38, 241.

- 74. Cash, D., Clark, W. C., Alcock, F., Dickson, N. M., Eckley, N., & Jäger, J. (2002). Salience, credibility, legitimacy and boundaries: linking research, assessment and decision making.
- 75. Failing, L., Gregory, R., & Higgins, P. (2013). Science, uncertainty, and values in ecological restoration: a case study in structured decision-making and adaptive management. Restoration Ecology, 21(4), 422-430.
- 76. Gray, S., Shwom, R., & Jordan, R. (2012). Understanding factors that influence stakeholder trust of natural resource science and institutions. Environmental management, 49(3), 663-674.
- 77. MacDonald, B. H., & Soomai, S. S. (2019). Environmental Research and Knowledge Production Within Governmental Organizations. In Research Outside The Academy (pp. 21-50). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.
- 78. Msomphora, M. R. (2016). The role of science in fisheries management in Europe: from Mode 1 to Mode 2. Maritime Studies, 15(1), 3.
- 79. Gleick, P. H., Adams, R. M., Amasino, R. M., Anders, E., Anderson, D. J., et al. (2010). Climate change and the integrity of science. Science 328, 689–690.
- 80. Esch, B. E., Waltz, A. E., Wasserman, T. N., & Kalies, E. L. (2018). Using best available science information: Determining best and available. Journal of Forestry, 116(5), 473-480.
- Ryder, D. S., Tomlinson, M., Gawne, B., & Likens, G. E. (2010). Defining and using 'best available science': a policy conundrum for the management of aquatic ecosystems. Marine and Freshwater Research, 61(7), 821-828.
- Francis, T. B., Whittaker, K. A., Shandas, V., Mills, A. V., and Graybill, J. K. (2005). Incorporating science into the environmental policy process: A case study from Washington State. Ecology and Society 10, 35–52.
- 83. Mills, A., Francis, T., Shandas, V., Whittaker, K., and Graybill, J. K. (2009). Using best available science to protect critical areas in Washington state: Challenges and barriers to planners. Urban Ecosystems 12, 157–175.
- Cullen, P. (1990). The turbulent boundary between water science and water management. Freshwater Biology 24, 201–209.
- 85. Brennan, M. J., Roth, D. E., Feldman, M. D., and Greene, A. R. (2003). Square pegs and round holes: Application of the "best available scientific data available" standard in the Endangered Species Act. Tullane Environmental Law Journal 16, 386–444.
- 86. Webb, J. A., Stewardson, M. J., Chee, Y. E., Schreiber, E. S. G., Sharpe, A. K., et al. (2010). Negotiating the turbulent boundary: the challenges of building a science–management collaboration for landscapescale monitoring of environmental flows. Marine and Freshwater Research 61, 798–807.
- Gerlach, J. D., Williams, L. K., & Forcina, C. E. (2013). Data selection for making biodiversity management decisions: best available science and institutionalized agency norms. Administration & Society, 45(2), 213-241.

- 88. Charnley, S., Carothers, C., Satterfield, T., Levine, A., Poe, M. R., Norman, K., ... & Basurto, X. (2017). Evaluating the best available social science for natural resource management decision-making. Environmental Science & Policy, 73, 80-88.
- 89. Jennings Jr, E. T., & Hall, J. L. (2012). Evidence-based practice and the use of information in state agency decision making. Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory, 22(2), 245-266.
- 90. Joly, J. L., Reynolds, J., & Robards, M. (2010). Recognizing when the best scientific data available isn't. Stan. Envtl. LJ, 29, 247.
- 91. McNie, E. C. (2007). Reconciling the supply of scientific information with user demands: an analysis of the problem and review of the literature. Environmental science & policy, 10(1), 17-38.
- 92. Murphy, D. D., & Weiland, P. S. (2016). Guidance on the use of best available science under the US Endangered Species Act. Environmental Management, 58(1), 1-14.
- 93. Pullin, A. S., & Knight, T. M. (2003). Support for decision making in conservation practice: an evidence-based approach. Journal for Nature Conservation, 11(2), 83-90.

APPENDIX B. CHAPTER 2. CORE QUESTIONS/CONVERSATION TOPICS WITH EXPERTS.

1. How did China's national fisheries management objectives evolve (maximizing economic and social benefits vs ecological benefits)? We divided China's fisheries management history into four phases according to the management objectives, which are 1949-1978, 1979-1999, 2000-2015 and post-2016. Do you agree with us on this? how do you evaluate China's fisheries management in each policy phase?

2. What important government documents or meetings, as well as other events that guided or influenced the development of China's national fisheries management policies in history?

3. Which of China's reform initiatives since 2016 are the most noteworthy? In other words, what are the major changes?

4. Do you think China has come to a critical period of fisheries reform and why?

BIOGRAPHY OF THE AUTHOR

Shu Su was born in Zhejiang, China in 1992. She earned a B.S. in Marine Management with honors from Shanghai Ocean University in 2014. She then was recommended for and enrolled in the School of Marine Sciences at Shanghai Ocean University in Dr. Yi Tang's lab. In 2017, she earned a Master's degree in Fisheries Management with a focus on Fisheries Policy and Regulations with honors. She then received financing from both Shanghai Ocean University and the University of Maine, allowing her to pursue a Ph.D. at the latter. She then moved to the United States and enrolled in Ecology and Environmental Sciences program at the University of Maine in the fall of 2017 in Dr. Yong Chen's lab. Shu is a candidate for the Ph.D. degree in Ecology and Environmental Sciences from the University of Maine in August 2021.